# Nutrient seed treatments to improve abiotic stress tolerance in

## Brassica napus L.

Dissertation to obtain the doctoral degree of

## Agricultural Sciences (Dr. sc. agr.)

## **Faculty of Agricultural Sciences**

## **University of Hohenheim**

Prof. Dr. Günter Neumann Institute of Crop Sciences (340h)

> Submitted by Asim Mahmood

> > From Pakistan

> > > 2020

This thesis was accepted as a doctoral dissertation in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree "Doktor der Agrarwissenscheften" (Dr. sc. Agr. / Ph.D in Agricultural Science) by the Faculty of Agricultural Sciences of the University of Hohenheim.

Date of Examination: 06.05.2021

**Examination Committee** 

Dean's Representative Committee Head:	Prof. Dr. Jörn Bennewitz
Supervisor and Reviewer:	Prof. Dr. Günter Neumann
Co- Reviewer:	Prof. Dr. Albino Maggio
Co-Examiner:	Prof. Dr. Torsten Müller

## Dedicated to

My loving Family

#### Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich, die Regeln guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis eingehalten habe. Ich habe diese Arbeit selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt und die wörtlich oder inhaltlich übernommenen Stellen als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Ich erkläre weiterhin, dass das unverschlüsselte digitale Textdokument der Arbeit übermittelt wurde, das in Inhalt und Wortlaut ausnahmslos der gedruckten Ausfertigung entspricht. Ich bin damit einverstanden, dass diese elektronische Form anhand einer Analyse-Software auf Plagiate überprüft wird.

#### **DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY**

I declare that this thesis is my own research and this work has not previously been submitted for the doctoral degree completion at any other institution.

Stuttgart, den

Asim Mahmood

Annex 3

Declaration in lieu of an oath on independent work

according to Sec. 18(3) sentence 5 of the University of Hohenheim's Doctoral Regulations for the Faculties of Agricultural Sciences, Natural Sciences, and Business, Economics and Social Sciences

1. The dissertation submitted on the topic

.....

is work done independently by me.

2. I only used the sources and aids listed and did not make use of any impermissible assistance from third parties. In particular, I marked all content taken word-for-word or paraphrased from other works.

3. I did not use the assistance of a commercial doctoral placement or advising agency.

4. I am aware of the importance of the declaration in lieu of oath and the criminal consequences of false or incomplete declarations in lieu of oath.

I confirm that the declaration above is correct. I declare in lieu of oath that I have declared only the truth to the best of my knowledge and have not omitted anything.

Place, Date

Signature

## Table of Contents

Numbers	Title	Page	
INUITIDET S	Title	Faye	; NU.

1.	General Introduction	1
1.1.	Oilseed rape	1
1.1.1.	Root growth traits in oilseed rape	2
1.1.2.	Low temperature in oilseed rape	5
1.1.3.	Drought in oilseed rape	6
1.2.	Stress-protective micronutrients	8
1.3.	Nutrient seed treatment	11
1.3.1.	Benefit and limitations	11
1.3.2.	Water priming	12
1.3.3.	Nutrient seed priming	13
1.3.4.	Seed dressing/coating	14
1.4.	Study question and Hypothesis	15
2.	Micronutrient seed treatments to improve seedling establishme Oilseed Rape (Brassica napus. L)	nt in 16
2.1.	Abstract	16
2.2.	Introduction	17
2.3.	Materials & Methods	21
2.3.1	Seed treatments	22
2.3.2	Experiment 1 & 2	22
2.3.3.	Experiment 3	23
2.3.3.2	Plant culture	23
2.3.4.	Field Experiments	23
2.3.5.	Plant Analysis	24
2.3.6.	Statistical analysis	25
2.4.	Results	25
2.4.1	Selection of the most efficient micronutrients for OSR seed	
	Treatments	25
2.4.2	Comparison of Zn seed priming and Zn seed dressing	
	effects on seedling development of OSR	27
2.4.2.1	ZnSP effect on OSR seedling development	28
2.4.2.1.2.	ZnSD effect on OSR seedling development	31
2.4.2.2.	Comparison of ZnSP and ZnSD under field conditions	33
2.4.3.	ZnSP effects under stress conditions – Example cold stress	35
2.4.3.1	Importance of cold-stress protection in OSR	35
2.4.3.2	ZnSP effect on seed zinc status, germination & seedling growth at low RZT	37
2.5.	Discussion	41
2.5.1.	Selection of most effective micronutrients for seed priming	41
2.5.2.	Utilization and nutrient demand for zinc during early plant growth	41
2.5.3.	Seed nutrients	42
2.5.4.	Germination rate	43
2.5.5.	Effect of seed zinc application on seedling growth	44
2.5.6.	Conclusion	46

3.	Zinc seed priming promotes fertilizer depot exploitation and ne acquisition in oilseed rape	utrient 47
3.1.	Abstract	47
3.2.	Introduction	48
3.2.1.	Fertilization Strategies	48
3.2.2.	Nutrient Seed Priming	50
3.3	Materials and Methods	51
3.3.1.	Test plants	51
3.3.2.	Seed Priming	51
3.3.3.	Plant Culture	52
3.3.4.	Soil Preparation and Fertilizer Placement	52
3.3.5.	Temperature Regimes	53
3.3.6	Plant Analysis	54
3361	Plant Riomass	54
3362	Root Analysis	54
3363	SPAD Measurement and Plant Height	55
3364	Mineral Nutrient Analysis	55
2265	Statistical Evaluation	55
3.3.0.3.	Deculto	50
3.4. 2.4.1	Results	00 50
3.4.1.	Seeu ZII sidius	00 57
3.4.2.	Winter rape – ampient temperature	57
3.4.2.1.	Plant habitus and shoot growth	57
4.4.2.2.	Root development	59
3.4.2.3.		60
3.4.3.	Spring rape (cv SR1) – reduced root-zone temperature (12°C).	65
3.4.3.1.	Plant habitus and shoot growth	65
3.4.3.2.	Root Development	67
3.4.3.3.	Plant Nutritional status	70
3.5.	Discussion	73
3.5.1.	Winter rape	73
3.5.2.	Spring Rape	75
3.5.3.	Concluding remarks	76
4.	Drought-protective effects of nutrient seed treatments during early growth of oilseed rape	77
4.1.	Abstract	77
4.2	Introduction	78
4.3	Materials & Methods	80
431	Seed Material	80
432	Plant Culture	80
4321	Experiment 1:	80
4.3.2.1.	Experiment 7:	00
4.3.2.2.		02 02
4.3.3.	Plant minoral analysis	02
4.3.4.	Plant mineral analysis	00
4.3.5.	Determination of stress metabolites	83
4.3.5.1.	Determination of total pneholics	83
4.3.5.2.	Determination of total antioxidant capacity by DPPH assay	83
4.3.5.3.	Determination of proline	84
4.3.6.	Determination of ascorbate peroxidase activity	85
4.3.7.	HPLC-MS analysis of phytohormones	85
4.3.8.	Statistical analysis	86
4.4.	Results	85

4.4.1.	Experiment 1	85
4.4.2.	Plant growth and nutritional status	91 01
4.4.2.1.	Physiological stress indicators	90
4.4.2.2. 15	Discussion	08
4.5. 151	Drought responses	90
4.5.1.	Efforts of NST on growth responses and putritional status	00
4.5.2	Interactions of NST with physiclogical stress indicators	100
4.5.5.		100
4.5.4.	Stress priming effects	102
5.	General Discussion	104
5.1	Seed priming and seed dressing	104
5.2	Seed treatment effects on the seed nutrient status	105
5.3	Seed treatment effects on germination	107
5.3.	Seed treatments effects on plant growth	109
5.4	Seed treatment effects on the plant nutritional status	114
5.5	Seed dressing effect on phytohormonal balances	115
5.6	Potential grain vields.	117
5.7	Future Outlook	118
6.	References	120
	Curriculum Vitae	141
	Acknowledgements	144

## List of Figures

Numbers	s Title	Page No.
1.1	Oilseed crops production in EU-28, 2008-21017.	2
1.2	Soil compaction affected oilseed rape root growth. Optimally grown root (1), slig root growth restriction (2), hard soil layers caused horizontal root growth follow by the vertical growth after finding the space to penetrate (3), root encountered very hard barrier which completely restrict the root vertical growth (4), roots grow in an impermeable soil layer resulting in blockage of vertical root growth. All the ro growth occurs in upper 2-4cm soil.	ght 4 ed 1 a wn pot
1.3	Stunted root growth when encountered with highly acidic soil layer (both left).	4
1.4	Club root affected oilseed rape roots (right) and without disease (left).	4
1.5	OSR root system affected by soil moisture and sowing date. Well-developed root under optimal soil condition and sown at optimal dates (middle), roots grown excessive soil moisture (left), and after sowing too late (right)	ots 4 in
1.6	Winter oilseed rape freeze injury a) close view b) field view.	5
1.7	Effect of drought on growth, physiology, and yield components of oilseed rap ( <i>Brassica napus L</i> ).	pe 7
1.8	Schematic diagram of normal germination process and germination process aft seed priming.	ter 12
2.1	Protective role of micronutrients (Zn, Mn, Fe, Cu and B) in different biotic and abio stresses.	itic 19
2.2	Role of micronutrients in physiological and biochemical processes.	20
2.3	Seedling biomass at 8°C with micronutrient Zn. Mn. Fe and Cu seed priming. Hig concentration treatments. Data represent the mean and SE of 4 replicates.	gh 26
2.4	Seedling biomass at 8°C with micronutrient Zn. Mn. Fe and Cu seed priming. Lo concentration treatments. Sign (*) indicates a statistical difference at P<0.05.	ow 26
2.5	Germination percentage (left) and germination rate (normal seedling developmen at 8°C. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indica significant differences between the treatments.	nt) 27 ate
2.6	Root length development of oilseed rape plants grown at $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 5, 10 and days after sowing (DAS) on a sandy loam pH 5.6. Data represent means and S of five independent replicates of each treatment. Different characters indica significant differences between treatments.	15 29 SE ate
2.7	Seedling establishment of the winter OSR hybrid Atora at 53 DAS under field conditions with (right) and without (left) nutrient seed treatment.	əld 33
2.8	Seedling emergence in standard and striptill sowing at the experimental static Hohenlieth.	on 33
2.9	A field view of installed root windows (A) Fine root development along with root observation windows of field-grown Winter OSR 7 weeks after sowing (Both Lower row: root development along with observation windows with (right) and	oot 36 h); nd

without (left) exposure to waterlogging (Experimental Station Heidfeldhof – Uni Hohenheim).

- 2.1 Germination rate (normal seedlings) of Spring OSR grown at 12 + 2 0C root zone 37 temperature on a clay loam soil pH 6.6. Data represent means and SE of 4 independent replicates of each treatment.
- 2.11 Plant development of Spring OSR grown at low RZT (12 ± 2°C) for 5 WAS on a 38 clay loam soil pH 6.6. UT (Untreated), WP (Water primed), Zn.10, Zn.25, Zn.50, Zn.75µM (Zn primed).
- 2.12 Fine root development in Spring OSR grown at low RZT (12 ± 2<sup>o</sup>C) for 5 WAS on a 38 clay loam soil pH 6.6. UT (Untreated), WP (Water primed), Zn.10, Zn.25, Zn.50, Zn.75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.1 Oilseed rape response to N/P fertilizer depot.
- 3.2 Temperature regime during greenhouse culture. 54
- 3.3 Thermostated water bath incubator for rhizobox culture.

55

49

- 3.4 Shoot and root development of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) at 5 weeks after sowing (WAS) grown in rhizoboxes at greenhouse temperature. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH<sub>4</sub> depot), Seed priming variants (NH<sub>4</sub> depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75μM (Zn primed).
- Shoot dry weight of 5 weeks old winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) grown in rhizoboxes 58 at ambient greenhouse temperature. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates.
  BC (NO3 homogeneous), BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous; Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- Plant height of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) during 1 4 weeks after sowing grown 59 in rhizoboxes. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.7 Root development of winter oil seed rape (cv. WR1) along the root observation 59 window of rhizoboxes at 5 days after sowing. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.8 4.8: Root length development of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) along the root observation window of rhizoboxes during 1 4 weeks after sowing (WAS) Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.9 Root length development inside and outside of the depot zone, and total root 61 biomass of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) at five weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- Root hair density winter oilseed rape (cv WR1) at five weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control,

NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

- 3.11 SPAD values of fully developed and young leaves in winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) 63 at 5 weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75μM (Zn primed).
- 3.12 4.12: Shoot and root development of winter oilseed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing (WAS) grown in rhizoboxes at reduced root zone temperature 12<sup>o</sup>C. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH<sub>4</sub> depot), Seed priming variants (NH<sub>4</sub> depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.13 Shoot dry weight of Spring oil seed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing (WAS) 66 grown in rhizoboxes at reduced root zone temperature 12°C. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH<sub>4</sub> depot), Seed priming variants (NH<sub>4</sub> depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- Plant height of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) during 1 4 weeks after sowing grown in rhizoboxes reduced root zone temperature 12°C. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.15 Root development of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) along with the root observation 67 window of rhizoboxes at 7 days after sowing. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75μM (Zn primed).
- 3.16 Root length development of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) along with the root observation window of rhizoboxes during 1 4 weeks after sowing (WAS) Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.17 Root length development inside and outside of the depot zone, and total root 69 biomass of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.18 Root hair density winter oilseed rape (cv SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing. Data 70 represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.19 SPAD values of fully developed leaves in Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks 71 after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 4.1 Habitus of well-watered (70% WHC) and one-week drought-affected OSR plants 86 (40% WHC), genotypes WR2-WR4, 28 DAS with and without nutrient seed treatment (NST).

- 4.2 Leaf habitus and leaf colouration of well-watered (70% WHC) and one-week 86 drought-affected OSR plants (40% WHC); genotypes: WR2-WR4, 28 days after sowing (DAS) with and without NST.
- 4.3 Cuticular development of well-watered (70% WHC) and one-week drought-affected 87 OSR plants (40% WHC), genotype WR4, 28 DAS with and without NST.
- Shoot growth and expression of drought stress symptoms of three OSR genotypes
  (WR2, WR5, WR6) before (A) and after (B) 7d of growth at a soil moisture level of
  40% WHC.
- 4.5 Relationship between leaf ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity and root length (RL) 101 in the investigated OSR plants after 7d recovery from a 7 d-drought stress period at 40% soil water-holding capacity.
- 5.1 Impact of water priming on the acceleration of OSR plant development under field 105 conditions in Canada.
- 5.2 Optimized seed dressing formulation used in the experiments. 108
- 5.3 Fine root proliferation in the ammonium depot zone under field conditions. 111
- 5.4 Schematic diagram representing the crosstalk of JA with other plant hormone signalling pathways. Note: Positive and negative regulatory actions are indicated by arrows and lines with bars, respectively. MYC2 is the major component involved in interactions between JA and gibberellin (GA). DELLAs interact with JAZ repressors, relieving MYC2 from JAZ repression, and facilitate JA-mediated defense responses by the activation of MYC2. MYC2 is also positively regulated by ABA. Conversely, MYC2 inhibits salicylic acid (SA) regulation of abiotic stress response genes. The JAZ inhibition of EIN mediates JA and ET signalling synergy in plant resistance, whereas the reciprocal counteraction between MYC2 and EIN mediates JA and ethylene (ET) signalling antagonism.
- 5.5 Proposed interactions of stabilized ammonium fertilization, PGPM inoculation and 118 Zn/Mn supplementation contributing to increased cold tolerance during the early growth of maize.

#### List of Tables

Numbers	Title	Page No.
2.1	Seed priming solution concentrations.	21
2.2	Zinc seed priming (ZnSP) and Zinc seed dressing (ZnSD) treatments in three experiments. Columns "a & b" represent two independe experiments under controlled growth chamber conditions while column 'represents the treatments used in greenhouse culture with low root zo temperature (RZT). UT = unprimed control; WP = water-primed control.	all 22 ent "c" ne
2.3	Samplings for comparative field testing of ZnSP and ZnSD treatments.	24
2.4	Zinc seed reserves of different spring rape hybrids. Data represent the mean and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significates differences.	he 28 ant
2.5	Shoot and root biomass production of oilseed rape plants grown at 23 2°C for 5, 10 & 15 days after sowing (DAS). Data represent means and s of six independent replicates of each treatment. Different character indicate significant differences between treatments.	8 <u>+</u> 29 SE ers
2.6	Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape seedlings grow in a sandy loam soil (pH 5.6) at $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 5, 10 and 15 days after sowi (DAS). Data represent means and SE of 3 replicates of each treatment Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.	wn 30 ng nt.
2.7	Germination shoot and root biomass production, and root length of OS plant grown at 23 $\pm$ 2°C for 10 DAS after zinc seed dressing on a san loam soil pH 5.6. Data represent means and SE of 10 replicates. Differences between treatments.	SR 31 dy ent
2.8	Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape plant grown ir sandy loam soil (pH 5.6) at 23 $\pm$ 2°C for 10 days after sowing (DAS). Da represent means and SE of 3 replicates of each treatment. Differences between treatments.	n a 32 ata ent
2.9	Effects of ZnSO <sub>4</sub> seed priming and seed dressing treatments on fie establishment and yield of winter OSR hybrids (WR1, WR2) with strip versus conventional sowing.	eld 34 otill
2.1	Time course of root length development along with root observation windows between October and March. Data represent Means and SD of replicates.	on 35 f 3
2.11	Shoot and root biomass production, and root length of Spring OSR grow under low RZT ( $12 + 2^{\circ}C$ ) for 5 Weeks after nutrient seed priming on a cl loam soil pH 6.6. Data represent means and SE of 4 independent replicat of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differenc between the treatments.	wn 39 ay es es
2.12	Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape plant grown ir silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at the low RZT (12 $\pm$ 2°C) for 5 Weeks. Da	n a 40 ata

represent means and SE of 4 independent replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between the treatments.

- 3.1 Various priming treatments, fertilization and growing temperatures used for 53 the experiments for both OSR hybrids.
- 3.2 Seed zinc concentrations and contents after nutrient seed priming. Data 57 represent Means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. Cont (unprimed control), WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75μM (ZnSO<sub>4</sub> primed).
- 3.3 Shoot mineral nutrient concentrations and contents after 5 weeks old winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) grown in rhizoboxes at greenhouse temperature. Data represent Means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 3.4 Shoot mineral nutrient concentrations and contents after 7 weeks old winter 72 oilseed rape (cv. SR1) grown in rhizoboxes at reduced root zone temperature 12°C. Data represent Means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).
- 4.1 Shoot, root dry biomass production, and root length of oilseed rape (genotype WR2, WR3, WR4), grown at 23 ± 2°C for 5 Weeks with and without nutrient seed treatment (NST). Data represent means and SE of 5 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.
- 4.2 Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape (genotype WR2, 89 WR3, WR4), grown on a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at 23 ± 2°C for 5 Weeks with and without NST. Data represent means and SE of 5 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.
- 4.3 Seed mineral nutrient contents of the tested OSR genotypes, WR2, WR5 & 91 WR6.
- 4.4 Shoot, root dry biomass production, root length an activity of ascorbate peroxidase in leaves of oilseed rape hybrids (WR2, WR5, WR6) grown on a sandy loam soil pH (5.6) & a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at 23 ± 2°C for 5 weeks with and without NST. Data represent means and SE of 5 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.
- 4.5 Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape hybrids (WR2, WR5 & WR6) grown on a sandy loam soil pH (5.6) & a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at 23 ± 2°C for 5 Weeks with and without NST. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.
- 4.6 Total phenolics (gallic acid equivalents), total antioxidants and proline 97 status of the youngest fully developed leaf of the oilseed rape (WR2 & WR6) three days after the recovery from the drought phase. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

4.7 Hormone-status of the youngest fully developed leaf of oilseed rape (WR2 97 & cv. WR6) three days after the recovery from the drought phase grown at  $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

## Summary

Poor germination and limitations during early plant growth are widespread constraints for oilseed rape (OSR; *Brassica napus* L.) with increasing importance due to a rising frequency of weather extremes related with global climate change. In this study, efforts have been made to improve health and stress resistance of OSR by exploring perspectives of cost-effective application techniques for micronutrients with stress-protective functions to cover increased demands of these nutrients under stress conditions. After preliminary screening experiments, special emphasis was placed on zinc (Zn) seed treatments including seed priming (SP) and seed dressing (SD). Effects on seedling performance during early growth were recorded at optimal conditions for plant growth in terms of temperature, nutrient and water supply and also under drought stress for winter OSR and under low root zone temperature (RZT) stress in spring OSR.

Higher seedling biomass and healthy seedling development highlighted the most promising seed treatment potential for ZnSO<sub>4</sub> among zinc (Zn), manganese (Mn), iron (Fe) and boron (B) priming treatments in a pre-selection experiment conducted as petri-dish germination test at 8°C, applied as a stress factor. Accordingly, ZnSO<sub>4</sub> was used in two model experiments with ZnSP and ZnSD treatments under soil conditions. The presence of more than the double amount of the inherited Zn seed reserves in the shoot tissue of five-day old seedlings indicated a massive demand for Zn during early seedling development to be mainly supplied via root uptake. A positive effect on plant growth, and particularly on root development, regardless of the application method (SP or SD) during the first 10 days of seedling growth suggested suboptimal Zn supply via root uptake at this developmental stage even under optimum growing conditions with respect to temperature (23°C), nutrient availability and water supply. Seed priming treatments (Zn 50  $\mu$ M) and a seed dressing treatment (Zn 50  $\mu$ M at 1.2 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> seeds) achieved the highest growth responses without posing any adverse effect on germination. A similar functional equivalence of SP and SD treatments was confirmed under field conditions but the best performance was recorded with Zn 25 µM treatments in this case. The magnitude of improvement was even higher at low root zone temperatures (12°C) tested in spring OSR. Increased contents particularly of sparingly soluble nutrients (such as Mn and P) in the shoot can be regarded as secondary effect, resulting from better root growth in response to the Zn seed treatments. A decline in fine root development (30%) during winter under field conditions, which was further reduced to 70% in presence of temporal waterlogging as additional stress factor, indicated the need for a well-established root system also in winter OSR (Chapter 2).

The present study also suggests that the combination of Zn seed priming with the placement of ammonium-phosphate starter fertilizers can support the expression of plant traits beneficial for field establishment of winter rape and spring rape as well. In a rhizobox experiment on a soil with moderate P availability, it was demonstrated that even in absence of environmental stress factors, such as temperature extremes or drought stress, Zn seed priming could improve early plant development in terms of root elongation and stimulation of seedling growth in winter rape. This improved the exploitation of an underfoot ammonium-phosphate fertilizer depot with root attracting properties, placed at a soil depth of 8 cm. No negative side effects of depot fertilization

on simultaneous rooting of deeper soil layers, important for winter hardness, were observed. However, at 5 weeks after sowing, the P status of the plants with homogenous NPK supply was critical, while optimum P shoot concentrations were recorded in the depot fertilizer variants. However, the largely improved P status was not associated with excessive shoot growth, known to be detrimental for winter survival. Also under field conditions, 11.6 % higher yields were recorded in a combination of ZnSD (25  $\mu$ M) with striptill sowing and placement of di-ammonium phosphate fertilization in comparison with standard sowing without fertilizer placement.

In spring rape exposed to reduced root zone temperatures (12°C) to simulate low temperature stress in spring, the combination of Zn seed priming with ammonium-phosphate depot fertilization stimulated shoot biomass production by up to 30%, Plants with homogenous nutrient supply were severely P deficient, while the P status was optimal in the depot variants. Since no root growth effects were detectable in this case, it is concluded that Zn priming promoted root activity and root-induced P acquisition via the well-documented ammonium-induced rhizosphere acidification. The improved nutrient status obviously supported seedling establishment of spring OSR exposed to low root zone temperatures as frequently recorded in spring (Chapter 3).

Crop production is also increasingly affected by water limitation even in temperate climates due to a rising frequency of drought periods, related with global change. Application of stress-protective nutrients belongs to the measures discussed as mitigation strategies. Therefore, this study investigated potential drought-protective effects of nutrient seed treatments (NST), applied as seed dressings based on calcium (Ca), potassium (K), Fe, Zn and Mn on early growth of OSR. Responses were investigated in five winter-OSR hybrids under greenhouse conditions on two soils with contrasting properties (sandy-loam pH 5.6 vs. silty-loam pH 6.9). A 7-days drought period with reduced soil moisture level (40% soil water-holding capacity WHC) significantly reduced shoot and root growth and caused irreversible wilting and leaf necrosis (27-46%), depending on the investigated genotype and was particularly expressed on the sandy-loam with lower WHC compared to the silty loam soil. The seed treatments increased shoot-, and particularly root growth and shoot nutrient accumulation but reduced the proportion of irreversibly damaged leaves to 17-21%, with the largest expression in the strongly drought-affected genotypes under the more challenging conditions on the sandy-loam soil. Analysis of physiological stress indicators revealed increased accumulation of phenolics, total antioxidants and increased activities of ascorbate peroxidase (APX) in the leaf tissue, counteracting drought-induced oxidative stress. Moreover, APX activity was positively correlated with root length development and indole acetic acid (IAA) accumulation, suggesting a protective effect on drought-induced oxidative IAA degradation with inhibitory effects on root growth. Increased levels of abscisic-, jasmonic-, and salicylic-acids during drought-stress recovery point to stress priming effects, strengthening the natural adaptive responses to water limitation (Chapter 4).

Accordingly, both, ZnSP and ZnSD may offer practical, economically low-cost application methods to improve early seedling establishment particularly under challenging environmental conditions, to improve the perspectives for conversion into higher economic yields and could be equally attractive for small-scale on-farm use and rape seed industry.

## Zusammenfassung

Reduzierte Keimung und Einschränkungen in der Jugendentwicklung sind weitverbreitete Probleme im Rapsanbau, die aufgrund einer durch den Klimawandel bedingten Erhöhung der Häufigkeit von Witterungsextremen zunehmend an Bedeutung gewinnen. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurden daher Perspektiven für die kostengünstige Anwendung von Mikronährstoffen mit Schutzwirkungen gegen Stressfaktoren untersucht, um einen erhöhten Bedarf dieser Nährstoffe unter Stressbedingungen nach Möglichkeit auszugleichen. Basierend auf den Ergebnissen einführender Screeningversuche. wurden bevorzugt Ansätze zur Saatgutbeizung und zum Saatgutpriming, sowohl unter optimalen Anzuchtbedingungen im Hinblick auf Temperatur, Wasser und Nährstoffangebot sowie Trockenstressbehandlungen bei Winterraps untersucht, während der Einfluss niedriger Wurzelraumtemperaturen bei Sommerraps betrachtet wurde.

In Petrischalenkeimtests mit Zink (Zn), Mangan (Mn), Eisen (Fe), und Bor (B)-Priming ergaben sich erhöhte Biomasseentwicklung und verbesserte Keimlingsgesundheit bei Saatgutbehandlungen mit ZnSO<sub>4</sub> bei einer Keimtemperatur von 8°C als Stressfaktor. Daher wurden zunächst ZnSO-Saatgutbehandlungen in Form von Saatgutpriming und Saatgutbeizung in weiterführenden Modellexperimenten in Bodenkultur untersucht. Mehr als doppelt so hohe Zn-Sprossgehalte im Vergleich zu den Samenreserven bereits bei fünf Tage alten Keimlingen weisen auf einen hohen Zinkbedarf hin, der schon in den frühen Phasen der Keimlingsentwicklung durch Wurzelaufnahme gedeckt werden muß. Gleichermaßen positive Effekte von Saatgutbeizung und Saatgutpriming-Behandlungen auf Sprosswachstum und besonders auf die Bewurzelung während der ersten 10 Tage der Keimlingsentwicklung, belegen eine suboptimale Zn-Versorgung durch die Wurzelaufnahme in dieser Entwicklungsphase, die selbst unter optimalen Wachstumsbedingungen im Hinblick auf Temperatur, Wasser-, und Nährstoffangebot auftritt. Zinkkonzentrationen von 50 µM in den Lösungen für Priming-, und Beizapplikationen erzielten die höchsten Biomasseeffekte ohne Beeinträchtigung der Keimraten. Eine ähnliche Äquivalenz von Saatgutpriming-, und Beizbehandlungen wurde auch in begleitenden Feldversuchen beobachtet, wobei hier die besten Effekte mit Zinkkonzentrationen von 25 µM erreicht wurden. Besonders Wachstumsstimulierungen wurden bei niedrigen Wurzelraumausgeprägte temperaturen (12°C) bei Sommerrapst erreicht. Ein verbesserter Ernährungsstatus auch im Hinblick auf andere Nährstoffe wie Phosphat (P) und Mangan kann als Sekundäreffekt bedingt durch das verbesserte Wurzelwachstum durch Zn Saatgutbehandlungen betrachtet werden. Eine Abnahme der Feinwurzellänge um 30% während der Auswinterung unter Feldbedingungen, die sich bei zusätzlichen Stressfaktoren wie Staunässe auf 70% erhöhte unterstreicht die Wichtigkeit einer optimalen Wurzelentwicklung z.B. bei Winterraps (Kapitel 2).

Die vorliegende Arbeit lieferte auch Hinweise darauf, dass durch die Kombination von Zn-Saatgutbehandlungen mit platzierter Ammoniumphosphat-Starterdüngung die Bestandsetablierung sowohl von Winterraps als auch von Sommerraps unterstützt werden kann. Dabei wurde in Rhizoboxversuchen gezeigt, dass selbst in Abwesenheit von Stressfaktoren wie Temperaturextreme oder Trockenheit, durch Zn-Saatgutpriming die Wurzelentwicklung und dadurch die Erschließung von Ammoniumphosphatdepots mit Wurzel-Lockwirkung in 8 cm Bodentiefe beschleunigt

und die frühe Pflanzenentwicklung bei Winterraps gefördert wurde. Dabei wurde die für die Ausprägung der Winterhärte wichtige Durchwurzelung tieferer Bodenschichten nicht inhibiert. Nach einer Wachstumsperiode von fünf Wochen bei homogener Düngerausbringung war P-Mangel bei den Versuchspflanzen nachweisbar während die Depotdüngungsvarianten eine optimale P Versorgung aufwiesen. Der deutlich verbesserte P Status führte jedoch nicht zu überschüssigem Sprosswachstum was sich negativ auf die Winterhärte auswirken würde. Auch unter Feldbedingungen wurde in einer Kombination aus Zink-Saatgutbeizung (25  $\mu$ M) mit Striptill-Aussaattechnik und Diammoniumphosphat-Platzierung eine Ertragssteigerung von 11.6 % im Vergleich zu herkömmlicher Saattechnik ohne Depotdüngung beobachtet.

Bei Sommerrapsanzucht mit niedriger Wurzelraumtemperatur (12°C) zur Simulierung niedriger Bodentemperaturen im Frühjahr, förderte die Kombination von Zn-Saatgutpriming mit Ammoniumphosphat-Depotdüngung das Sprosswachstum um bis zu 30%. Pflanzen mit homogenem Düngerangebot zeigten starken P-Mangel während der P Status in den Depotdüngungsvarianten im Optimalbereich lag. Da in diesem Fall keine Wurzelwachstumsstimulierung nachweisbar war, wird angenommen, dass Zn-Priming die Wurzelaktivität und damit die Ammonium-induzierte Protonenabgabe zur P-Mobilisierung förderte. Der verbesserte P-Ernährungsstatus unterstützte so die Keimlingsentwicklung unter dem Einfluss niedriger Bodentemperaturen, wie sie häufig im Frühjahr auftreten (Kapitel 3).

Wassermangel ist selbst in gemäßigten Breiten ein Stressfaktor mit zunehmender Bedeutung, wegen des gehäuften Auftretens von Trockenperioden unter dem Einfluss des Klimawandels. Daher untersuchte die vorliegende Arbeit auch Perspektiven für Saatgutbehandlungen durch Beizung mit Nährstoffen wie Calcium (Ca); Kalium (K), Fe, Zn und Mn mit Funktionen bei der Anpassung an Trockenstress im Jugendwachstum von Winterraps. Die Versuche wurden mit fünf Winterrapshybriden Gewächshausbedingungen unter auf zwei Böden mit unterschiedlichem Eigenschaften (einem sandigen Lehm, pH 5,6 und einem schluffigen Lehm pH 6.9), durchgeführt. Eine 7-tägige Trockenstressbehandlung mit reduzierter Bodenfeuchte (40% der Bodenwasserhaltekapazität, WHC) führte zu einer signifikanten Verminderung der Sprossbiomasse, des Wurzelwachstums und einer irreversiblen Blattschädigungsrate von 27-46% je nach untersuchtem Genotyp, die besonders auf dem sandigen Lehm mit einer verminderten Wasserhaltekapazität gegen über dem schluffigen Lehmboden ausgeprägt war. Die Saatgutbehandlungen förderten das Spross-und besonders das Wurzelwachstum, erhöhten die Spross-Nährstoffgehalte und verminderten die irreversiblen Blattschäden auf 17-21%. Diese Effekte waren am stärksten bei den gegenüber Trockenstress empfindlichsten Genotypen auf dem sandigen Lehmboden ausgeprägt. Die Analyse physiologischer Stressindikatoren ergab erhöhte Akkumulation von Phenolen und Antioxidanzien sowie erhöhte Aktivitäten von Ascorbatperoxidase (APX) mit Funktionen bei der Entgiftung freier Radikale im Blattgewebe. Die APX-Aktivität war darüber hinaus positiv mit der Wurzellängenentwicklung und der Akkumulation von Indolessigsäure (IAA) korreliert, was auf einen Trockenstress-bedingten oxidativen Abbau von IAA mit Hemmwirkung auf die Wurzelentwicklung hinweist, dem durch Antioxidanzien und erhöhte APX Aktivitäten entgegengewirkt wurde. Erhöhte Level von Abscisin-, Jasmon-, und Salicylsäure, die auch nach Erholung von der Trockenstressbehandlung nachweisbar waren, weisen auf Stresspriming-Effekte zur Stärkung der Pflanzeneigenen Abwehr gegenüber Trockenstress hin (Kapitel 4).

Sowohl Zn-Saatgutpriming als auch Zn-Saatgutbeizung könnten also praktische und ökonomisch günstige Ansätze bieten, um die Keimlingsentwicklung besonders unter abiotischen Stressbedingungen zu fördern, als Grundlage für eine optimierte Bestandsentwicklung und verbesserte Ertragsbildung. Die Methoden bieten Perspektiven sowohl für direkte On-Farm Anwendungen als auch für großtechnische Ansätze in der Saatgutindustrie.

#### Chapter 1

#### **1. General Introduction**

#### 1.1. Oilseed rape

Oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*) has internationally grown importance over time, especially in Europe (Abbadi and Leckband, 2011), China and Canada. It is the world-leading oilseed crop after soybean regarding production. In the Genus *Brassica*, it is the most widely used species. Oilseed rape is rated as a highly economical crop due to its extensive use for food, feed and fuel (Melut et al., 2012, van Duren et al., 2015). The last three decades showed an enormous hike that resulted in the doubling of its production worldwide. The total area under oilseed rape cultivation, in Germany, doubled between 1991-2006 (Christen and Friedt, 2007). Although the total cultivated area is reduced for other oil crops (e.g. Soybean and Sunflower) in the world, oilseed rape cultivated area was increasing, particularly in the European Union (Christen and Friedt 2007). A graphical illustration of oilseed crops (oilseed rape, sunflower, soybean) production shows an increase in the production of oilseed form 2008-2017 (Fig 1.1). Total production of 3132 thousand tons and a production area of 870 thousand hectares in Germany was forecasted for the year 2019 (Coceral, 2019).

Previously, oilseed rape was considered unsuitable for human consumption due to the accumulation of high amounts of glucosinolates, having bitter and antinutritive properties, and Erucic acid. High erucic acid rapeseed cultivars contain 45-60%, while moderate cultivars contain 35-45% (MvVetty and Scarth, 2002). Erucic acid intake causes coronary disorders in humans (Knutsen et a., 2016) and potentially changes the liver and kidney weight in animals. Therefore, rapeseed oil, could only be used for industrial purposes and house lamps. However, scientists succeeded in reducing these two toxicants and produced high-quality cultivars in the early 1970s through a global integrated breeding program. The invention of double low or double zero "00" cultivars made it suitable for human consumption because of low in Erucic acid and glucosinolate contents. These double low cultivars have been named Canola (Canadian Oilseed Low Acid). It contributes of approx. 40-45% oil, 3.5% fat and 47% protein (Asghari et al., 2011). The invention of double zero "00" cultivars contained

very low levels of erucic acid and glucosinolates, making them suitable for human consumption. EU sets a threshold of 2% erucic acid contents in oil for human consumption (Brooks, 2003). Double 00 cultivars contributed enormously to the rapeseed dominance over other oilseeds (Zanetti et al. 2009). Almost completely shifting to double low cultivars since 1991 documents the success of this breeding approach. In Central Europe, winter oilseed rape is more widely distributed (Lääniste et al. 2007) as compared to Spring rape. It gives higher yields because of its more extended growing period (Olesen et al., 2011).



Fig. 1.1: Oilseed crops production in EU-28, 2008-21017 (Eurostat, 2017).

#### 1.1.1. Root growth traits in oilseed rape

Oilseed rape root can extend from 1.5 to 2.4 meters in the soil (Peltonen et al., 2011), a well-developed taproot serves to store nutrients particularly crucial for winter rape. Since Brassica napus L. is a non-mycorrhiza plant species, the dependency on chemical strategies to mobilize nutrients, more significant fine root formation and longer root hair, is higher (Föhse et al., 1991; Hoffland et al.,1992). Under optimal conditions, the root biomass of oilseed rape increases quickly right from seeding till the early flowering stage and reaches the maximum at late flowering and then until maturity. Most of the oilseed rape root biomass (approx. 70%) achieved during 5-6 weeks after sowing/drilling and early root growth development is now considered one of the yield determent variables. Even at early growth stages, 1-2 leaf and 2-4 leaf, root

length was found to be positively correlated with grain yield (Kosenley et al., 2012). Additionally, it was observed that the cultivars having greater root growth before winter have the better ability to regenerate in summer, improves Leaf area index (LAI) and potentially the yields.

Different oilseed rape cultivars are different in their response to water and nutrients search and are highly versatile in root vertical and horizontal distribution (Peltonen-Sainio et al. 2009a; Peltonen-Sainio et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2009a; Wang et al. 2009b). Root plasticity could increase water nutrient availability. Shallow roots preferentially contribute to the acquisition of nutrients more abundant in the topsoil layer but are more sensitive to water shortage by drying of the topsoil, while the taproot can reach deeper soil layers with particular importance for water uptake (Duncan and Carrow 1997; Gahoonia and Nielsen 2004b). Therefore, an improved root development is a desirable trait, particularly essential under stressful plant growth conditions, to supply water and nutrients appropriately. However, oilseed rape root growth and development are encountered by numerous challenges in the field which are depicted in Fig 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 & 1.5.

Fig. 1.2: (Left): Soil compaction affected oilseed rape root growth. Optimally grown root (1), slight root growth restriction(2), hard soil layers caused horizontal root growth folloed by the vertical grwth after finiding the space to penetrate(3), root encountered a very hard barrier which completely restrict the root vertical growth (4), roots grown in an impermiable soil layer resulting in blokage of vertical root growth. All the root growth occures in upper 2-4cm soil (5) (Peltonen-Sainio et al. 2011).

Fig. 1.3: (Right): Stunted root growth when encountered with highly acidic soil layer (both left)

(DAFWA, 2013)

Fig. 1.4: (Left): Club root affected oilseed rape roots (right) and without disease (left) (FarmingUK, 2011).

Fig. 1.5: (Right): OSR root system affected by soil moisture and sowing date. Well-developed roots under optimal soil condition and sown at optimal dates (middle), roots grown in excessive soil moisture (left), and after sowing too late (right) (Rapool Wurzelfiebel, 2012).







#### 1.1.2. Low temperature in oilseed rape

Winter oilseed rape is sown from 1<sup>st</sup> August to the 30<sup>th</sup> of September (Lääniste et al. 2007). The sowing date and early seedling growth and development is crucial for winter survival. A plant with 6-8 leaves in the form of a deep-lying rosette has a better chance to cope with frost damages since the rosette gives a protective cover to the growing tissue. A taproot diameter up to 1 cm, before the plant would face an adverse winter temperature, ensures sufficient resources for plant growth and development (Christen and Friedt 2007). A well-developed tap root acts as a storage organ for the accumulation of carbohydrates or sugar required to tolerate the winter stress. Sugars are involved in plants cold tolerance as it plays a vital role in lipid membrane stabilization and potentially regulating cold-induced gene expressions. For winter survival, a plant must have to attain a minimum dry weight of 1-2 g before the winter commence (Mendham and Scott 1975). Supra-optimal nitrogen applications in autumn speeds up stem elongation and leads to an increased vulnerability to frost damage. Therefore, Excessive shoot growth before winter is not desirable as it makes the plant more vulnerable to frost damages and decreases the winter tolerance as well as limit regeneration capacity of the plant. However, it can be managed by avoiding excess nitrogen (N) applications. Oilseed rape plants with smaller shoots (Rathke et al., 2006) and intense root development exhibit highest winter survival rate. In addition to the



Fig. 1.6: Winter oilseed rape freeze injury a) close view b) field view (She et al., 2015)

winter rape, spring rape could also be subjected to sub-optimal temperature may be due to the early sowing or extended winter. Moreover, sub-optimal soil temperature at the time of germination, in other parts of the world such as Canada, is also a limiting factor for normal germination and early seedling growth and development. Oilseed rape exposed to the very low temperature experienced reduction in photosynthetic efficiency and membrane damages (Megha et al., 2018a).

#### 1.1.3. Drought in oilseed rape

Drought is one of the main abiotic stresses for crop plants affecting plant morphological, physiological, and reproductive growth process and eventually reducing final yields. According to an estimation, 40-60% of world crop yield is affected due to drought (Shao et al., 2008). In a rapidly changing climate, the topic of drought is getting highlighted around the world as low precipitation is already a pending problem and has been predicted to further increase in the future (Bates et al., 2008 & Li Y et al., 2009). According to Collins et al., 2009, the occurrence of drought and water shortage conditions is getting more and more relevant even in temperate climates. A severe wave of drought in Central and Northern Europe in spring and summer 2018 was a recent example and remained an issue during the last two years. Furthermore, a further increase in the frequency of drought stress events similar to the year 2018 has been predicted (EU Science Hub, 2019). The need for innovative strategies in agriculture to mitigate drought stress is, therefore, urgently needed and is inevitable.

In case of oilseed rape, detrimental drought effects on seed germination, shoot, root and leaf growth leading to poor seed yields have been previously documented (Yang et al., 2007, Qaderi et al., 2006, Mehanna et al., 2013, Hadi et al., 2014 & Raza et al., 2015a). A decreased germination percentage and germination rate is inevitable in drought conditions (Shahverdikandi et a., 2011), which has been recently recorded as an increasing problem due to late summer or autumn drought in Central and Eastern Europe. Cell/stem elongation is hindered and results in restricted shoot growth and length (Gul Ahmed, 2004). Along with the shoot growth, root growth is also severely affected but at mild drought, root growth parameters (root length, root fresh and dry weight) are improved. Ashraf et al., 2013 found an enhanced root length, root fresh and dry weight when grown in mild drought conditions similarly reported by Mehanna et al., 2013. Although a reduction in the plant root growth, when grown in the severe water limiting conditions, is well understood (Hadi et al., 2014). In addition to morphological consequences of drought, physiologically, drought can limit the production of chlorophyll, manipulate ABA production affecting stomatal conductance. Increase in ABA production leading to stomatal closure and inhibition of shoot growth is part of the drought stress adaptation to reduce transpiration. It is the central regulator for the upregulation of oxidative stress defence and osmotic adjustment. Addionally, less production of chlorophyll leads to lower chlorophyll contents (Sharma et al., 1993; Zhang et al., 2014). Both forms of chlorophyll, "a" and "b", are affected and decreased 38% chlorophyll contents (Sharma et al., 1993). Habibi, 2015 reported a higher decrease in chlorophyll "a" (57%) compared to the chlorophyll "b" (31%) under water deficit conditions. Chlorophyll has a clear linkage to the photosynthesis; a reduction in chlorophyll contents reduces the photosynthetic activity, vital for plant growth. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) like superoxide radical (O) hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), singlet oxygen (O<sup>-1</sup>) and hydroxyl radical (OH) are harmful for the plants. High concentration of ROS directly damages cell organelles like mitochondria and chloroplast, causing lipid peroxidation of membranes, chloroses, necroses and finally cell death (Ebrahimian & Bybordi, 2014). However, there are several other factors hindering photosynthesis under water limiting situation, i.e., decrease in CO<sub>2</sub> availability and stomatal conductance, leaf relative water content and increase in ABA (Pasban Eslam et al., 2000, Emam and Niknejad, 2004, Ashraf and Harris & 2013, Nasab et al., 2014; Achard et al., 2006).



Fig. 1.7: Effect of drought on growth, physiology, and yield components of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L*). (adapted from Raza et al., 2017).

All drought-induced morphological and physiological dysfunctionalities described above, eventually lead to the reduction in ultimate seed yields. As a result of drought, a decrease in the number of pods per plant, flowers, seed size and oil contents were recorded (Malcolm and Doug, 2002; Rahnema & Bakhshandeh, 2006). A drought-induced reduction in biological and seed yield by 17.9-32.1% and 18.5-38.7% has been reported, by Gunaskara et al., (2006). Although both vegetative and reproductive plant growth stages of oilseed rape are affected by water limitation, drought prevalence at the reproductive growth stage has higher detrimental effects on yield formation (Ghobadi et al., 2006). An overview illustration of growth, physiology and yield components affected by drought stress is shown in Fig 1.7.

#### 1.2. Stress-protective micronutrients

The role of essential macro and micro-nutrients in plant growth and development is well known. Although there are some plant essential nutrients which play a vital role in plant protective functions under stressful plant growth conditions. Some of these stress-protective micronutrients are Zinc (Zn), Manganese (Mn), Iron (Fe), Copper (Cu) and Boron (B).

Zinc is an essential nutrient for plants as well as humans. It is an integral part of various plant enzymatic reactions, including enzymes involved in protein synthesis and many other plant physiological functions. Zinc is taken up by the plants as divalent Zn2+ cation in normal growth conditions. During zinc transport in xylem, it is either transported as a free divalent form or bound to organic acids (Marschner, 2012). A high concentration of zinc in phloem sap occurred probably due to its binding with low weight organic solutes (Kochian, 1991).

Zinc is a critical metal as part of enzymes of all six enzyme classes in a biological system. These enzyme classes include oxidoreductases, transferases, hydrolases, lyases, isomerases and ligases (Sousa et al., 2009). Three are four different roles that are associated with zinc; (i) catalytic, (ii) structural, (iii) co-catalytic, and (iv) protein interface. Alcohol dehydrogenase, carbonic anhydrase and superoxide dismutase are the well-known enzymes having the structural and functional role of zinc. The deficiency of zinc could negatively affect root functions due to the reduced functioning of alcohol dehydrogenase (Moore und Patrick, 1988). Carbonic anhydrase is present

in chloroplast and cytoplasm and is required for the conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> to HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Carbonic anhydrase functions differently in C3 and C4 plants and has a prominent functional role in C4 plants rather than C3 plants. Therefore, zinc-deficient conditions may affect the photosynthesis rate more in C4 plants than C3 plants (Burnell et al., 1990).

The third and most popular enzyme with higher relevancy to abiotic stress resistance in plants is superoxide dismutase (SOD). In-plant cells, the CuZn dismutase (CuZn SOD) is the most frequently present SOD. Copper (Cu) acts as catalytic. Zinc associated with two histidines and one aspartate provides structural stability (Abreu and Cabelli, 2010). There are three different identified isoforms of CuZn SOD (Yruela, 2009), localized in the cytosol, chloroplast and peroxisomes. There is a direct correlation between plant zinc status and CuZn SOD activity. Zinc deficiency reduces enzyme activity which could be immediately reverted by zinc supply, explaining the essential structural role of zinc for normal CuZn SOD functioning (Cakmak & Marchner, 1988c). Due to the strong relationship of CuZn SOD activity with zinc supply, the enzyme activity is therefore presumed a better indicator of zinc deficiency tolerance than total leaf zinc concentration (Cakmak et al., 1997b; Yu et al., 1999b; Hacisalihoglu et al., 2003). A decrease in CuZn SOD activity leads to an increase in the rate of free oxygen radicals ( $O^{-}$ ) at the same time, suggesting a critical role of CuZn SOD. An increase in the rate of toxic free O<sup>-</sup> radicals increases membrane permeability and cause membrane lipid peroxidation (Cakmak and Marschner, 1988c). However, overexpression of CuZn SOD in transgenic plants could be a valuable tool to enhance abiotic stress tolerance (Cakmak, 2000; Kim et al., 2010). There are many other enzymes in which zinc serves as a metal component (Coleman, 1992, 1998). Some of them are; alkaline phosphatase, phospholipase, carboxypeptidase, and RNA polymerase.

Manganese, an essential plant micronutrient, plays an essential role in enzyme structure/activation, photosynthesis and cell division/elongation. It activates about 35 different enzymes involved in plant metabolism (Brunell, 1988). Hydrolytic reactions, Oxidation-reduction and carboxylation processes are catalyzed by most of these enzymes. Mn-containing enzymes like Mn protein in PS 11, oxalate oxide and Mn superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) are not present in greater numbers (Marchener 2012). Superoxide dismutase (SOD) are important to scavenge harmful oxygen

species, produced in aerobic organisms (Fridovich, 1983; Elster, 1982), in abiotic stress conditions. There are different members of SODs, FeSOD, MnSOD, CuZnSOD (Sadam and Böger 1983) which also contributes towards plant protection. In Mn-containing enzymes, MnSOD is one of the critical enzymes present in with relevancy to abiotic stress. Increased plant tolerance against drought, salinity and Mn deficiency was observed with an enhanced MnSOD production (Tanakka, 1999; Yu et al., 1999b; Wang et a., 2005a).

Generally, the most prominent role of Fe is in chloroplast development and photosynthesis, and as a constituent of redox systems. Presence of FeSOD in the chloroplast (Kwaitowsky et al., 1985) and may be some other parts of the cell like mitochondria or peroxisomes helps the plant to detoxify stress-induced free oxygen radicals (Droillard and Paulin, 1990). Reduced activity of FeSOD can be observed in the plants with low Fe levels (Iturbe-Ormaetxe, 1995). Additionally, catalase and peroxidase are also Fe-containing heme enzymes. Catalase takes part in photorespiration, glycolate pathway and superoxide dismutase processes. Peroxidase is involved in cell functions in different ways one of them is as ascorbate peroxidase (APX) to catalyse the process of detoxification in the chloroplast.

Copper (Cu) is involved structurally and functionally in plant cell. It plays the role in biosynthesis of proteins and chlorophyll and used in mitochondria and chloroplast to catalyse the redox reaction (Lombardi & Sibastiani, 2005). As a redox catalyst, Cu plays its role in more than 30 enzymes in different metabolic pathways (Harrison et al., 1999). Along with the above-mentioned function, as CuZn SOD, Cu performs a vital role in respiration and C and N metabolism. It has been noted that the stress tolerant genotypes have the higher activity of CuZn SOD under abiotic conditions similarly observed in Staria Italica under salinity stress, is one of the examples (Sreenivasulu et al., 2000). A lower activity of CuZn SOD in a stress sensitive genotypes (Hernandez et al., 1995) was also observed.

Boron (B) performs critical functions in the plant cell wall structure, membrane integrity and functioning, shoot growth and root elongation. Boron is the integral constituent of the cell wall structure but its involvement in cell wall synthesis is still in question. Plant membranes are the one oxidatively damaged when abiotic stress occurs. However, membrane functions caused by the B deficiency can be restored in few minutes after B application (Goldbach et al., 1990; Barr et al., 1993). The restored functions may include membrane permeability and oxidative activity (Cakmak and Römheld, 1997; Blevins and Lukaszwiski, 1998). Root elongation function of B may also alter plant capacity to deal with stressful plant growing conditions.

#### 1.3. Nutrient seed treatment

#### 1.3.1. Benefit and limitations

Seed treatments were used to protect the seeds from diseases and pests by treating with fungicides, and insecticides, primitively. Seed treatments offered great results with such a small quantity. With the advancement in seed treatment technology, seeds are now being treated with beneficial microbial inoculants and plant growth regulators due to their plant growth-related benefits. Treating the seeds with nutrients is another form of seed treatment technology where seeds are treated with essential plant macro and preferably, micronutrients. Nutrient seed treatments (NST) offer a great variety of benefits. Both nutrient seed priming (NSP) and nutrient seed dressing (NSD) improves the seed nutritional status and give the plant the desired starter nutrition for a good crop stand establishment. Healthy crop seedlings are less susceptible to diseases and pathogens. Mineral nutrients are needed in minute amounts and therefore is a cost-effective technique. Furthermore, treating the seeds with the nutrients (K, Ca, Zn, Fe Mn, B, Cu) involved in the stress tolerance mechanism not only serves as an essential nutrient but also protect the plants from plant growth limiting conditions, i.e., sub-optimal temperature, drought & salinity.

Despite the benefits, there are several limitations of treating the seeds with the essential plant nutrients. High quantities of treating nutrients could harm the seeds (Fraooq et al., 2012; Miraj et al., 2013); therefore, the treatment dose needs to be optimized before wide applications. Phytotoxic situation for the growing seedling may arise when applying with high dose rates. Treating with NSP requires additional evaluation of priming time duration to hydrate the seed and activate germination related metabolic activities. NSP also requires an extensive re-drying after the application which needs extra labor and mechanization.

#### 1.3.2. Water priming

In seed priming, seeds are soaked in water for particular time duration and then dried back to initial moisture contents. Water-soaked seeds trigger specific processes like; biochemical activity, breaking dormancy and enzyme activation, crucial for seed germination. Seeds priming allows the seeds to complete its pre-germination metabolic activities (Tizazu et al., 2019) and therefore enhance seedling germination and germination speed upon exposure to the favourable germinating environment. Additionally, primed seeds reduce seedling heterogeneity and help in good crop stand establishment (Rows, 1995). However, the whole germination process is divided into three stages; a- imbibition, b- metabolic processes activation, c- radical emergence and growth. As a result of priming, the first two stages of germination are completed. Seeds are taken out of the water before the radical emergence. The soaking time duration should be optimized for each crop species. If not optimized, radical emergence before drying can damage seed germination and viability.





Seed priming of various species showed positive germination, growth-promoting and yield-enhancing effects. Better crop establishment and improved germination in rice,

maize, sorghum and chickpea were noted (Harris, 1996; Harris et al., 2000; Harris et al., 1999). In addition to the germination, Harris et al., 1999 reported a higher number of flowers and higher grain yields in maize. Furthermore, primed Barley seeds have shown improved seedling growth over unprimed seed (Ajouri, 2004).

#### 1.3.3. Nutrient seed priming

Nutrient Seed-priming is a cost-effective method of seed treatment. It is soaking of seed in a nutrient solution for an identified period and afterward the seeds are re-dried and stored for further use. Although, seeds could be treated with both macro and micro-nutrients but treating with micro-nutrients allows using a little amount of nutrients for more exceptional outcomes. Zinc, Manganese, Boron, Copper and molybdenum are potentially viable and have been used in seed priming (Masuthi et al., 2009, Jhonson et al., 2005, Johansen et al., 2006a, Foti et al., 2008). Although, Zinc sulfate (ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O) has a vast reported potential, as a primed media, in several crop species like rice, wheat, barley, maize, lentil and chickpea (Salton et al., 2001; Harris et al., 2008; Ajouri et al., 2004; Harris et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 2005). Seed-priming with Zn-solution improved grain yield of rice, wheat, barley chickpea and lentils (Harris et al., 2008; Johnson et al., 2005; Ajouri et al., 2004). In a trial, it was investigated that the mean grain-yield of chickpea increased by 19% and wheat yield by 14% by priming with zinc (Harris et al., 2008). Zn seed-priming prominently improved grain-zinc concentration by 29% in chickpea and 12% in wheat as compared to unprimed (Harris et al., 2008).

Instead of optimal plant growth conditions, micro-nutrient seed priming and particularly zinc seed priming under sub-optimal growth conditions showed more significant stress alleviatory effects on the plant (Imran et al., 2015; Imran et al., 2018). Salt-stress, drought and low temperature are some of the typical yield-limiting abiotic stresses for crops, decreasing plant growth and nutrient uptake. Under salt-stress circumstances, the production of maize plants biomass from Zn priming was 25% greater as compared to water-priming treatment (Imran et al., 2018). In another experiment, it was shown that Zn seed-priming along with Manganese (Mn) improved maize grain-yield by 15%, signifying the potential for long-term effects of nutrient seed-priming (Imran et al., 2015).

Although there is very little literature available on oilseed rape priming but it was found that oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) was also positively responsive to seed priming, particularly at sub-optimal plant growth conditions. Water priming of oilseed rape (canola) improved 39% of germination and reduced time to 50% emergence when compared with non-primed control (Zheng et al., 1994). Potassium nitrate (KNO<sub>3</sub>) priming improved seedling performance and induced pronounced positive effect on canola plant at the highest drought levels (Mohammadi & Amiri, 2010). The potential of zinc seed priming in oilseed rape has not been fully explored yet which is the principal goal of the current study.

#### 1.3.4. Seed dressing/coating

Seed dressing is another commercially viable and acceptable method to treat the seeds. The seed industry very quickly adopted innovative seed dressing/ coating methods in the recent past and it is a rapidly growing market. According to an estimation, the treated seed market value of 6.1 USD in 2016 will be of approx. double of its size (11.3 USD) by the end of 2022 (Marketandmarket, 2020). Although the seed priming is also a competitive approach, but the seed industry inclination towards seed dressing is for several advantages that it delivers. For example, Seed dressing does not require additional labor and mechanization for re-drying, offers a great variety of flexibility for the seed treatments to be combined with seed protective agents like., fungicides and insecticides, gives an opportunity to combine chemical-biological seed treatments innovatively and lastly can be easily stored.

Seed treatment with plant protective agents is getting rapid popularity. In addition to the fungicide and insecticides, the efforts are being made to explore new plant protective agents that can help the plants against biotic and abiotic stresses. Nutrient based formulations are also now available in the market for seed dressing purposes. Seed dressing, coating, or pelleting are being used interchangeably. In terms of micronutrient seed coating, the effectiveness mainly depends on the selected micronutrient, soil type and nutrient to seed ratio (Halmer, 2008). Rice seeds coated with zinc sulfate and zinc oxide improved rice yields by 27.59% and 29.62%, respectively, when treated with 2% w/w each (Shivay et al., 2008). Adhikari (2016) reported a positive seedling growth effect on maize and soybean when coated with

zinc oxide. Inclusion of micronutrients (Cu, Mn & Zn) in wheat seed coating enhanced dry matter and grain yields by 13.4-20.7% and 436-706kg hec<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Pawel Wiatrak, 2013). Seed coating with Borax improved 37% grain yields of cowpea (Masuthi et al., 2009). Furthermore, reports are also available on molybdenum seed coating exhibiting positive plant-growth-promoting and yields enhancing effects in common beans and soybean (Biscaro et al., 2009 & Remesh and Thitumurugang, 2001).

#### 1.4. Study question and Hypothesis

The current study was conducted to evaluate nutrients seed treatment role to alleviate the abiotic stresses (the sub-optimal temperature drought) in oilseed rape. The potential of nutrient seed treatment has been documented in many other crops but not fully explored in oilseed rape. Therefore, the role of nutrient seed treatment in germination, early seedling development, plant nutrient status under low RZT and drought conditions was investigated.

Hypothesis 1

Micronutrient seed treatments have beneficial effects on germination and early seedling growth of oilseed rape.

Hypothesis 2

Micronutrient seed treatments have beneficial effects on early root development resulting in improved nutrient acquisition.

Hypothesis 3

Micronutrient seed treatments show protective effects under abiotic stress conditions.

Hypothesis 4

Responses to nutrient seed dressing treatment show genotypic variations.

Hypothesis 5

Seed priming and seed dressing treatments are equivalent in terms of efficiency.

#### Chapter 2

# Micronutrient seed treatments to improve seedling establishment in Oilseed Rape (Brassica napus. L)

#### 2.1. Abstract

Poor germination and limitations during early plant growth are widespread constraints for oilseed rape (Brassica napus. L) grown around the world with increasing importance due to increased frequency weather extremes related to global climate change. In the current study, efforts have been made to enhance health and stress resistance by exploring perspectives of cost-effective application techniques for micronutrients with stress-protective functions to cover potentially increased demands under stress conditions. After preliminary screening experiments, special emphasis was placed particularly on zinc (Zn) seed treatments including seed priming (SP), and seed dressing (SD). Effects on seedling performance during early growth were recorded at optimal conditions for plant growth in terms of temperature, nutrient and water supply for winter OSR and under low root zone temperature (RZT) stress conditions in spring OSR.

Higher seedling biomass and healthy seedling development highlighted the most promising seed treatment potential for ZnSO<sub>4</sub> among Zn, Mn, Fe and B priming treatments in a pre-selection experiment conducted as petri-dish germination tests at 8°C, applied as a stress factor. Accordingly, ZnSO<sub>4</sub> was used in two model experiments with ZnSP and ZnSD treatments under soil conditions. The presence of more than the double amount of the inherited Zn seed reserves in the shoot tissue of five-day-old seedlings indicated a massive demand of Zn during early seedling development to be mainly supplied via root uptake. A positive effect on plant growth, particularly on root growth regardless of the application method (SP or SD) during the first 10 days of seedling growth suggested suboptimal Zn supply via root uptake at this developmental stage even under optimum growth conditions with respect to temperature (23°C) nutrient availability and water supply. Seed priming treatments Zn 50 µM and seed dressing treatment Zn 50 µM (1.2 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> seeds) achieved the highest possible growth responses without posing any adverse effect on germination. A similar functional equivalence of SP and SD treatments was
confirmed under field conditions, but the best performance was recorded with Zn 25µM treatments in this case. The magnitude of improvement was even higher at low root zone temperatures (12°C) tested in spring OSR. A decline in fine root development (30%) during winter under field conditions, which was further decreased to 70% in the presence of temporal waterlogging as an additional stress factor, indicated the need for a well-established root system in winter OSR. Improved contents, particularly of other sparingly soluble nutrients (such as Mn, and P) in the shoot can be regarded as secondary effect resulting from better root growth in response to the seed treatments.

Accordingly, both, ZnSP and ZnSD may offer practical, economically low-cost application methods to improve early seedling establishment particularly under challenging environmental conditions, to improve the perspectives of conversion into higher economic yields and could be equally attractive for small-scale on-farm use and rape seed industry.

#### 2.2. Introduction

Oilseed rape (OSR) is one of the most widely grown oil crops, especially in temperate climates (Bauer, 2011). In Europe, it accounted for 77% of all the oilseed production in 2010/2011 (Milke, 2011). Winter OSR is the predominant form of OSR in Central Europe (Rapacz et al., 2000) and Germany as well. Germination and early seedling establishment are prominent features with economic impact in crop species (Rajjou et al., 2012). A rapid and proper seedling establishment can contribute to a better crop stand and economic yields (Ellis, 1992). In case of winter OSR, the seedlings must attain 1-2 g of dry weight during autumn (Mendham and Scott 1975) and a 6-8 leaves stage in the form of a deep-lying rosette, which gives a protective cover to the growing tissue for better winter survival. As a non- mycorrhizal plant species, OSR is highly dependent on a well-established root system for nutrient acquisition as well as for the expression of any strategy regarding nutrient mobilization and even nutrient storage in taproots (Föhse et al., 1991, Hoffland et al., 1989, 1992). Therefore, a proper establishment of the root system before winter is highly desirable for survival and regrowth in spring. Furthermore, Koscielny & Gulden, 2012 reported a correlation of early root length development at the 3-4 leaf stage with final seed yields.

Meanwhile, various seed enhancement techniques with expected positive effects on germination, seedling health, stress resistance & plant establishment attract increasing popularity in the face of climate-change-related weather extremes and a declining availability of chemical plant protection agents. Soaking of seed in water for a specified period to initiate the seed metabolic activities before germination and then drying back to initial moisture is termed as seed priming (Bradford, 1986). Seed priming (SP) is known to enhance germination and seedling growth in various field crops, and in varying plant growth conditions, i.e., limited moisture conditions and P and Zn deficiency (Ajouri et al., 2004; Mena et al., 2013). Hydro-, nutrient-, chemical-and bio-priming are the standard forms of SP. Seed dressing (SD) is another seed enhancement approach in which fungicides, insecticides, or any growth-promoting chemical or biological agents adhere to the seed coat (Ellis, 2004, Stendhal,2005) aiming to enhance seed performance.

Nutrient seed priming (NSP) is a seed treatment technique in which seeds are soaked in a specific nutrient solution for a particular time duration. Seeds can be primed either with macro or micronutrients. However, since micronutrients are needed in smaller quantities, priming with micronutrients usually has longer-lasting effects. Nutrient seed priming with micronutrients improved early seedling nutritional status in maize (Imran et al., 2013; 2015) providing growth-promoting and stress-protective effects. Plants are continuously exposed to environmental stress challenges in variable intensities. Although micronutrients, such as Zinc (Zn), Manganese (Mn), Iron (Fe), Copper (Cu) and Boron (B) are required in small amounts, vital roles in protection against different stresses are documented (Fig.2.1).

The availability of these micronutrients in the soil and the plant is important under stress conditions to perform stress-protective functions in membrane integrity, signalling, synthesis of protective secondary stress metabolites, growth hormones, and many more. Micronutrients like Zn, Mn, Cu and Fe are well known to be co-factors of various enzymes (superoxide dismutases, peroxidases, catalses) involved in detoxification of reactive oxygen species produced in excess amounts in response to various environmental stress factors (Jaleel et al, 2009).



Fig. 2.1: Protective role of micronutrients (Zn, Mn, Fe, Cu and B) in different biotic and abiotic stresses (Tripathi et al., 2015)

Manganese (Mn), Cu and B are also important cofactors for many enzymes and metabolic pathways involved in the biosynthesis of phenolics with widespread functions in stress adaptations, such as lignification, antibiotic activity, signals for beneficial micro-organisms, UV light protection and functions as antioxidants. Copper takes part in the regulation of various plant physiological and metabolic processes. Enzymes, in which copper act as a cofactor, play pivotal roles in respiration, cell wall lignification and phenolic compounds metabolism. Manganese (Mn) is discussed as a micronutrient with central relevance for the antibiotic activity in terms of disease resistance in plants (Huber and Graham, 1999; Heckman et al., 2003). Lignin and subrin biosynthesis is important for the formation of mechanical barriers to resist pathogen invasion, i.e., fungal attack. Manganese activates various enzymes in the shikimic acid and phenolic compounds pathway (Marchner, 1995) regulating the biosynthesis of lignin and phenolic compounds in general (Romheld and Marchner 1991; Vidhyasekaran, 1997).

The involvement of Boron in lignin, polyphenol and flavonoid synthesis highlights it as another important stress-protective micronutrient (Dixit et al., 2002). Additionally, the role of B in plant-microbe interactions to establish a symbiotic relationship (Reguera et al., 2010) and cell wall construction (0`Neill et al., 2004) further highlights its essential role for plant development. The role of micronutrients in different metabolic pathways is illustrated in Fig.2.2.



Fig. 2.2: Role of micronutrients in physiological and biochemical processes.

In the present study, micronutrient seed priming and seed dressing approaches were compared for seed nutrient enrichment. The perspective of micronutrients to be used as primed and dressed nutrients was determined. Benefits of SP and SD could only be achieved after attaining an appropriate dosage of the primed and coated media. Therefore, dosage optimization concerning early plant development (root and shoot growth) and its alleviatory stress effects under low-temperature, exemplarily selected as stress factor was investigated in OSR. It was hypothesized that;

- a) Micronutrient seed treatments increase seed nutrient reserves.
- b) Micronutrient seed treatments exhibit germination improvements.
- c) A seedling from micronutrient treated seeds exhibits better plant growth under optimal and low RZT conditions.
- d) Plants produced from micronutrient treated seeds exhibit an improved plantnutritional status (Zn, Mn, Fe, P).
- e) Seed priming and seed dressing effects are comparable.

#### 2.3. Materials & Methods

## 2.3.1 Seed treatments

Nutrient seed priming is a technique in which the seeds are soaked in a specific nutrient solution for a particular time duration, dried back, and stored for further use. Initially, seeds were primed with various micronutrients (Zinc, Manganese, Iron, Copper & Boron) to select the most effective micronutrient for further experiments. ZnSO4.7H<sub>2</sub>O, MnSO4.H<sub>2</sub>O, Fe-EDTA, CuSO4.5H<sub>2</sub>O and H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub> solutions of different concentrations were used to prime the seeds with Zn, Mn, Fe, Cu, and B, respectively (Table 1). Seeds were provided by Norddeutsche Pflanzenzucht Hans-Georg Lembke KG (NPZ, Holtsee, Germany). For priming, five grams of OSR seeds were soaked in 50 ml of the respective solution of each concentration for a predetermined time duration of 24 hours. Seeds were rinsed carefully to remove any adhering material on the seed surface. Afterwards, the seeds were dried at room temperature and stored at 2<sup>o</sup>C in a cooling room.

Micronutrients	Concentration (mM)
ZnSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	0.01, 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 1.5, 2, 20
MnSO <sub>4</sub> .H <sub>2</sub> O	0.01, 0.1, 0.2,5, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 2, 3, 4, 15
Fe-EDTA	0.5, 2, 4, 6, 8, 20
CuSO <sub>4</sub> .5H <sub>2</sub> O	0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 1.5
H <sub>3</sub> BO <sub>3</sub>	0.1, 1

Table 2.1: Seed priming solution concentrations.

Primed seeds were grown on a Whatman No 1 moist filter paper, in the 9 cm round Petri dishes. Ten seeds were grown in each Petri dish in four replicates at low-temperature conditions ( $8^{\circ}C \pm 1$ ). Seedling biomass and germination were recorded after 10 days.

For the model experiments, various concentrations of Zinc sulfate (ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O) solution was used (Table 2.2). For seed dressing treatment, the seed of OSR were treated with Zinc sulfate ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O concentration of 25 and 50  $\mu$ M, at various doses, by NPZ (Holtsee, Germany). A solution of 25  $\mu$ M ZnSO<sub>4</sub> was supplied with the help of adhesive material on the seed surface at three dosage rates of 1.2, 4 and 8 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> seeds, while 50  $\mu$ M ZnSO<sub>4</sub> was applied with 1.2 and 4 ml kg<sup>-1</sup> of seed. Untreated seeds were used as a control in all the experiments. Seeds were stored at 2<sup>o</sup>C before use.

Table 2.2: Zinc seed priming (ZnSP) and Zinc seed dressing (ZnSD) treatments in all three experiments. Columns "a & b" represent two independent experiments under controlled growth chamber conditions while column "c" represents the treatments used in greenhouse culture with low root zone temperature (RZT). UT = unprimed control; WP = water-primed control.

	а	b	C
	Exp-1	Exp-2	Exp-3
	Priming Treatments	Dressing Treatments	Priming Treatments
1	UT	UT	UT
2	WP	Zn 25 μM (1.2 ml kg <sup>-1</sup> seeds)	WP
3	-	Zn 25 µM (4 ml kg <sup>-1</sup> seeds)	Zn 10 μM
4	Zn 25 μM	Zn 5 µM (8 ml kg <sup>-1</sup> seeds)	Zn 25 μM
5	Zn 50 µM	Zn 50 µM (1.2 ml kg <sup>-1</sup> seeds)	Zn 50 μM
6	Zn 75 µM	Zn 50 µM (4 ml kg <sup>-1</sup> seed)	Zn 75 μM

## 2.3.2 Experiment 1 & 2

Two experiments were conducted in the growth chamber under controlled environmental conditions. For both experiments, environmental condition comprised average air temperatures of 23 + 2 °C, 15/9 h light/dark periods with a light intensity of 400 mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and relative air humidity of 60-80%. Five hundred grams of a sandy loam soil pH 5.6 was fertilized with Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, 100 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> DM; Ca(H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, 80 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> DM; K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 150 mg K kg<sup>-1</sup> DM and MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mg Mg kg<sup>-1</sup> DM was filled in each pot covered with thin layer of quartz sand (100 g) to reduce surface evaporation. Ten seeds of the respective treatments were directly sown at 2 cm soil depth. Untreated (UT) and water primed (WP) seeds were taken as a control in the experiment "1" and for experiment "2" only an untreated (UT) control was included (Table 2.2). Soil moisture contents were maintained gravimetrically at 70% substrate water-holding capacity (WHC) throughout the experiment. The plants were sequentially harvested at 5, 10 &15 days after sowing (DAS) for experiment "1" and 10 DAS for experiment "2".

#### 2.3.3. Experiment 3

#### 2.3.3.1. Low root zone temperature (RZT) treatment

A rectangular wooden box with styrofoam isolation, filled with moist peat was used to construct a controlled root zone temperature system. Cooling pipes connected to the cooling thermostat (Thermomix 1480/Frigomix 1497, Braun, Melsungen, Germany), were installed inside the peat layer vertically and horizontally to provide a uniform temperature distribution and to avoid any temperature gradient (Bradacova et al., 2016). Sealed pots were then inserted into the thermostated peat layer. Soil temperature was maintained at  $12^{\circ}C \pm 2$  throughout the experiment.

## 2.3.3.2 Plant culture

The experiment was conducted in a greenhouse at average air temperature  $14.0^{\circ}$  C. Average humidity ranged between 60-80% and the light intensity from  $250 - 400 \,\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> PAR. A field soil already fertilized for Winter OSR cultivation was taken from University of Hohenheim research station "Heidfeldhof". The soil had the following properties; clay loam soil with pH 6.6, N<sub>min CFA</sub> 27.4 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, P<sub>CAL</sub> 170 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, K<sub>CAL</sub> 200 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Mg <sub>CaCl2</sub> 150 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Fe<sub>CAT</sub> 165 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Mn<sub>CAT</sub> 231 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, B<sub>hot water</sub> 0.312 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Zn<sub>CAT</sub> 2.89 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Cu<sub>CAT</sub> 3.51 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>.No mineral fertilizers were additionally applied. The soil was sieved through 2 mm mesh size and thereafter, pots were filled with 1.5 kg of soil each. Ten primed seeds were sown at 2 cm soil depth in each pot. Pots were then placed in the cooling system for germination. Moisture content was adjusted to 18% by W/W basis and kept constant throughout the experiment by daily gravimetric control. Plants were harvested five weeks after sowing (WAS).

#### 2.3.4. Field Experiments

One field experiment was conducted at university Hohenheim research station "Heidfeldhof" to observe the root establishment under field conditions. A non-destructive method for monitoring root growth through root observation windows (Neumann et al., 2009; 2014) was employed. The experiment was conducted in a pre-fertilized oilseed rape stand with soil properties as specified in experiment 3. Twelve root observation windows were installed according to the method described by Neumann et al. (2009) and monthly recordings of the root development along the observation windows were performed from October to March.

A comparative study on Zn seed priming and seed dressing approaches under field conditions was conducted by the industrial partner NPZ Innovation GmBH in Hohenlieth. The research station Hohenlieth is located in the Nort-Western part of Schleswig Holstein in Northern Germany with an average annual precipitation level of 815 mm and an average annual temperature of 8.9°C. The soil type is characterized as sandy-loam, pH 6.5. Ultra-late sowing was conducted by the end of September 2014, comparing standard sowing (NSTP1) and striptill sowing, including a starter fertilization with diammoniumphosphate applied as fertilizer placement at a depth of 20 cm with 100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (NSTP2). Seed treatments (SP and SD) were conducted with two concentrations of ZnSO<sub>4</sub> (25 and 50  $\mu$ M) with two OSR hybrids (WR1 and WR2) in four replicates per treatment. WR1 was also compared for ZnSD including a fungicide treatment Thiram-TMTD + Dimethomorph-DMM (meanwhile banned) with ZnSP. Recordings of seedling emergence and scoring of plant performance were conducted twice before winter and final yield determination in 2015. Sampling times are summarized in Table 2.3.

Series	Sowing System	Sowing	Emergence 1	Emergence 2	Autumn development
NSTP1	Standard	24.9.	01.10	21.1	21.1
NSTP2	Striptill	24.9.	01.10	21.1	21.1

Table 2.3:	Samplings for	comparative	field testing	of ZnSP	and ZnSD	treatments
------------	---------------	-------------	---------------	---------	----------	------------

# 2.3.5. Plant Analysis

Shoot and root dry biomass was determined gravimetrically after oven-drying at 60°C at final harvest. Total root length was determined for all experiments. Washed root samples were preserved in 30% (v/v) ethanol solution. After separating root samples in a water film on transparent perspex trays, scanning of the root systems was performed with a flatbed scanner (Epson Expression 1000XL, Epson, Tokyo, Japan) at a resolution of 400 dpi. Scanned images were analyzed, and total root length was

measured using a root analysis software WinRhizo (WinRHIZO, Pro V. 2009, Regent Instruments, Quebec, Canada). Root development along the root observation windows was recorded by digital photographs with subsequent analysis using the WinRhizo System (Neumann et al. 2014).

Dried shoot material (500 mg) was ashed in a muffle furnace at 500 °C for 5 hrs. Samples were then cooled and extracted twice with 2.5 mL of 3.4 M HNO<sub>3</sub>. To precipitate SiO<sub>2</sub> samples are evaporated until drying. After dissolving ash in 2.5 mL of 4 M HCl, the solution was diluted ten times with deionized water and boiled for two minutes. Fe, Mn and zinc were measured using atomic absorption spectrometry (UNICAM 939, Offenbach/Main Germany) after adding 0.1 mL Cs/La buffer to 4.9 mL ash solution while phosphorous was measured spectrophotometrically according to the method of Gericke and Kurmis (1952).

## 2.3.6. Statistical analysis

Experiments were conducted using a completely randomized design. Data are presented as means and standard errors (SE). Significant differences were evaluated by one-way analysis of variance (p < 0.05) using Sigma Plot Version 11.0. Software (SYSSTAT Software Inc., Erkrath, Germany).

# 2.4. Results

# 2.4.1 Selection of the most efficient micronutrients for OSR seed treatments

For the selection of efficient micronutrients for OSR seed priming, seeds were germinated in petri dishes at low temperature (8°C) selected as a stress factor to promote the expression of protective micronutrient effects. Zinc (Zn), manganese (Mn), iron (Fe), copper (Cu) and boron (B) were used as primed nutrients to select the most efficient micronutrient for OSR. A first priming experiment was conducted with



Fig. 2.3: Seedling biomass at 8°C with micronutrient Zn. Mn. Fe and Cu seed priming. High concentration treatments. Data represent the mean and SE of 4 replicates.

concentrations of Zn, Mn and Fe reported to be effective in maize (Imran et al., 2013). However, compared with the untreated control (UT) no or even negative effect of the applied nutrients on seedling biomass were recorded (Fig. 2.3), suggesting unsuitable priming concentrations.



Fig. 2.4: Seedling biomass at 8°C with micronutrient Zn. Mn. Fe and Cu seed priming. Low concentration treatments. Sign (\*) indicates a statistical difference at P<0.05.



Fig. 2.5: Germination percentage (left) and germination rate (normal seedling development) at 8°C. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between the treatments.

Therefore, further optimization with lower nutrient concentrations was performed (Fig. 2.4). At lower concentrations, zinc appeared to be the most impactful nutrient at the concentration 0.01mM ( $10\mu$ M) with respect to biomass production (Fig. 2.4).

Normal seedling development under low-temperature stress was also improved already at 0.01mM or (10 $\mu$ M) Zn concentration (Fig. 2.5). The aforementioned results suggest zinc as the most effective micronutrient for OSR under the given conditions, which was later tested in further experiments.

# 2.4.2 Comparison of Zn seed priming and Zn seed dressing effects on seedling development of OSR

Nutrients may be supplemented to the seed either through seed priming or seed dressing, which is technically more feasible and simpler to perform. Therefore, a set of model experiments was conducted in co-operation with NPZ (Holtsee, Germany) to compare the effects of Zn seed priming (ZnSP) with Zn seed dressing (ZnSD) on early seedling growth in OSR under optimal growth conditions.

Zinc reserves appeared to be highly variable in different OSR hybrids (Table 2.3) due to the genotypic variability or to seed lot effects. Seeds with lower zinc reserves may be supplemented through ZnSP or ZnSD.

	SR1	SR2	SR3	SR4	SR5	SR6
Zinc seed reserves (µg seed <sup>-1</sup> )	50.5+1.0 a	39.1+1.0 b	26.2+0.4 d	51.8+2.0 a	37.9+1.7 b	33.5+1.1 c

Table 2.3: Zinc seed reserves of different spring rape hybrids. Data represent the mean and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences.

# 2.4.2.1 ZnSP effect on OSR seedling development

In a selected OSR hybrid with low Zn seed reserves (0.19 µg seed<sup>-1</sup>) seed Zn contents and concentrations were significantly increased by Zn priming treatments. Zn.25, Zn.50, and Zn.75 enhanced the seed zinc concentrations by 57, 221 and 277%, respectively as compared with an unprimed control (UT) (Table 2.4).

Zn priming significantly accelerated and increased particularly root biomass and root length development even under optimal temperature conditions (23°C) by up to 30% compared with the untreated control at Zn concentrations of 75  $\mu$ M (Table 2.5, Fig. 2.6) particularly during the first 10 d of seedling development.

Table 2.4: Seed zinc concentrations and contents of winter oilseed rape (WR1) after zinc seed priming. Data represent means and SE of 3 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

Treatments	Concentration [µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	Contents [µg seed⁻1]
UT	35.26 <u>+</u> 0.6 d	0.19 <u>+</u> 0.00 d
WP	38.14 <u>+</u> 0.4 d	0.21 <u>+</u> 0.01 d
Zn.25	55.26 <u>+</u> 0.5 c	0.30 <u>+</u> 0.01 c
Zn.50	113.17 <u>+</u> 0.5 b	0.62 <u>+</u> 0.01 b
Zn.75	133.11 <u>+</u> 2.7 a	0.73 <u>+</u> 0.01 a

Shoot nutrient analysis revealed a particularly high micronutrient (Zn/Mn) demand particularly in the seedling stage with seed reserves lasting for less than 5 DAS until additional root-mediated Zn acquisition was detectable by analysis of Zn and Mn shoot contents, which exceeded the seed reserves already at 5 DAS. By contrast the reserves of P as macronutrient lasted longer, and a significant contribution of root uptake was detectable at 10 DAS. Better root growth induced by Zn priming obviously translated into improved P acquisition detectable at 15 DAS (Table 2.6).

Table 2.5: Shoot and root biomass production of oilseed rape plants grown at 23 <u>+</u> 2°C for 5, 10 & 15 days after sowing (DAS). Data represent means and SE of six independent replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.



**Priming Treatments** 

Fig. 2.6: Root length development of oilseed rape plants grown at 23 ± 2°C for 5, 10 and 15 days after sowing (DAS) on a sandy loam pH 5.6. Data represent means and SE of five independent replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

	Concentrations					Contents			
	Zn [μgg <sup>-1</sup> ]				Zn [µgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]				
	0 Day (Seed)	5 DAS	10 DAS	15 DAS	0 Day (Seed)	5 DAS	10 DAS	15 DAS	
UT	35.26±0.61 e	67.64±0.54 d	62.34±1.11 a	49.62±1.20 a	0.19±0.00 e	0.35±0.00 d	0.90±0.02 b	2.06±0.05 a	
WP	38.13±0.39 d	61.23±0.52 e	57.36±0.69 b	46.53±0.24 a	0.21±0.00 d	0.32±0.00 e	0.83±0.01 c	1.97±0.01 b	
Zn.25	55.26±0.49 c	71.09±1.11 c	60.62±0.88ab	41.10±0.23 b	0.30±0.00 c	0.37±0.01 c	0.90±0.01 b	1.80±0.01 c	
Zn.50	113.17± 0.45 b	76.17±0.56 b	61.29±0.58 ab	39.29±1.16 b	0.62±0.00 b	0.40±0.00 b	0.93±0.01 b	1.77±0.05 c	
Zn.75	133.11±2.70 a	82.65±0.67 a	63.99±0.89 a	40.10±0.63 b	0.73±0.01 a	0.44±0.00 a	1.00±0.01 a	1.91±0.03 b	
	 Μn [μgg <sup>-1</sup> ]					Mn [µ	igplant <sup>-1</sup> ]		
	0 Day (Seed)	5 DAS	10 DAS	15 DAS	0 Day (Seed)	5 DAS	10 DAS	15 DAS	
UT	22.96±0.26 a	52.16±0.59 a	42.22±0.33 a	36.21±0.21 a	0.13±0.00 a	0.27±0.00 a	0.61±0.00 bc	1.50±0.01 bc	
WP	23.77±0.26 a	52.04±0.47 a	42.53±0.15 a	35.00±0.27 a	0.13±0.00 a	0.27±0.00 a	0.61±0.00 bc	1.48±0.01 c	
Zn.25	23.79±0.32 a	52.20±0.41 a	43.82±0.58 a	35.84±0.54 a	0.13±0.00 a	0.28±0.00 a	0.65±0.01 ab	1.56±0.02 b	
Zn.50	24.30±0.04 a	51.18±1.10 a	42.50±0.29 a	34.73±0.05 a	0.13±0.00 a	0.27±0.01 a	0.65±0.00 ab	1.57±0.00 b	
Zn.75	23.54±0.05 a	53.06±0.99 a	42.74±0.13 a	35.62±0.51 a	0.13±0.00 a	0.28±0.01 a	0.67±0.00 a	1.70±0.02 a	
		P [m	ngg⁻¹]			P [mg	gplant <sup>-1</sup> ]		
	0 Day (Seed)	5 DAS	10 DAS	15 DAS	0 Day (Seed)	5 DAS	10 DAS	15 DAS	
UT	7.5±0.02 a	8.64±0.12 a	8.17±0.04 a	6.68±0.02 b	41.21±0.10 a	44.39±0.63 a	117.19±0.19 a	277.49±0.54 e	
WP	7.56±0.10 a	8.71±0.20 a	8.01±0.03 a	6.76±0.03 ab	41.58±0.55 a	45.27±1.06 a	11 <u>5.22±0.0</u> 7 a	285.82±0.38 d	
Zn.25	7.23±0.09 a	8.39±0.21 a	8.10±0.03 a	6.69±0.02 b	39.77±0.48 a	44.12±1.08 a	120.48±0.09 a	292.30±0.41 c	
Zn.50	7.46±0.03 a	8.38±0.13 a	7.95±0.023 a	6.66±0.03 b	41.03±0.18 a	44.48±0.71 a	121.08±0.06 a	300.22±0.35 b	
Zn.75	7.47±0.02 a	8.68±0.09 a	8.08±0.017 a	6.82±0.02 a	41.10±0.13 a	46.45±0.45 a	126.26±0.05 a	324.77±0.28 a	

Table 2.6: Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape seedlings grown in a sandy loam soil (pH 5.6) at 23 ± 2°C for 5, 10 and 15 days after sowing (DAS). Data represent means and SE of 3 replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

## 2.4.2.1.2. ZnSD effect on OSR seedling development

Due to the limitations of seed priming treatments for practical applications (e.g. technical requirements for re-drying, difficult to combine with standard seed dressing treatments) also perspectives for Zn seed dressing were investigated.

Similar to seed priming, also seed dressing significantly increased particularly root development at 23°C by 47% (biomass) and 20% (length) with the most effective treatment of 1.2 ml of 50  $\mu$ M ZnSO<sub>4</sub> Kg<sup>-1</sup> of seeds (Table 2.7).

Zn seed dressing not only increased Zn shoot contents during early seedling growth but also Mn and P accumulation, while Fe, which was present in high concentrations close to the toxicity threshold (approx. 500  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> shoot DM) was decreased by the Zn dressing treatments (Table 2.8).

Table 2.7: Germination, shoot and root biomass production, and root length of OSR plant grown at 23  $\pm$  2°C for 10 DAS after zinc seed dressing on a sandy loam soil pH 5.6. Data represent means and SE of 10 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

Zn dressing Treatments	Germination [%]	Shoot dry biomass [mg plant <sup>1</sup> ]	Root dry biomass [mg plant <sup>1</sup> ]	Root Length [cm plant <sup>1</sup> ]
UT	81 a	21.01 <u>+</u> 0.61 a	1.03 <u>+</u> 0.09 b	111.17 <u>+</u> 5.29 b
25µM.(1.2ml)	88 a	22.73 <u>+</u> 0.61 a	1.30 <u>+</u> 0.09 ab	125.79 <u>+</u> 3.03 ab
25µM.(4ml)	86 a	22.02 <u>+</u> 0.80 a	1.23 <u>+</u> 0.10 ab	123.44 <u>+</u> 3.04 ab
25µM.(8ml)	82 a	22.85 <u>+</u> 0.56 a	1.08 <u>+</u> 0.04 b	123.22 <u>+</u> 3.58 ab
50µM.(1.2ml)	85 a	24.22 <u>+</u> 0.91 a	1.52 <u>+</u> 0.09 a	133.90 <u>+</u> 4.66 a
50µM.(4ml)	80 a	23.56 <u>+</u> 0.71 a	1.32 <u>+</u> 0.06 ab	119.12 <u>+</u> 4.08 ab

Table 2.8: Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape plant grown in a sandy loam soil (pH 5.6) at  $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 10 days after sowing (DAS). Data represent means and SE of 3 replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

	Concentration [µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]					Contents [µg plant-1]			
Zn dressing Treatments	Zn	Fe	Mn	P [mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	Zn	Fe	Mn	P [mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	
UT	44.56 <u>+</u> 0.54 a	437.11 <u>+</u> 5.42 a	96.53 <u>+</u> 1.05 b	8.03 <u>+</u> 0.08 cd	0.94 <u>+</u> 0.01 b	9.18 <u>+</u> 0.11 b	2.02 <u>+</u> 0.02 bc	0.17 <u>+</u> 0.0 c	
25µM.(1.2ml)	47.09 <u>+</u> 1.03 a	433.66 <u>+</u> 1.55 ab	97.79 <u>+</u> 0.71 b	8.56 <u>+</u> 0.13 bc	1.07 <u>+</u> 0.02 ab	9.85 <u>+</u> 0.04 a	2.22 <u>+</u> 0.02 b	0.20 <u>+</u> 0.0 b	
25µM.(4ml)	48.12 <u>+</u> 1.43 a	418.44 <u>+</u> 3.79 b	104.17 <u>+</u> 0.60 a	8.87 <u>+</u> 0.05 b	1.06 <u>+</u> 0.03 ab	9.21 <u>+</u> 0.08 b	2.29 <u>+</u> 0.01 a	0.20 <u>+</u> 0.0 b	
25µM.(8ml)	46.57+0.88 a	367.70+5.77 c	103.29+0.79 a	9.41+0.03 a	1.06+0.02 ab	8.40+0.13 c	2.36+0.02 a	0.22+0.0 a	
50µM.(1.2ml)	46.66+1.37 a		97.81+1.20 b	8.66+0.02 bc	 1.13+0.03 a	8.35+0.13 c	2.37+0.03 ab	0.21+0.0 a	
 50µM.(4ml)	48.01 <u>+</u> 4.44 a	309.60 <u>+</u> 4.44 e	96.73 <u>+</u> 0.89 b	9.15 <u>+</u> 0.05 ab	1.13 <u>+</u> 1.61 a	7.30 <u>+</u> 0.11 d	2.28 <u>+</u> 0.02 ab	0.22 <u>+</u> 0.0 a	

## 2.4.2.2. Comparison of ZnSP and ZnSD under field conditions

Since benefits of the nutrient treatments on seedling establishment of winter OSR were also observed under field conditions (Fig. 2.7). A comparative study on Zn seed priming and seed dressing approaches under field conditions was conducted by the industrial partner NPZ Innovation GmBH in Hohenlieth.



Fig. 2.7: Seedling establishment of the winter OSR hybrid Atora at 53 DAS under field conditions with (right) and without (left) nutrient seed treatment, (source: Rapool DE/CZ/HU).

The experiments were based on the outcome of the model experiments in greenhouse culture and included two sowing techniques (standard vs Striptill with the placement of DAP starter fertilizer) and two OSR hybrids (WR1 and WR2).



Fig. 2.8: Seedling emergence in standard and striptill sowing at the experimental station Hohenlieth.

The comparison between ZnSP with ZnSD in WR2 revealed comparable emergence scorings before winter but in both sowing systems higher relative yields with a ZnSO<sub>4</sub> priming dosage of 25  $\mu$ M compared with 50  $\mu$ M with a trend for better performance of ZnSD (Table 2.9).

Standard Sowing							
Cultivar	Trea	atments	Yields	Emergence 1	Emergence 2	Autumn development	
	ZnSP	ZnSD	Rel.	Number of plants in 2m <sup>2</sup>	Number of plants in 2m <sup>2</sup>	Notation 1-9	
WR1	25µM		91	25	23	6.5	
WR1		50µM. (2ml)	94	24	22	6.6	
WR2	25µM		101	26	22	7.3	
WR2		25µM. (4ml)	104	29	26	7.8	
WR2		50µM. (4ml)	99	25	23	6.8	
		Grand Mean	49.1	25.7	23	7.1	
		CV	5.4	18.5	16.6	9	
		LSD	3.9	7	5.6	0.9	
		Total Reps	4	4	4	4	

Striptill Sowing								
Cultivar	Trea	atments	Yields	Emergence 1	Emergence 2	Autumn development		
	ZnSP (uM)	ZnSD (uM)	Rel.	Number of plants in 2m <sup>2</sup>	Number of plants in 2m <sup>2</sup>	Notation 1-9		
WR1	25µM		94	23	19	6.5		
WR1		50µM. (2ml)	96	24	20	6.6		
WR2	25µM		102	24	20	7.4		
WR2		25µM. (4ml)	105	26	20	7.3		
WR2		50µM. (4ml)	97	28	22	7.6		
		Grand Mean	54.8	24.7	20.3	7.2		
		CV	3.3	16.8	14.8	7.5		
		LSD	2.7	6.1	4.4	0.8		
		Total Reps	4	4	4	4		

Table 2.9: Effects of ZnSO<sub>4</sub> seed priming and seed dressing treatments on field establishment and yield of winter OSR hybrids (WR2, WR1) with striptill versus conventional sowing (Source: S. Goertz, NPZ Innovation GmbH, Hohenlieth, Germany).

For WR1 no differences between ZnSD and ZnSP treatments were recorded with a generally lower relative yield as compared with WR2. In both sowing systems the yield

level ranged above the average of 3.3 t ha<sup>-1</sup> recorded in Germany between 1995-2019 (Ahrens, 2020) with 11.6% higher yields in the striptill system as compared with conventional sowing (Table 2.9). This aspect is discussed more in detail in Chapter 3, addressing options for Zn seed treatments in fertilizer placement strategies.

# 2.4.3. ZnSP effects under stress conditions – Example cold stress

# 2.4.3.1 Importance of cold-stress protection in OSR

Although winter OSR in Central Europe is usually sown already in late summer by mid of September, appropriate root establishment during autumn is essential for winter survival. This aspect was investigated in a field experiment using the installation of root windows (Neumann et al. 2009) for non-destructive monitoring of root growth under field conditions (Fig 2.9A).

Even on a clay loam soil, winter OSR exhibited intense fine root development along the root observation window in early autumn was detectable at 7 weeks after sowing in a soil depth > 50 cm (Fig. 2.9B).

Fine root length declined by 30%, without additional stress factors during winter until February but was rapidly regenerated until March (Table 2.10). However additional stress factors such as waterlogging after heavy rainfall events or shoot feeding damage by snail attack reduced the fine root development by 70% and more already before winter (Fig. 2.9) and no further evaluation of plant growth was possible in this case, highlighting the importance of a well-developed root system for winter hardness

Table 2.10: Time course of root length development along with root observation windows between October and March. Data represent Means and SD of 3 replicates.

Month	Root length along root window (cm)
October	166 ± 31
November	243 ± 48
December	228 ± 39
January	202 ± 40
February	171 ± 42
Marz	302 ± 47



Fig. 2.9: A field view of installed root windows (A) Fine root development along with root observation windows of field-grown Winter OSR 7 weeks after sowing (Both); Lower row: root development along with observation windows with (right) and without (left) exposure to waterlogging (Experimental Station Heidfeldhof – Uni Hohenheim).

## 2.4.3.2 ZnSP effect on seed zinc status, germination & seedling growth at low RZT

Apart from winter hardening of Winter OSR, cold stress resistance may also play a role in spring OSR, although germination at soil temperatures as low as 5°C is possible (Luo et al., 2018). However, the adaptation to low temperatures does not exclude additional beneficial effects of Zn seed priming under cold stress conditions. Accordingly, the response of the spring OSR hybrid "SR1" was investigated under conditions of moderate cold stress with a controlled root zone temperature of 12°C.





Zn priming at concentrations between 25 and 50 mM tended to increase the germination rate (normal developed seedlings) from 20 to 40% in Spring OSR exposed to reduced soil temperature (12°C) (Fig 2.10). This was associated with a more homogenous seedling development at 5 weeks after sowing (Fig. 2.11)

The improved seedling development after Zn seed priming was reflected in significant increases in shoot biomass (up to 91%), root biomass (up to 125%) and root length (up to 106 %) (Table 2.11). A closer look on root morphology revealed beneficial effects of Zn seed priming particularly on fine root development (Fig. 2.11)



Fig 2.11: Plant development of Spring OSR grown at low RZT (12 <u>+</u> 2<sup>o</sup>C) for 5 WAS on a clay loam soil pH 6.6. UT (Untreated), WP (Water primed), Zn.10, Zn.25, Zn.50, Zn.75µM (Zn primed)



Fig 2.12: Fine root development in Spring OSR grown at low RZT (12 <u>+</u> 2<sup>o</sup>C) for 5 WAS on a clay loam soil pH 6.6. UT (Untreated), WP (Water primed), Zn.10, Zn.25, Zn.50, Zn.75µM (Zn primed).

Table 2.11: Shoot and root biomass production, and root length of Spring OSR grown under low RZT  $(12 + 2^{\circ}C)$  for 5 Weeks after nutrient seed priming on a clay loam soil pH 6.6. Data represent means and SE of 4 independent replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between the treatments.

	Shoot dry biomass [g plant <sup>1</sup> ]	Root dry biomass [g plant <sup>1</sup> ]	Root length [cm plant <sup>1</sup> ]		
UT	0.12 <u>+</u> 0.02 c	0.04 <u>+</u> 0.1 cd	430.42 <u>+</u> 19.70 cd		
WP	0.17 <u>+</u> 0.01b	0.06 <u>+</u> 0.00 c	634.67 <u>+</u> 32.45 bc		
Zn.10	0.18 <u>+</u> 0.00 b	0.06 <u>+</u> 0.00 bc	679.44 <u>+</u> 17.00 b		
Zn.25	0.20 <u>+</u> 0.01 ab	0.07 <u>+</u> 0.00 b	779.57 <u>+</u> 46.33 ab		
Zn.50	0.23 <u>+</u> 0.01a	0.07 <u>+</u> 0.01 b	790.09 <u>+</u> 21.59 ab		
Zn.75	0.22 <u>+</u> 0.01 a	0.09 <u>+</u> 0.00 a	890.80 <u>+</u> 34.88 a		

Higher root length and fine root production induced by Zn priming translated into a generally higher shoot accumulation of sparingly soluble nutrients such as P, Fe, Zn and Mn (Table 2.12).

Table 2.12: Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape plant grown in a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at the low RZT ( $12 \pm 2^{\circ}C$ ) for 5 Weeks. Data represent means and SE of 4 independent replicates of each treatment. Different characters indicate significant differences between the treatments.

	Concentrations [µgg- <sup>1</sup> ]				Contents [µgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]			
Priming Treatments	Zn	Fe	Mn	P [mgg⁻¹]	Zn	Fe	Mn	P [mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]
UT	22.64±1.08 a	85.9±7.78 a	29.2±0.77 a	3.86±0.29 a	2.62±0.28 bc	9.92±1.31 b	3.41±0.41 bc	0.44±0.03 c
WP	17.09±0.74 bc	79.8±5.95 a	25.4±0.28 b	3.28±0.09 a	2.79±0.20 bc	13.07±1.41 ab	4.14±0.17 bc	0.53±0.01 c
Zn.10	16.47±0.43 bc	79.2±3.55 a	24.9±0.40 b	3.26±0.14 a	2.93±0.04 bc	14.16±0.91 ab	4.45±0.12 b	0.58±0.01 bc
Zn.25	17.16±0.38 bc	77.9±3.86 a	24.5±0.23 b	3.25±0.04 a	3.36±0.13 b	15.40±1.46 ab	4.82±0.29 ab	0.63±0.04 b
Zn.50	17.72±0.35 b	79.9±3.61 a	25.2±0.38 b	3.37±0.03 a	4.13±0.22 ab	18.8±1.87 a	5.89±0.38 a	0.78±0.04 ab
Zn.75	20.49±0.61 ab	71.5±1.49 a	24.9±0.37 b	3.77±0.17 a	4.51±0.19 a	15.82±1.04 ab	5.50±0.26 ab	0.83±0.06 a

#### 2.5. Discussion

#### 2.5.1. Selection of most effective micronutrients for seed priming

Oilseed rape was treated with five stress-protective micronutrients including zinc, manganese, iron, copper and boron at various concentrations (Table 2.1). The dosage range of micronutrients, which was effective in maize (Imran et al., 2013) limited OSR seedling growth and germination (Fig. 2.3), indicating the applied dose not only ineffective but even toxic resulting in negative effects on seedling growth. Excessive salts concentration in the primed media could negatively affect the seed by creating a toxicity situation for the respective micronutrient. However, in face of the applied salt concentrations in the lower mM range, direct salinity stress effects by excess osmotic potentials, water limitation etc., are unlikely in this case. However competitive effects between cationic micronutrients induced by the priming treatments as similarly reported by Imran (2015) cannot be excluded. Overproduction of ROS and lipid peroxidation are the indicators of cellular damage (Lanza Castelli et al., 2010) and may be one of the reasons which lead to poor germination and limited seedling growth. Finally, at lower application levels, out of all tested priming treatments, zinc was the only micronutrient with potential to improve seedling biomass and germination rate at 8°C already at the lowest dose rate of 0.01 mM (Fig. 2.4, 2.5) underlining its protective functions under abiotic stress conditions (Hassan et al., 2020; Ahmed et al., 2017; Cakmak, 2000). Zinc was therefore, selected for the further model experiments in this study.

# 2.5.2. Utilization and nutrient demand for zinc during early plant growth

Zinc (Zn) is a vital mineral nutrient required to regulate the normal functioning of the plant physiological processes because of its role in enzymatic activity. The current study revealed a high dependency on soil zinc supply just after the seed germination. Increasing zinc contents in above-ground parts of OSR seedlings, exceeding the Zn seed reserves by 84% just 5 DAS and by approx. 375 % at 10 DAS demonstrated a high zinc demand largely dependent on root uptake already during the early stages of seedling development (Table 2.6). The effect is even larger since zinc determination in below-ground plant parts was not included in this study. During further plant development, the Zn demand of OSR seedlings is efficiently covered by root uptake

as indicated by Zn shoot concentrations in the sufficiency range (Campbell et al., 2013) also in unprimed controls (Table 2.6). However, any stress factor limiting root growth and root activity during this phase, such as temperature extremes, drought, soil compaction, waterlogging can severely affect seedling establishment with mitigation potential by Zn seed treatments (Figs.2.9; 2.11 Table 2.1).

Therefore, seed zinc enrichment through seed priming could give the plant a starter push and thus can contribute to early seedling health and a better plant stand establishment as similarly reported in many other crops, i.e., wheat, barley, chickpea (Rehman et al., 2015; Arif et al., 2007; Ajouri et al., 2004), although OSR is considered as a comparatively Zn-efficient crop. Also for Mn, which has not been introduced in this experiment, the mineral nutrient analysis similarly revealed its higher demand exceeding the seed reserves already during the first 5 DAS (Table 2.6), suggesting potentially an even stronger growth effect to the seedling by combined Zn and Mn application.

#### 2.5.3. Seed nutrients

Different OSR hybrids showed a high variation in seed Zn reserves (Table 2.3). The varying Zn seed reserves may be the result of genetic variability of different OSR hybrids or a consequence of seed lot effects resulting from zinc-deficient growth conditions, i.e. Zn deficient soil or interrupted Zn supply due to environmental stress factors (Cakmak, 2010). In this context, Zn seed treatments may offer a perspective for supplementation of seed lots with low Zn seed reserves (Table 2.3).

Priming doses Zn.25, Zn.50, & Zn.75µM, improved the seed Zn reserves up to +17.9, +37.2 and +60.3 µg, respectively (Table 2.4). Although no reports on OSR zinc seed priming are currently available in the literature, similar improvements in zinc seed reserves in barley (Ajouri et al., 2004) and in maize (Imran et al., 2013 & 2015) have been previously discussed. The tissue-specific and intracellular localization of the primed zinc within OSR seeds is still an open question. In maize (monocots) it is now evident through DTZ (1,5-diphenylthiocarbazone) staining method that primed Zn but also natural Zn seed reserves seed are localized mainly in the aleurone layer and partially in the embryo (Imran et al., 2018) and may, therefore, available to the plants right from the beginning of germination. In cereals, the P storage metabolite"phytate"

is mainly localized in the aleurone layer and the embryo (Lin, Ockenden, & Lott, 2005; Raboy, 2000) and is also acting as an effective chelator for metal cations, such as Zn<sup>2+</sup> due to six phosphate residues bound in the molecule (Raboy, 2000). This may explain also the compartmentation of primed zinc in the aleurone and embryo in cereals. Although the primed Zn distribution in OSR seeds is still unknown, the presence of phytate inside the globoids in the protein bodies of the radicle and cotyledons (Yiu et al. 1983) may indicate Zn<sup>2+</sup> compartmentation. However, the majority of Zn (63%) in primed maize seeds remained on the seed coat and the plant availability of this Zn fraction during further seedling development under soil conditions still remains an open question. In contrast to seed priming (SP), in seed dressing (SD), the treated nutrients are exclusively supplied to the seed coat and are expected to become available as soon the seed starts absorbing water from the soil for germination. In this context, water diffusion kinetics could be very crucial, since the speed of water movement from the soil into the seed may also affect the amount of applied nutrients entering the seed. However, similar effects on root growth promotion (Tables 2.5; 2.7) and Zn shoot contents (Tables 2.6; 2.8) in seeds treated with SP and SD, respectively, suggest that both application strategies are largely equivalent. This has been similarly demonstrated under field conditions (Table 2.9) and also in earlier studies with maize exposed to low root zone temperatures (Imran et al., 2013; Bradacova, 2015; Bradacova et al. 2016), provided that Zn uptake into the plant or seeds can take place before the onset of the stress period. By contrast, even continuous supply of all essential nutrients, freely available in unlimited amounts in a nutrient solution experiment during the cold-stress period directly to the roots of the maize seedlings, had no protective effect, demonstrating the limitations in root uptake of protective nutrients during the stress period (Bradacova et al., 2016).

#### 2.5.4. Germination rate

Zinc seed priming (ZnSP) improved germination rate in petri dish germination tests at low temperature (8°C), indicating a protective effect of primed Zn (Fig 2.5). Additionally, in soil culture, the same concentrations tended to improve germination rate (normal seedling development) by 20-40% in spring OSR at low RZT (12°C), associated with a more homogenous seedling development as compared with untreated controls (Fig 2.10). Furthermore, seed priming (SP) has been reported to speed up germination time up to 50% in barley (Ajouri et al., 2004). Germination improvements associated with micronutrient seed priming have been documented in several crops under growth-limiting conditions, i.e., salinity stress in mustard (Begum et al., 2014), late sowing of maize (Mahboob et al., 2015) and Stevia under drought conditions (Gorzi et al., 2018). However, appropriate nutrient composition and concentration of priming media, as well as a suitable timing of priming treatments needs to be evaluated individually under controlled conditions to attain positive seed germination and plant establishment effects prior to the field application.

## 2.5.5. Effect of seed zinc application on seedling growth

A continuous decline in the winter OSR root length during winter months indicated a massive die-back particularly of fine roots, further accelerated by additional stress factors, as recorded in the root window experiment under field conditions (Table 2.10) This underlines the significance of proper root establishment in winter OSR before winter with particular importance in late sowing (Table 2.9). Therefore, ZnSP and SD treatments improving root growth in all model experiments conducted in this study, suggest a promising perspective for winter OSR in this context. At optimal plant growth temperature (23°C) both ZnSP and ZnSD improved seedling growth particularly root growth; biomass & length during seedling establishment (Table 2.5, 2.7). Since Zn is required for the biosynthesis of tryptophan, a precursor of Indole acetic acid (IAA) as a major hormonal regulator for lateral root development, an active role of Zn in the production of IAA may be assumed (Alloway, 2004 & Brennan, 2005). Due to the very limited Zn seed reserves in OSR (Table 2.8) seed zinc supplementation via SP or SD may therefore have enhance the auxin levels during OSR seedling establishment, particularly under conditions when root-mediated Zn acquisition is not fully active during early stages of root development or under the influence of stress factors counteracting root growth and activity.

As an example, for the latter scenario, plants subjected to low RZT are affected by limited root and shoot growth caused by sub-optimal plant growth conditions. However, the detrimental low root zone temperature (RZT) effect was mitigated with ZnSP treatment and increased shoot and root biomass and root length up to 91, 125 and 106 %, respectively (Table 2.10). One of the first response to almost all plant

stresses including low temperature is the oxidative stress (Blokhina et al., 2003) which is attributed to the overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS), i.e., superoxide, hydrogen peroxide and the hydroxyl radical, causing membrane damage, enzyme inactivation, DNA damage and also oxidative degradation of IAA (Cakmak 2000; Allen and Ort, 2001). Zinc, being the co-factor of various enzymes involved in ROS detoxification, such as superoxide dismutases (SOD) is therefore essential for enzymatic ROS detoxification, and particularly impaired in Zn deficient plants (Cakmak & Marschner 1988; Cakmak, 2000). External Zn application through SP or SD may play a crucial role in this context by mediating an improved enzymatic ROS detoxification under abiotic stress conditions. The protective effect on oxidative auxin degradation can maintain a higher auxin level improving shoot and root elongation at low RZT (Table 2.11. Fig. 2.12) as similarly described for ZnSD treatments in maize exposed to low RZT (Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al., 2018) and also in drought stress experiments reported in chapter 4 of this thesis.

In response to stimulated root production induced by the SP/SD treatments, the plant could improve spatial nutrient acquisition, resulting in a better shoot nutrient status, particularly for sparingly soluble available nutrients like Zn, Mn, Fe and P (Table 2.12), as similarly reported by Imran et al. (2013) and Bradacova et al. (2016) in maize. An improved nutritional status with stress-protective micronutrients may increase plant resistance to better cope with stress, as a secondary effect of Zn seed treatment. Improvement of shoot P status suggests an improved spatial acquisition of available P in the rhizosphere through enhanced root length and fine root production (Table 2.12). Since Mn is the co-factor of various enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of phenolic compounds with anti-oxidative properties, an increased shoot Mn status could additionally contribute to ROS protection under low RZT and other stress factors requiring ROS detoxification. Furthermore, Koscienly & Gulden, 2012 have correlated higher root length at 3-4 leaf stage of OSR seedling with higher economic yields.

Generally, Zn seed treatments obviously can promote seedling health and performance in different ways. Beneficial effect of micronutrient, particularly, zinc seed priming (ZnSP) is already well documented in several field crops i.e., enhanced root dry weight in rice (Prom-u-thai et al., 2012) and improved maize root and shoot growth at suboptimal root zone temperature 12 <sup>o</sup>C (Imran et al., 2013). On the other hand, Zinc seed coating improved yields in chickpea and had growth-promoting and yield

improving effects on maize, wheat and sunflower (Masuthi et al., 2009; Singh, 2007; Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al., 2018).

In the current study, zinc application has positively contributed to the plant growth, particularly root growth, in all three experiments, regardless of the method of application and varying plant growing conditions. Furthermore, the results suggest that a very pronounced effect of zinc application can be observed under sub-optimal plant growth conditions especially, at low RZT. Out of the tested dose rates for ZnSP and ZnSD, 50 µM ZnSO<sub>4</sub> treatment concentrations appeared to be highly responsive under the given conditions. The suggested dose rates should be further tested in various plant growing conditions to evaluate their spectrum of applicability. The prospect of Mn SP or SD in combination with Zn could be tested and may further improve the beneficial effects as reported by Imran et al. (2014) and Bradacova et al. (2016) in maize.

#### 2.5.6. Conclusion

This is the first report highlighting the high zinc demand of OSR at the initial phase of seedling development and optimizing its application dose to explore the highest possible outcome in two different plant growth scenarios for oilseed rape. Priming and dressing techniques for seed zinc enrichment offer a great diversity of application fields from on-farm use to the commercial seed industry. The physiological background of the effects at a molecular level still needs to be further elucidated. The inexpensiveness of the offered approaches suggests the possibility for the development of economically practical and viable application methods without much increasing the input costs.

#### **Chapter 3**

# Zinc seed priming promotes fertilizer depot exploitation and nutrient acquisition in oilseed rape

#### 3.1. Abstract

The present study suggests that the combination of Zn seed priming with the placement of ammonium-phosphate starter fertilizer can support the expression of plant traits beneficial for field establishment of winter rape and spring rape as well.

In a rhizobox experiment on a soil with moderate P availability, it was demonstrated that even in absence of environmental stress factors, such as temperature extremes or drought stress, Zn seed priming could improve early plant development in terms of root elongation and stimulation of seedling growth in winter rape. This improved the exploitation of an underfoot ammonium-phosphate fertilizer depot placed at a depth of 8 cm with root attracting properties. No negative side effects of depot fertilization on simultaneous rooting of deeper soil layers, important for winter hardness in comparison with homogenous application of NPK fertilizers were observed. However, at 5 weeks after sowing, the P status of the plants with homogenous NPK supply was critical, while optimum P shoot concentrations were recorded in the depot fertilizer variants. However, the largely improved P status was not associated with excessive shoot growth, known to be detrimental for winter survival.

In spring rape exposed to reduced root zone temperatures (12°C) to simulate low temperature stress in spring, the combination of Zn seed priming with ammonium-phosphate depot fertilization stimulated shoot biomass production by up to 30%. Plants with homogenous nutrient supply were severely P deficient, while the P status was optimal in the depot variants. Since no root growth effects were detectable in this case, it is concluded that Zn priming promoted root activity and root-induced P acquisition via the well-documented ammonium-induced rhizosphere acidification. The improved nutrient status supported seedling establishment of spring wheat exposed to low root zone temperatures as frequently recorded in spring.

## 3.2. Introduction

Brassica napus L., commonly known as Rape seed is widely cultivated for its oil importance (Melut et al., 2012) and for human as well as animal consumption (Downey et al., 1974). Rape seed is produced in approx. 62.4 million tons (Mt) around the globe, while the total production area is reported to be 33.6 million hectares (FAOSTAT, 2011). Winter rape is a major cultivar in cold areas like central Europe (Lääniste et al. 2007), having long vegetation periods and comparatively gives double yield than spring rape (Butruille et al., 1999). Being a non-mycorrhizal fungal association, the plant is highly dependent on a well-developed fine roots network and root hairs along with the nutrient mobilizing chemical strategies which fulfils the requirement for adequate nutrient supply (Föhse et al., 1991, Hoffland et al., 1989; 1992). The root system of rape seed reaches 1.5- 2.4m down the soil layers and take up water and nutrients (Peltonen et al., 2011).

## 3.2.1. Fertilization Strategies

Nitrogen (N) and phosphate (P) fertilizers are among the most critical inputs in crop production systems, with the potential to increase agricultural productivity by up to twenty folds (Brennan et al., 2014). Adapted nitrogen fertilization represents an important component to control field establishment of rape seed and plays a significant role in determining plant size, shoot branching, inflorescence formation, fruit and seed setting and protein contents (Grant et al., 2011). Insufficient N and P supply during vegetative growth in autumn or spring could severely limit the establishment of rapeseed (Sieling and Kage, 2010; Bauer 2011). Shoot growth regulation is also crucial for winter tolerance and regeneration capacity of rapeseed after winter. In this context, certain fungicides, especially the ones used against Phoma and Sclerotinia disease, inhibit shoot growth by interacting with gibberellic acid (GA) metabolism, are used for the regulation of shoot growth (Graf and Krueger, 2009).

Nitrogen and P fertilization strategies are not only determining shoot development but can be also employed to modulate development and morphology of the root system. The most suitable mineral nutrients to be adopted in this context are ammonium and phosphate, having root attracting properties. Low mobility of these nutrients in the soil allows control of root growth and development by fertilizer placement strategies. (Sommer et al., 1993; Bauer, 2011; Bischoff, 2012). Among the fertilizer placement approaches, underfoot placement (4-6cm deep) of diammonium-phosphate improves rooting and efficient nutrient uptake at the topsoil layer during early plant growth while deep fertilizer placement (14-17cm deep) encourages deep rooting promoting winter hardness and drought resistance (Fig.3.1, Bauer, 2011). Accordingly, proper root development during seedling establishment is predictive for greater seed yields in OSR (Koscielny & Gulden, 2012).



Fig. 3.1: Oilseed rape response to N/P fertilizer depot (adapted from Bauer, 2011)

However, apart from the importance for the acquisition of water and nutrients, root systems also have important functions in the regulation of shoot development. In addition to GA, hormonal control of shoot growth is mediated by cytokinins (CKs), a group of phytohormones preferentially produced in the roots and transported to the shoot, where they stimulate shoot branching, cell division and expansion. In this context, nitrogen (N) is an important factor in regulating the biosynthesis and transport of CKs from the roots to shoot and therefore shoot growth as well (Walch-Liu et al. 2000; Rahaju et al. 2005). Nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) is the most important N-form for cytokinin mediated growth and development of shoots. In contrast to ammonium-N, the presence of nitrate in the growth medium induces the expression of IPT genes in the root tissue encoding isopentenyl transferases as key enzymes for the biosynthesis of

cytokinins. (Miyawaki et al., 2004), Similar shoot growth-promoting effects associated with increased shoot cytokinin supply have been related with phosphate nutrition, and P deficiency (similar to N deficiency) is usually associated with inhibition of shoot growth and a declining cytokinin status of the shoot tissue (Martin et al., 2000). Lateral shoot outgrowth in tomato and tillering in barley was enhanced with an increasing nitrate to ammonium/urea ratio in the growing media (Bauer, 2004; Römheld et al., 2008). In tomato culture, when nitrate was replaced by ammonium, the cytokinin xylem transport to the shoots substantially declined already 2h after ammonium application and reduced the leaf expansion rate to 50% after 6h (Rahayu et al., 2005).

This raises the question whether Ammonium and phosphate applied as a stabilized depot fertilization strategy could be employed to regulate both, shoot growth and root development in a way to optimize field establishment of rapeseed depending on the culture system (e.g. winter rape vs spring rape culture).

#### 3.2.2. Nutrient Seed Priming

Even after advancement in fertilization strategies soil and climate conditions, e.g., temperature extremes and drought stress, are widespread stress factors for early growth and germination of plants like winter and spring rape despite having adaptations for temperate climates (Kremer, 2011; Bollermann, 2011). Many recent studies have reported the potential benefits of Zn availability supplied at the seedling stage through nutrient seed priming and fertigation for alleviating problems like cold stress during early growth and germination of maize (Asim, 2012; Imran et al., 2013; Bradacova et al, 2016; Moradtalab et al., 2018).

In this context, nutrient seed priming is a seed enhancement technique which potentially improves seed nutrient contents. In nutrient seed priming seeds after being soaked in nutrient solutions for a particular time are dried back to their original moisture content. It enhances the speed and uniformity of seed germination as well as seedling growth (Copeland and McDonald, 2002; Butler et al., 2009). Improved seed performance and early seedling growth have been reported in wheat, rice and maize (Tabassum et al., 2017; Hussain et al., 2017; Imran et al., 2013). Basra et al., 2003 and Abdolahi et al., 2012 also reported beneficial effects of different seed priming techniques on oilseed rape. Furthermore, root stimulating properties of Zn priming

reported for different plant species, including rape seed (Neumann et al. 2014; Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al. 2018) make it a suitable tool also for the current study. This study investigated the perspectives of adapting seed enhancement and fertilization strategies, i.e. nutrient seed priming as zinc priming combined with the localized application of stabilized ammonium as N form close to the seeds, to stimulate early root development, to exploit the fertilizer depot, and regulate shoot growth in spring and winter rape plants. For winter rape, improved nutrient acquisition (particularly N and P) by stimulation of root development was expected, also contributing to winter hardness and at the same time avoiding excessive shoot growth induced by ammonium dominance of the N nutrition. Particularly improved P supply as a critical nutrient under low root zone temperatures and stimulatory effects on root growth were expected to stimulate seedling establishment in spring rape, exposed to suboptimal soil temperatures.

#### 3.3 Materials and Methods

#### 3.3.1. Test plants

Two-hybrid lines of oilseed rape (Brassica napus, L), i.e., winter OSR (cv WR1) and spring OSR (cv SR1) provided by Nord Deutsche Pflanzenzucht Hans-Georg Lembke KG, Holtsee, Germany. Seeds were stored at 2<sup>o</sup> C and sorted for homogeneous seed size before use.

#### 3.3.2. Seed Priming

Nutrient seed priming is a technique in which seeds are soaked in a specific nutrient solution for a specific time and dried back to the initial condition. For optimization of zinc priming nutrient concentration, a range of Zinc sulfate (ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O) dose rates 25µM, 50µM and 75µM were primed for a time duration of 24 hours (predetermined in pilot experiments). Forty (40) ml of respective ZnSO<sub>4</sub>.7H<sub>2</sub>O solutions were used to soak one gram of seeds at room temperature for each treatment. Thereafter, seeds were rinsed in distilled water for one minute to clean the seed surface from any adhered priming solution. After air drying, the seeds were stored at 2°C for further use.

#### 3.3.3. Plant Culture

Rhizoboxes with a size of (35 cm×10 cm×2 cm) containing 500 g soil were used for the observation of root growth and development. Rhizoboxes are specialized rectangular or square-shaped PVC boxes equipped with transparent root observation windows, which are customized to measure root development and rhizosphere chemistry non-destructively in soil-grown plants (Neuman *et al.*, 2009). The experiments were conducted under greenhouse conditions at two different temperature regimes. The average green-house temperature was 18°C during the experiments (Fig. 3.2). Additionally, illumination was applied with a light intensity of 250 and 400 mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> PAR for 16/8 hours day/night and relative humidity ranged between 60-80%. Winter and spring OSR were cultivated for 5 and 7 weeks, respectively. A controlled cooling system (Frigmix 1497, Thermomix 1480) was connected with the water bath to keep the temperature constant throughout the growth period (Fig. 3.3).

#### 3.3.4. Soil Preparation and Fertilizer Placement

A sandy loam soil (pH 6.0), with Potassium (K), Magnesium (Mg) and Phosphorus (P) at concentrations of 27, 17 and 2 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> (CAL extractable fraction), was used for the experiments. Nitrogen was added as Ca (NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> for homogeneous application (BC) and (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> in fertilizer depot treatments both at the rate of 100 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> soil. Additionally, fertilizers with the following concentrations were added to the soil; 50 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> soil as Ca(H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub> (in the nitrate variant only) and 80 mg K kg<sup>-1</sup> soil as KCl. Initially, five seeds were sown at a depth of 2 cm and later thinned to two plants for further cultivation. In order to prepare a fertilizer depot, 235 mg of (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> was mixed with 20 g of soil from a depth, 8cm below the seed. 50 µL of 10 times diluted nitrification inhibitor (3,4 dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP, provided by BASF, Ludwigshafen, Germany)) was added to the depot soil mixture at a rate of 10 µL 100 mg<sup>-1</sup> of Nitrogen, according to the recommendations of the manufacturer. The observation window was covered with black plastic foil in order to prevent light exposure. The rhizoboxes were placed in a wooden stand at an angle of 45°, with the observation
plane. A soil moisture content of 18% was adjusted gravimetrically, by watering the plants through back slits of rhizoboxes daily.

	Treatments	Nitrogen Source	Root Zone Temperature	
SR1	Homogeneous N/P (Unprimed)	Ca (No <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	12 <u>+</u> 2ºC	
Localized N/P	Control (Unprimed) (UP)	(NH4)₃PO₄+ DMPP(NI)	12 <u>+</u> 2ºC	
	Water primed (WP)	(NH4) <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> + DMPP(NI)	12 <u>+</u> 2ºC	
	Zn 25 µM primed (25µM)	(NH4)₃PO₄+ DMPP(NI)	12 <u>+</u> 2ºC	
	Zn 50 µM primed (50µM)	(NH4)₃PO₄+ DMPP(NI)	12 <u>+</u> 2ºC	
	Zn 75 µM primed (75µM)	(NH4) <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> + DMPP(NI)	12 <u>+</u> 2ºC	
WR1	Homogeneous N/P (Unprimed)	Ca (No <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	Ambient	
Localized N/P	Control (Unprimed) (UP)	(NH4) <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> + DMPP(NI)	Ambient	
	Water primed (WP)	(NH4)₃PO₄+ DMPP(NI)	Ambient	
	Zn 25 µM primed (25µM)	$(NH4)_3PO_4 + DMPP(NI)$	Ambient	
	Zn 50 µM primed (50µM)	$(NH4)_3PO_4 + DMPP(NI)$	Ambient	
	Zn 75 µM primed (75µM)	(NH4) <sub>3</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> + DMPP(NI)	Ambient	

Table 3.1: Various priming treatments, fertilization and growing temperatures used for the experiments for both OSR hybrids.

Initially, five seeds were sown at a depth of 2 cm and later thinned to two plants for further cultivation. The observation window was covered with black plastic foil in order to prevent light exposure. The rhizoboxes were placed in a wooden stand at an angle of 45°, with the observation window facing downwards to promote root growth along the observation plane. A soil moisture content of 18% was adjusted gravimetrically, by watering the plants through back slits of rhizoboxes daily.

# 3.3.5. Temperature Regimes

Winter OSR (cv WR1) was grown at an average ambient green-house day temperature of 18°C. A maximum temperature of 25°C at day-time and a minimum of 9°C at night was recorded during the experiments (Fig. 3.2) comparable with temperature fluctuations during sowing time of winter rape under field conditions in temperate climates. Spring OSR (cv SR1) was grown in greenhouse culture with reduced root zone temperature (12°C RZT) after placing the rhizoboxes sealed in plastic bags into a temperature-adjusted water bath (Fig. 3.3) to simulate low soil temperatures during spring.



Fig. 3.2: Temperature regime during greenhouse culture.

# 3.3.6. Plant Analysis

#### 3.3.6.1. Plant Biomass

At the final harvest, root and shoot fresh biomass was noted. Roots were preserved in 30% ethanol for further root length evaluation. Depot root biomass was taken from 8-14 cm from the soil surface for both hybrids. After drying at 65°C root and shoot dry biomass was recorded.

# 3.3.6.2. Root Analysis

A video microscope (Stemi 200-C, Zeiss. Oberkochen Germany) and the Zeiss Axiovision 3.4.1 software (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany) were used to digitize and analyze the root hair development. For root analysis, rhizoboxes were sectioned into three compartments; from surface of the soil to 8cm, from 8 to 14cm and from 14cm to the bottom of the rhizobox. Nine photos were taken from each rhizobox weekly,



Fig. 3.3: Thermostated water bath incubator for rhizobox culture.

three from each divided compartment, average root hair length and density of analysed photos was presented. Roots were sketched on a transparent foil weekly for non-destructive monitoring of root length development along with the root observation windows. Root sketches and previously stored roots were scanned with an EPSON Perfection V700 PHOTO dual-lens scanner (Epson, Nagano-ken, Japan) and then evaluated with WinRhizo software V22009c (Regent Instruments, Quebec, Canada).

# 3.3.6.3. SPAD Measurement and Plant Height

SPAD-Meter 502 Plus (Konica Minolta, Osaka, Japan) was used to determine the leaf chlorophyll content by measuring green values (SPAD) of cv WR1 and cv SR1 at 5 and 7 WAS, respectively. At 1, 2, 3 and 4 weeks after sowing, plant height was also recorded.

# 3.3.6.4. Mineral Nutrient Analysis

After drying, the shoot material was ground to a fine powder (Labor Scheibenschwingmühle TS-100A, Sieb Technik GmbH, Mühlheim-Ruhr, Germany). Dry plant material (250 mg) was ashed at 500°C for 5 hours using a muffle furnace. After cooling, 1 ml of 3.4 M HNO<sub>3</sub> was used to extract the samples twice and

evaporated completely to precipitate silicates (SiO<sub>2</sub>). 1 ml of 4 M HCL was used to dissolve the ash, which was later diluted with ten times hot deionized water followed by two minutes of boiling converting meta- and pyrophosphates to orthophosphates. The final volume was brought to 25ml. 0.1mL of Cs/La buffer was added to each 4.9mL of ash solution and Zn, Fe & Mn concentrations were calculated using atomic absorption spectrometry (UNICAM 939, Offenbach/Main, Germany). Molybdate vanadate colour reagent was added to the solution and orthophosphate was determined by spectrophotometry as described by Gericke & Kurmis (1952).

# 3.3.6.5. Statistical Evaluation

This experiment was carried out with a completely randomized design with four replications. One-way analysis of variance (p < 0.050) was carried out to determine significant differences using the Sigma Plot Stat version 3.1 software (SYSTAT Software Inc., Erkrath, Germany).

# 3.4. Results

# 3.4.1. Seed Zn status

Zinc seed priming increased Zn seed contents and concentrations significantly at all applied concentration levels in both genotypes. However, the effects were most expressed in winter oilseed rape (cv WR1) with a 3-4-fold increase, while in spring oilseed rape (cv SR1) Zn levels increased up to 2-fold (Table 3.2).

	WF	R1	SR1		
Treatments	Concentration [µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	Contents [µg seed <sup>-1</sup> ]	Concentration [µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	Contents [µg seed <sup>-1</sup> ]	
UT	35.26 <u>+</u> 0.61d	0.19 <u>+</u> 0.00d	50.40 <u>+</u> 1.09d	0.24 <u>+</u> 0.01d	
WP	38.14 <u>+</u> 0.39d	0.21 <u>+</u> 0.01d	52.83 <u>+</u> 2.67d	0.25 <u>+</u> 0.01d	
25 µM	55.26 <u>+</u> 0.49c	0.30 <u>+</u> 0.01c	68.34 <u>+</u> 0.52c	0.32 <u>+</u> 0.00c	
50 µM	113.17 <u>+</u> 0.45b	0.62 <u>+</u> 0.01b	98.19 <u>+</u> 2.09b	0.46 <u>+</u> 0.01b	
75 μM	133.11 <u>+</u> 2.70a	0.73 <u>+</u> 0.01a	122.69 <u>+</u> 0.76a	0.58 <u>+</u> 0.00a	

Table. 3.2: Seed zinc concentrations and contents after nutrient seed priming. Data represent Means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. Cont (unprimed control), WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (ZnSO<sub>4</sub> primed).

#### 3.4.2. Winter rape – ambient temperature

#### 3.4.2.1. Plant habitus and shoot growth

At five weeks after sowing, no visible differences in aboveground plant development were detectable. In all treatments rooting occurred over the full length of the rhizoboxes with clear root attracting effects in the depot zones (Fig.3.4).



Fig. 3.4: Shoot and root development of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) at 5 weeks after sowing (WAS) grown in rhizoboxes at greenhouse temperature. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt (unprimed control, NH<sub>4</sub> depot), Seed priming variants (NH<sub>4</sub> depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

No significant treatment effects on shoot dry matter were recorded at five weeks after sowing, although depot fertilization showed a trend for higher values than homogeneous fertilizer supply (Fig. 3.5).



Fig. 3.5: Shoot dry weight of 5 weeks old winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) grown in rhizoboxes at ambient greenhouse temperature. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. BC (NO3 homogeneous), BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous; Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

However, depot fertilization and particularly seed priming increased plant height during two weeks after sowing with declining effects in later stages of plant development. No significant treatment differences were recorded at the end of the five weeks culture period (Fig. 3.6).



Fig. 3.6: Plant height of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) during 1 - 4 weeks after sowing grown in rhizoboxes. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

#### 4.4.2.2. Root development



Fig. 3.7: Root development of winter oil seed rape (cv. WR1) along the root observation window of rhizoboxes at 5 days after sowing. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

Depot fertilization and particularly Zn priming stimulated root elongation during five days after sowing (Fig. 3.7). Accordingly, Zn-primed plants reached the fertilizer depot zone earlier than the unprimed plants



# Root Length along the Rhizobox window

Fig. 3.8: Root length development of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) along the root observation window of rhizoboxes during 1 - 4 weeks after sowing (WAS) Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

Root growth stimulation along the root observation window induced by fertilizer placement and Zn seed priming proceeded during three weeks of seedling development but the treatment differences disappeared until 4 weeks after sowing (Fig. 3.8).

Accordingly, also total root length and total root biomass, recorded after the excavation of the whole root systems at final harvest at five weeks after sowing, did not show significant treatment differences.



Depot Rest Whole

**Root Dry Weight** 



Fig. 3.9: Root length development inside and outside of the depot zone, and total root biomass of winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) at five weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

However, fertilizer placement promoted root length development in the depot zone, without additional effects by Zn seed priming (Fig. 3.9). The stimulatory effect of

fertilizer placement on root growth in the depot zone did not affect root development in the remaining parts of the rhizobox and also deep rooting in the lower parts of the culture vessels was not influenced (Fig. 3.9).

At the end of the five weeks culture period a certain stimulatory effect (approx. 25%) of the Zn seed priming treatments was recorded for root hair density (Fig. 3.10), while no significant effects on average root hair length ranging between 1.8 and 2.2 mm where recorded (data not shown).





Fig. 3.10: Root hair density winter oilseed rape (cv WR1) at five weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

#### 3.4.2.3. Plant nutritional status

Chlorophyll content as indicator for the N and micronutrient status, measured by SPAD recordings in young and fully developed leaves at final harvest at five weeks after sowing revealed no significant treatment differences (Fig.3.11) and no chlorosis or deficiency symptoms were detectable.



Fig. 3.11: SPAD values of fully developed and young leaves in winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) at 5 weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

This was confirmed also by mineral nutrient analysis of the shoot tissue with micronutrient (Zn, Mn, Fe) concentrations above the critical deficiency thresholds (Campbell 2013) and no differences between the fertilizer treatments, However, the P nutritional status in the treatment with homogeneous nitrate fertilization (BC) with 3.2 mg P g shoot DM<sup>-1</sup> was critical but optimum levels were recorded in the treatments with depot fertilization without additional effects by Zn seed priming (Table 3.3).

Table 3.3: Shoot mineral nutrient concentrations and contents after 5 weeks old winter oilseed rape (cv. WR1) grown in rhizoboxes at greenhouse temperature. Data represent Means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

	Concentration [µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]				Contents [µg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]			
Treatments	Zn	Mn	Fe	P [mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	Zn	Mn	Fe	P [mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]
BC	47 <u>+</u> 3.0 a	132 <u>+</u> 5 a	93 <u>+</u> 9 a	3.2 <u>+</u> 0.1 b	21 <u>+</u> 2.3 a	55 <u>+</u> 6.1 a	38 <u>+</u> 3.1 a	1.37 <u>+</u> 0.11 b
Cnt	39 <u>+</u> 0.6 a	105 <u>+</u> 4 b	88 <u>+</u> 7a	8.9 <u>+</u> 0.3 a	22 <u>+</u> 1.0 a	54 <u>+</u> 1.2 a	45 <u>+</u> 2.0 a	4.60 <u>+</u> 0.01 a
WP	38 <u>+</u> 1.9 a	116 <u>+</u> 7ab	91 <u>+</u> 9ab	7.6 <u>+</u> 0.5 a	21 <u>+</u> 1.5 a	63 <u>+</u> 5.6 a	49 <u>+</u> 2.7 a	4.10 <u>+</u> 0.07 a
25 µM	39 <u>+</u> 2.5 a	107 <u>+</u> 1 b	88 <u>+</u> 8 a	8.0 <u>+</u> 0.4 a	21 <u>+</u> 2.0 a	58 <u>+</u> 3.6 a	48 <u>+</u> 6.3 a	4.30 <u>+</u> 0.24 a
50 µM	40 <u>+</u> 4.4 a	112 <u>+</u> 2ab	85 <u>+</u> 6 a	8.1 <u>+</u> 0.2 a	20 <u>+</u> 3.8 a	61 <u>+</u> 3.3 a	46 <u>+</u> 2.1 a	4.47 <u>+</u> 0.22 a
75 μM	44 <u>+</u> 3.9 a	109 <u>+</u> 4 b	81 <u>+</u> 3 a	8.5 <u>+</u> 0.2 a	20 <u>+</u> 3.2 a	60 <u>+</u> 2.6 a	45 <u>+</u> 1.3 a	4.74 <u>+</u> 0.09 a

3.4.3. Spring rape (cv SR1) – reduced root-zone temperature (12°C)

# 3.4.3.1. Plant habitus and shoot growth

At seven-weeks after sowing, a stimulation of shoot growth induced by depot fertilization and particularly Zn seed priming was recorded in spring rape (Fig. 3.12 and 3.13).



Fig. 3.12: Shoot and root development of winter oilseed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing (WAS) grown in rhizoboxes at reduced root zone temperature  $12^{\circ}$ C. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt (unprimed control, NH<sub>4</sub> depot), Seed priming variants (NH<sub>4</sub> depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

Shoot dry weight (SDW) was increased by 24 and 34%, respectively in the zinc priming treatment compared to water priming in depot fertilization and the unprimed variant with homogeneous (BC) fertilization (Fig 3.13). Accordingly, plant height in depot fertilization and zinc seed priming treatments (25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M) was increased during 2<sup>nd</sup> 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> WAS, (Fig 3.14). However, no further improvements at the later plant growth stage till 7<sup>th</sup> week was found (data not shown).



Fig. 3.13: Shoot dry weight of Spring oil seed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing (WAS) grown in rhizoboxes at reduced root zone temperature  $12^{\circ}$ C. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt (unprimed control, NH<sub>4</sub> depot), Seed priming variants (NH<sub>4</sub> depot): WP (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).



Fig. 3.14: Plant height of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) during 1 - 4 weeks after sowing grown in rhizoboxes reduced root zone temperature  $12^{\circ}$ C. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

# 3.4.3.2. Root Development

The root length evaluation along the rhizobox observation window at 1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> WAS, only showed positive trend for Zn priming treatment at 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> WAS stage which was not significant and disappeared completely at later stages of plant growth (Figs 3.15 and 3.16).



Fig. 3.15: Root development of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) along with the root observation window of rhizoboxes at 7 days after sowing. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

Similarly, total root length evaluation after harvest (7 WAS) confirmed no improvement in the root length either inside or outside the depot (Fig 3.17). Furthermore, no improvement in root dry weight (RDW) even when evaluated separately for depot zone only.



Fig. 3.16: Root length development of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) along with the root observation window of rhizoboxes during 1 - 4 weeks after sowing (WAS) Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

Root Length along Rhizobox Window



Root Dry Weight (Whole)



Fig. 3.17: Root length development inside and outside of the depot zone, and total root biomass of Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

Similar to the other root growth indicators, depot fertilization and zinc seed priming had no significant effects on root hair density or root hair length (Fig, 3.18).



Fig. 3.18: Root hair density winter oilseed rape (cv SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous), Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75 $\mu$ M (Zn primed).

#### 3.4.3.3. Plant Nutritional status

After the 7-weeks period at reduced RZT at 12°C. the winter rape plants were clearly P deficient (Campbell, 2013). Depot fertilization improved the P status to optimum concentrations (Table 3.4). In all treatments, the micronutrient status was sufficient and SPAD values also indicate no treatment differences in the N status (Fig. 3.19). Zinc seed priming had no effects on the plant nutritional status at final harvest



Fig. 3.19: SPAD values of fully developed leaves in Spring oilseed rape (cv. SR1) at 7 weeks after sowing. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed)

Table 3.4: Shoot mineral nutrient concentrations and contents after 7 weeks old winter oilseed rape (cv. SR1) grown in rhizoboxes at reduced root zone temperature 12°C. Data represent Means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments. BC: (NO<sub>3</sub> homogeneous, Cnt: (unprimed control, NH4 depot), Seed priming variants (NH4 depot): WP: (Water primed), 25, 50, 75µM (Zn primed).

	Concentration [µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]				Contents [µg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]			
Treatments	Zn	Mn	Fe	P [mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	Zn	Mn	Fe	P [mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]
BC	61 <u>+</u> 3.8 a	211 <u>+</u> 5.5 a	90 <u>+</u> 4.9 a	2.7 <u>+</u> 0.05 b	27 <u>+</u> 0.9 a	94 <u>+</u> 4 a	40 <u>+</u> 2 a	1.25 <u>+</u> 0.08b
Cnt	52 <u>+</u> 3.2 a	168 <u>+</u> 10 a	84 <u>+</u> 1.2 a	7.2 <u>+</u> 0.2 a	23 <u>+</u> 0.3 a	76 <u>+</u> 2 b	38 <u>+</u> 1 a	3.3 <u>+</u> 0.1 a
WP	56 <u>+</u> 4.3 a	166 <u>+</u> 21 a	85 <u>+</u> 5.6 a	7.9 <u>+</u> 0.5 a	23 <u>+</u> 1.7 a	69 <u>+</u> 9 b	35 <u>+</u> 1 a	3.3 <u>+</u> 0.2 a
25 µM	53 <u>+</u> 1.7 a	163 <u>+</u> 16 a	80 <u>+</u> 4.8 a	7.7 <u>+</u> 0.6 a	22 <u>+</u> 1.0 a	68 <u>+</u> 5 b	33 <u>+</u> 1 a	3.3 <u>+</u> 0.3 a
50 µM	54 <u>+</u> 3.5 a	193 <u>+</u> 10 a	116 <u>+</u> 30 a	6.9 <u>+</u> 0.3 a	20 <u>+</u> 1.8 a	74 <u>+</u> 5 b	44 <u>+</u> 11a	2.6 <u>+</u> 0.1 a
75 µM	54 <u>+</u> 2.3 a	167 <u>+</u> 4.1 a	69 <u>+</u> 3.8 a	7.0 <u>+</u> 0.3 a	23 <u>+</u> 2.1 a	71 <u>+</u> 3 b	29 <u>+</u> 1 a	2.9 <u>+</u> 0.09a

#### 3.5. Discussion

#### 3.5.1. Winter rape

Winter rape culture at ambient greenhouse temperatures, comparable to the open field temperature regimes in temperate climates during sowing time in September (Fig. 3.2), was associated with root growth promotion, particularly in the zinc (Zn) priming treatments compared to the unprimed control in the depot variants. The stimulatory effect was apparent during early seedling establishment, enabled faster depot exploitation already during the first week after sowing and persisted until 3 weeks after sowing (Fig 3.7 & 3.8). This finding confirms the limited Zn seed reserves of oilseed rape lasting for less than 5 DAS until additional root-mediated Zn acquisition is required (Asim 2017), which was obviously suboptimal, even under the selected growing conditions avoiding environmental stress factors with detrimental effects on root growth. The well-documented root attracting effect of the ammonium phosphate depot, enabling efficient nutrient exploitation (Ying et al. 2010; Nkebiwe et al. 2016), was detectable until the end of the culture period. At the same time, deep rooting was not negatively affected by depot fertilization in upper soil layers. Therefore, in comparison with homogeneous fertilization, the selected fertilization strategy based on ammonium phosphate depot fertilization combined with Zn seed priming obviously supported root traits required for the successful establishment of winter rape in autumn, combining the efficient acquisition of starter fertilizers and deep rooting to improve winter hardness (Bauer, 2011).

Limitations of root growth are particularly critical for nutrients with limited mobility in soils, such as micronutrients (Fe, Zn, Mn) at soil pH levels > 5.0 and phosphate (Neumann and Römheld, 2002). Macronutrients (N, K, Mg) were supplied in sufficient amounts during starter fertilization, while the P fertilization level of 50-70 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> soil resulted in a moderate P supply on the selected soil with low P availability. Analysis of the plant nutritional status at the end of the culture period revealed shoot micronutrient concentrations in the sufficiency range for all treatments, and the lowest levels for Zn among the investigated micronutrients, reaching shoot concentrations between 38 – 47  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DM, closest to the deficiency threshold of approx. 30  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DM (Campbell, 2013). However, this does not exclude Zn limitation during early seedling growth when the root system is not yet completely developed, which was obviously supplemented

by Zn seed priming resulting in improved root growth. Beneficial effects of micronutrient Zn/Mn) seed priming on root growth have been similarly reported also in maize (Bradacova et al., 2016) associated with increased auxin production as a major regulator of lateral root development (Moradtalb et al., 2020). However, the most striking effect on the plant-nutritional status was a critically low P level (3.2 mg g<sup>-1</sup> DM) of the plants supplied with homogeneous NPK fertilization with nitrate as N form (Campbell, 2013). This implicates that apart from Zn limitation also P limitation can be expected during early seedling growth, particularly on soils with a moderate P status. By contrast, the P status was luxury (7.6 - 8.9 mg g<sup>-1</sup> DM) in all ammonium-phosphate depot fertilization variants. Rhizosphere acidification induced by the roots in an ammonium-dominated N nutrition can mediate solubilisation of Ca-P and counteract P fixation (Neumann and Römheld, 2002) and this effect can be further promoted by fertilizer placement due to localized root proliferation (Jing et al., 2010; Bischoff, 2012). Root growth stimulation supported more rapid depot exploitation and consequently improved P acquisition in the Zn-primed variants, which also explains the shoot growth promotion observed during the first three weeks of seedling establishment since P limitation inhibits shoot growth (Martin et al., 2000). However, despite a largely improved P nutritional status, excessive aboveground plant development with negative side effects on winter hardness was not observed in later stages of seedling growth. This may be attributed to reduced cytokinin production reported under ammonium-dominated fertilization in various plant species (Walch-Liu et al., 2000; Rahayu et al., 2005; Römheld et al., 2008), which counteracted shoot growth promotion.

Interestingly, in a similar experimental setup with ZnSD under field conditions an 11.6 % yield increase at a surprisingly high yield level of 5.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> in a strip till system with ammonium phosphate placement at a soil depth of 20 cm in comparison with standard sowing without fertilizer placement, was noted (Table 2.9, Chapter 2). Therefore, the benefits of Zn seed treatments in combination with fertilizer placement recorded in the model experiments described above may be at least partially responsible for the observed yield benefits under field conditions. Taken together the results support the hypothesis that ammonium phosphate depots combined with micronutrient seed priming could provide a promising starter fertilization strategy for winter rape to

promote early root establishment and nutrient acquisition worthwhile for further investigations under real field conditions.

# 3.5.2. Spring Rape

The situation in spring rape exposed to low root zone temperatures (RZT) of 12°C during the culture period was different. In contrast to winter rape grown at ambient greenhouse temperature, shoot growth of spring rape under cold stress was clearly promoted by approximately 30% even at the end of the 7-weeks culture period, with significant effects detectable only in the Zn-primed ammonium-phosphate depot variants compared with homogeneous NPK-nitrate fertilization (Fig. 3.13), At the same time, no significant effects on root growth or depot exploitation by local root proliferation were detectable. This is contradictory to the results of an earlier study conducted with the same cultivar (SR1) grown at 12°C RZT supplied with homogeneous nitrate based NPK fertilization. Here a pronounced positive Zn priming effect on root length was noted (Neumann et al., 2014) as similarly reported also for maize exposed to low RZT, both with nitrate and ammonium dominated fertilization (Bradacova et al., 2016; Ahmed, 2017; Moradtalab et al., 2018). A major difference of the present study was the limited P availability, as indicated by shoot P concentrations in the deficiency range (2.7 mg g<sup>-1</sup> DM; Campbell, 21013) in the variants with homogeneous NPK fertilization (Table 3.4). Particularly at low soil temperatures, impaired P acquisition represents a major problem due to limited root growth and activity (Bradacova et al., 2016), and placement of P fertilizers close to the roots is a widespread measure to counteract this problem (Nkebiwe et al., 2016). Interestingly, also Gomez-Munoz et al. (2018) demonstrated that cold-protective effects of Zn supply in maize were not detectable under P-limited conditions. However, in our study, the plant P status in the ammonium-phosphate depot variants finally reached optimum levels between 6.9 –7.9 mg g<sup>-1</sup> DM) even without significant root growth effects. This finding suggests that the improved P acquisition was rather related to root-induced rhizosphere acidification triggered by predominant ammonium nutrition and root growth stimulation was less important in this context. Apart from beneficial effects on auxin-mediated root growth promotion, beneficial effects of Zn seed priming have been also reported on detoxification of free radicals and the production of cold-stress

protectants (Moradtalab et al. 2018). This may promote the metabolic activity of the roots and root activity during early seedling development under cold stress conditions, finally leading to efficient root-induced P mobilization to overcome P-limitation, reflected in improved shoot growth. This means that Zn seed priming combined with ammonium-phosphate depot fertilization could overcome cold-stress induced limitations of critical nutrients, thereby promoting seedling establishment.

# 3.5.3. Concluding remarks

The present study suggests that the combination of Zn seed priming with the placement of ammonium-phosphate starter fertilizer can support the expression of plant traits beneficial for field establishment of winter rape and spring rape as well. This includes promotion of root development for efficient exploitation of the fertilizer depot and improvement of the plant-nutritional status without excessive stimulation of shoot growth in winter rape before winter and improved acquisition of critical nutrients (e.g. P) at low soil temperatures in spring rape. For further evaluation, replacement of seed priming by technically more feasible seed dressing treatments with field testing under different soil conditions would be required. This also includes more detailed characterization of related rhizosphere processes, hormonal profiling and expression of physiological stress indicators for a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms.

# Chapter 4

Drought-protective effects of nutrient seed treatments during early growth of oilseed rape

# 4.1. Abstract

Crop production is increasingly affected by water limitation even in temperate climates due to a rising frequency of drought periods, related with global change. The stressprotective nutrients, discussed as a mitigation strategy, were investigated for their potential drought-protective effects of nutrient seed treatments, based on Ca, K, Fe, Zn, Mn on early growth of oilseed rape (OSR).

Responses were observed in five OSR hybrids under greenhouse conditions on two soils with contrasting properties (sandy-loam pH 5.6 vs. silty-loam pH 6.9) in two independent pot experiments. A 7-days drought period with reduced soil moisture level (40% soil water-holding capacity. WHC) inhibited shoot and root growth and caused irreversible wilting and leaf necrosis (27-46% of total leaf area) particularly on the sandy-loam with lower WHC, depending on the investigated genotype. Nutrient seed treatment increased shoot (10-15%) and particularly root growth (14-23%) as well as nutrient accumulation, but also reduced the proportion of irreversibly damaged leaves to 17-21%, with the largest effect in strongly drought-affected genotypes under the challenging conditions on the sandy-loam soil. Analysis of physiological stress indicators revealed increased accumulation of phenolics (23-28%), antioxidants (14-47%) and higher activities of ascorbate peroxidase (APX) (23-87%) in the leaf tissue, counteracting drought-induced oxidative stress. Moreover, APX activity was positively related with root length (R<sup>2</sup>0.8953), suggesting a protective effect on drought-induced oxidative IAA degradation with inhibitory effects on root growth. Increased levels of absisic, jasmonic and salicylic acids during drought stress recovery point to stress priming effects, strengthening the natural adaptive responses to water limitation.

# 4.2. Introduction

Among the plant-based oil and protein sources for food and feed use, oilseed rape (OSR) is one of the most important crops worldwide (FAO STAT, 2017) but is being increasingly affected by water deficit or drought conditions around the globe. Related with climate change, the problem of water shortage increases not only in semi-arid and arid parts of the world but is also getting more and more relevant even in temperate climates (Collins et al., 2009). Moreover, other stress factors directly or indirectly associated with drought conditions, particularly heat and light, soil compaction or salinity stress lead to further aggravation of the drought stress syndrome (Whitemore & Whalley, 2009; Dreesen et al., 2012).

In OSR, mild to severe drought conditions can limit germination and seedling establishment (Yang et al., 2007) and caused a decrease in above-ground dry matter biomass by 18-32%, while seed yields were reduced by 19-39% associated with significant economic losses (Gunaskara et al., 2006). Impaired photosynthesis via reduced stomatal aperture to minimize transpiratory water losses, limited production of chlorophyll (Alam et al., 2014) and excessive formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) leading to lipid peroxidation and membrane damage (Mirzae et al., 2013), which further impairs photosynthetic efficiency, associated with nutrient limitations due to root growth inhibition (White et al., 2015) are the main physiological drought responses mediating the substantial decline in yield formation.

In OSR the degree of detrimental drought effects leading to final yield losses is very much related to the sensitivity of the plant developmental stage. Oilseed rape is most sensitive to early summer drought at anthesis or at the stem elongation phase, while some genotypes are most sensitive at the pod filling stage (Richard & Thurling 1978a). However, a drought period in spring can severely affect the recovery phase of Winter OSR or seedling establishment of Spring OSR, which can be similarly affected by late summer drought in Winter OSR. Under these conditions, optimal root growth is of great importance, particularly for non-mycorrhizal plants such as OSR exclusively dependent on their root system to support the plant for water and nutrients. This applies not only for the drought period itself. A well-established root system in Winter OSR is imminent for winter hardiness, tap-root nutrient storage, plant survival in winter and regrowth and

nutrient acquisition after winter (Föhse et al., 1991, Hoffland et al., 1989, 1992). However, root development of both tap and lateral roots is impaired by water deficit conditions (Richard and Thurling, 1978b; Hadi et al., 2014).

Apart from plant breeding, various agronomic approaches, such as planting methods suitable for water conservation i.e. drill sowing, raised bed planting and furrow planting (Zhang et al., 2007; Kukal et al., 2010; Aiken et al., 2015), application of nutrients (Fanaei et al., 2009) and growth regulators with protective functions (Ullah et al., 2012, Ahmadi et al., 2015) including foliar application of salicylic acid (SA) and abscisic acid (ABA) have been proposed to ameliorate detrimental effects of water limitation on plant performance. Among the strategies based on application of stress-protective nutrients, nutrient seed treatment, seed priming, and seed dressing have beendescribed as approaches providing beneficial growth-promoting effects under water deficit conditions, with a clear preference of seed dressings for industrial applications. In seed dressing, seeds are treated with insecticides, fungicides or growth-promoting biological agents (Ellis, 2004; Stendhal, 2005) and combined applications are possible. Seed priming (soaking + redrying) with potassium (K) and Zinc (Zn) improved drought tolerance, germination and early seedling growth in wheat and faba bean, respectively (Faroog e al., 2013; Faroog e al., 2021). Seed priming with ZnSO<sub>4</sub> and osmopriming with CaCl<sub>2</sub> helped to mitigate the drought stress by enhancing antioxidants in Nigella sativa and lentils, respectively (Sina et al., 2018; Faroog et al., 2020). Imran et al. (2018) explored positive ZnSO<sub>4</sub> priming effects under salt stress conditions in maize with beneficial effects also on field establishment and yield formation in response to cold stress during spring (Imran et al., 2013). Neumann et al. (2014) reported improved seedling establishment and root development after ZnSO<sub>4</sub> seed priming in Spring OSR exposed to low root zone temperatures.

In face of the numerous reports on stress protection induced by nutrient seed treatments, this study was initiated to investigate potential drought protective effects on early growth also in OSR and to elucidate related modes of action under controlled conditions. A meanwhile commercialized seed dressing formulation (Wurzel-Plus Beizung, Rapool Ring GmbH; Isernhagen Germany) based on a combination of stress-protective nutrients including Ca, K, Zn, Mn, and Fe, was selected for nutrient seed treatment (NST). We hypothesized that a combined application of different drought

protective nutrients could provide complementary or even synergistic benefits as drought protectants. To consider also potential genotypic differences in the responsiveness to drought and NST applications, five different Winter OSR hybrids were investigated in two experiments conducted under controlled greenhouse conditions on two soils with contrasting properties (sandy loam pH 5.6 vs. silty loam pH 6.9).

# 4.3. Materials & Methods

# 4.3.1 Seed Material

Treated winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*.L) seeds of five hybrids (WR2, WR3, WR4, WR5, WR6) were provided by NPZ Innovation GmbH, Holtsee, Germany. All seeds were treated with a fungicide combination of Thiram (TMTD) against damping off (*Rhizoctonia solani*) and Dimethomorph (DMM) against downy mildew (*Hyaloperonospora parasitica*) including the seeds used as a control treatment. Seed nutrient status was enhanced by nutrient seed treatment (NST) as seed dressing with a pool of selected micronutrients (chelated Zn, Mn, Fe) and macro-nutrients (Ca, K) applied in a commercial formulation (Wurzel-Plus Beizung, RAPOOL-RING GmbH, Isernhagen, Germany). Seeds were homogenized by passing through a seed grading sieve and finally a seed size of 2 mm was selected for the experiments.

# 4.3.2 Plant Culture:

# Experiment 1:

A silty loam soil pH 6.9 was fertilized with Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub> 100 mg N kg-<sub>1</sub> DM; Ca(H<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, 80 mg P kg<sup>-1</sup> DM; K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 150 mg K kg<sup>-1</sup> DM and MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mg Mg kg<sup>-1</sup> DM and sieved through 2 mm mesh size. Plastic pots were filled with 2 kg of fertilized soil substrate. Ten seeds each of three different hybrids of winter OSR (WR2, WR3, WR4) were sown directly at 2 cm depth, the pots were transferred to a growth chamber and cultivated with a 15 h light period (200 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s-1), 60-80% rel. humidity and a 23 ±2 °C temperature regime.

Soil moisture was maintained at 70% Water Holding Capacity (WHC) for 3 weeks, followed by 1 week of drought stress (40% WHC). Thereafter, plants were subjected

to 70% WHC moisture conditions again for a one-week recovery period before harvesting, at 35 DAS. For each treatment, additional 5 replicates were grown as a positive control at 70%WHC during the whole duration of the experiment.

Soil water holding capacity (WHC) was determined according to the method described by Öhlinger *et al.* (1996). A plastic cylinder of 15cm height and 4 cm inner diameter, with a bottom fitted 0.5 mm mesh, was used. Three cylinders were filled with the substrate and dipped in water, upto the level of the soil inside the cylinder, for 24 hours. In order to drain all the gravitational water, the cylinders were kept standing on a moist sand bath for 48 hrs. After weighing, the soil was dried at 105 °C until a constant weight was achieved. The WHC was calculated using the following formula and was maintained on weight basis (W/W) throught the experiments.

# WHC% = <u>Weight of the water held against gravity in saturated soil</u> x 100 Weight of the dried soil

# Experiment 2:

A similar setup was used to explore the NST responses of OSR on two different soils; a sandy loam pH 5.6 and a silty loam pH 6.9. Ten seeds each of three different hybrids (WR2, WR5, & WR6) were sown and thinning to 5 plants pot<sup>-1</sup> was performed at 10 DAS after carefully selecting homogenous seedlings. All the other plant culture details remained the same as in experiment 1.

# 4.3.3 Plant Analysis:

After three days recovery from drought stress, the youngest fully developed leaves from each replicate was harvested and stored at -80°C to be further analyzed for physiological stress markers. After the one-week recovery phase at 35 DAS, any necrotic, chlorotic, or stunted leaf was determined and classified as "irreversible damaged." and the percentage damaged leaves relative to the number of total leaves was determined. Shoot and root dry matter was recorded after oven drying at 60°C. Root length was determined after digitalization using the WinRHIZO root analysis software (Regent Instruments Inc., Quebec, Canada) of root samples previously washed out from the soil and preserved in 30% (v/v) ethanol solution.

4.3.4 Plant mineral analysis:

Aliquots of 250 mg dried shoot material were transferred to crucibles and subsequently ashed for 5 hours in a muffle furnace at 500°C. The samples were cooled and extracted with 2.5ml of 3.4 M HNO<sub>3</sub> two times. For precipitating SiO<sub>2</sub>, samples were evaporated till dryness and subsequently dissolved in 2.5 mL of 4 M HCl. The volume was increased ten times with hot deionized water and subsequently boiled for at least 2 min to convert meta- and pyrophosphates to orthophosphate. Ash solution was determined for Mg, Zn, Mn, Fe with atomic absorption spectrometry (ATI Unicam Solaar 939, Thermo Electron, Waltham, USA) after adding 0.1 mL Cs/La buffer to 4.9 mL ash solution while phosphate was measured spectro-photometrically (Hitachi U-3300 spectrophotometer, Hitachi Ltd. Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) after adding molybdate-vanadate color reagent according to Gericke and Kurmis (1952. Flame photometry (ELEX 6361, Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) was used to determine Ca and K in the ash solution.

# 4.3.5 Determination of stress metabolites

# 4.3.5.1 Determination of total phenolics

Concentration of total phenolics was measured by Folin-Ciocalteau reagent, using gallic acid as standard, based on the spectrophotometric method as described by Panico et al. (2009). The extraction buffer was a methanol-HCl solution at a ratio of 98:2. One hundred mg of the leaf samples were homogenized in 1 ml of extraction buffer using mortar and pestle and centrifuged at 3,000 g for 20 min. For the reaction buffer, Folin-Ciocalteau reagent was diluted 1:10 (v/v), and sodium carbonate (Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>) 7.5 % (w/w) was boiled in 100 ml of ultrapure H<sub>2</sub>O for 5 min. Finally, 1 ml of ultrapure H<sub>2</sub>O, 500 µl of diluted Folin-Ciocalteau reagent, 1 ml of 7.5 % Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, and 100 µl of supernatant of the leaf were pipetted into the reaction cells. Absorbance was measured at 765 nm after 10 min of incubation. Total phenolic concentration was expressed as gallic acid equivalents in mg g<sup>-1</sup> fresh weight. The concentration of gallic acid was ascertained from a calibration curve using gallic acid dissolved in the methanol-HCl solution (98:2).

# 4.3.5.2 Determination of total antioxidant capacity by DPPH assay

For the spectrophotometric determination of total antioxidants after Panico et al. (2009) the 1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl radical (DPPH) was used to evaluate the free radical scavenging activity of antioxidants. One hundred mg of the leaf samples were homogenized in 1 ml of extraction buffer (1:1 ethanol:  $H_2O$ ) using mortar and pestle and centrifuged at 3,000 g for 20 min. For the reaction buffer, a 3 mM DPPH-solution was prepared and stored in a dark flask covered with aluminum foil at 4°C, in between the single runs of the measurements. Finally, the reaction cells contained 28 µl of DPPH-solution, 944 µl of ethanol, and 28 µl of leaf extract supernatant. After 10 min incubation in the dark at room temperature, the reaction was assayed by reading the absorbance at 515 nm, whereas the base was represented by the absorbance value of cuvettes containing the same mixture of reagents, but containing an equivalent amount of ethanol instead of supernatant. The percentage decrease in absorbance was recorded for each sample. The percentage quenching of DPPH-radical was calculated based on the observed decrease in absorbance according to the following formula:

% Inhibition = [ (A0 – A1) / A0] × 100

where A0 was the absorbance value of the base, and A1 is the absorbance value of the sample solution.

# 4.3.5.3 Determination of proline

The extraction buffer used for the spectrophotometric determination of proline (following Bates et al. (1973) was 3 % aqueous sulfosalicylic acid. Leaf samples (100 mg) were homogenized with extraction 1 ml buffer using mortar and pestle, followed by centrifugation at 3,000 g for 20 min. For the reaction buffer, proline reagent was prepared by dissolving 1.25 g ninhydrin in 30 ml of glacial acetic acid and 20 ml of 6 M phosphoric acid. Two millilitres of proline reagent, 2 ml of glacial acetic acid and 1 ml of supernatant were pipetted into glass reaction vials and incubated at 100 °C for 1 h, using an electro-thermal heater. After cooling back to 25 °C, 4 ml of toluene were added and mixed for 30 s until two phases had formed. From the upper (pink) phase, containing the chromophores, 1.5 ml were transferred to cuvettes, and the absorbance was measured at 500 nm every 30 s for 5 min against a blank cell filled with 1.5 ml toluene. The proline concentration was determined via external standardization with a standard curve and calculated on a fresh weight basis (Bates et al. 1973).

# 4.3.6 Determination of ascorbate peroxidase activity

Ascorbate peroxidase (APX, EC 1.11.1.11) activity was determined according to the spectrophotometric method described by Boominathan and Doran (2002). One hundred mg of leaf material was homogenized using mortar and pestle in 1 mL 100 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.5) containing 0.2 mM EDTA at 4°C, followed by centrifugation at 12,000 g for 15 min.

Reaction cells were filled with 325  $\mu$ l of 50 mM potassium phosphate buffer, 200  $\mu$ l of 0.5 mM ascorbic acid, 200  $\mu$ l of 1.25M bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 200  $\mu$ l of supernatant. To start the reaction, 50  $\mu$ l of 0.5 M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were added and oxidation of ascorbic acid was monitored recording the decrease in absorbance at 290 nm during 1 min after starting the reaction, whereas the blank was represented by the absorbance value of cuvettes containing the same mixture of reagents but containing an equivalent amount of buffer instead of supernatant. Ascorbate peroxidase activity was calculated according to lambert-Beer's law, using an absorbance coefficient for ascorbic acid of 2.6 mM<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup>. One unit of APX is defined as the amount of enzyme oxidizing ascorbic acid at a rate of 1  $\mu$ mol min<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C.

# 4.3.7 HPLC-MS analysis of phytohormones:

One gram of frozen shoot samples was homogenized twice with 2.5 ml of 80% methanol in falcon tubes after grinding them to a fine powder using liquid nitrogen. Further homogenization was performed by ultrasonication (Micra D-9 homogenizer, Art, Müllheim Germany) at 10,000 rpm for 1 min and 15 s. Methanol extracts were added to the microtubes, and the samples were centrifuged for 5 min at 5,645 × g. Ultra-pure water was added to the supernatant and centrifuged again for 5 min at 5,645 × g. Membrane filtration (Chromafil R O20/15 MS) cleaned the supernatant and shifted to HPLC vials. Velos LTQ System (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA), was used to perform UHPLC-MS analysis, which was fitted with Synergi Polar column, 4 $\mu$ , 150 \* 3.0 mm, (Phenomenex, Torrance, California, USA). The flow rate was set to 0.5 ml min<sup>-1</sup> with mobile phase (a): water and 5% acetonitrile and mobile phase (b) acetonitrile and a gradient profile, for gradient elution. The gradient profile was 0–1min, 95% A, 5% B, 11–13min, 10% A, 90% B, 13.1min, 95% A, 5% B, 16min

gibberellic acid, trans-zeatin, salicylic acid, (+/–)-jasmonic acid, were purchased from Sigma Aldrich, (Sigma Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA).

# 4.3.8 Statistical analysis:

The experiments were arranged in a completely randomized design and with five and four replicates for each treatment in experiment 1 and 2, respectively. Data represent Mean + and SE represents. One-way analysis of variance p < 0.05) was performed with the Sigma Plot version 11.0. Software (SYSSTAT Software Inc., Erkrath, Germany) to evaluate the statistical significance of differences between the means of treatment groups.

# 4.4. Results

# 4.4.1 Experiment 1

The potential benefits of nutrient seed treatments (NST) on early plant growth under drought conditions was investigated with three Winter-OSR hybrids (WR2, WR3, WR4) grown on a silty loam soil pH 6.9. Germination ranged between 74% (WR4) and 90% (WR2) without significant differences between NST and untreated controls. After a drought stress period of 7 days at a reduced soil moisture level of 40% WHC, detrimental drought effects on oilseed rape plants were detectable in all three genotypes. The habitus of drought-affected plants was characterized by reduced leaf area (Fig. 4.1 and 4.2), wilting, rolling, and necrosis of leaves.



Fig. 4.1 Habitus of well-watered (70% WHC) and one-week drought-affected OSR plants (40% WHC), genotypes WR2-WR4, 28 DAS with and without nutrient seed treatment (NST).

During the drought stress period, all genotypes expressed development of a blue-grey coloured cuticular layer at the upper leaf side, which was particularly intense in the NST variants associated with a general trend for enlarged leaf area (Fig 4.2)



Fig. 4.2 Leaf habitus and leaf colouration of well-watered (70% WHC) and one-week drought-affected OSR plants (40% WHC); genotypes: WR2-WR4, 28 days after sowing (DAS) with and without NST.

Microscopic examination revealed a thicker cuticula layer of the drought-stressed plants, which was more homogenous without cracks in the NST-treated plants (Fig. 4. 3).



Fig. 4.3 Cuticular development of well-watered (70% WHC) and one-week drought-affected OSR plants (40% WHC), genotype WR4, 28 DAS with and without NST.

Drought stress-induced irreversible leaf damage (chlorosis, necrosis, wilting) decreased in the order WR3 (43% affected leaves) > WR2 (38%) > WR4 (27%). Application of NST reduced the leaf damage in WR3 by 24% followed by WR2 (21%) and then WR4 (5% n.s) (Table 4.1). Under drought stress, shoot and root biomass, as well as root length, significantly declined in WR2 and WR4 with a similar trend in WR3. Nutrient seed treatment fully compensated these reductions in shoot and root growth in WR3 and WR4 but not entirely in WR2. Nutrient seed treatment also stimulated root and shoot growth already in unstressed plants with significant effects in WR3 (8-17%) and WR2 (5-15%) (Table 4.1).

In all treatments, the nutritional status of WR2 and WR3 was critical for Ca (< 20 mg g<sup>-1</sup> DM), K (< 35 mg g<sup>-1</sup> DM), Zn (< 33  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DM) and Cu (< 5  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DM) at 35 DAS, and the Mn-status declined below the deficiency threshold (< 30  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> DM) under drought stress (Campbell, 2013), while Mg and P were in the sufficiency range. There

was a general trend for increased shoot accumulation of nutrients induced by the NST treatments, although the effects were not significant in all cases (Table 4.2).
Table 4.1: Shoot, root dry biomass production, and root length of oilseed rape (genotype WR2, WR3, WR4), grown at 23 + 2°C for 5 Weeks with and without
nutrient seed treatment (NST). Data represent means and SE of 5 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

			Correinstion [9/]	Demograd Leaves [9/]	SDW	RDW	RL
			Germination [%]	Damaged leaves [%]	[g plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[cm plant <sup>-1</sup> ]
	W/D2	Cont.	90±2 a		0.47±0.03 b	54.98±0.43 b	1640.76± 2.90 b
	VV KZ	NST	95±3 a		0.54±0.01 a	59.12±0.73 a	1722.75±19.80 a
	\A/D2	Cont.	84±3 a		0.23±0.01 b	62.99±1.36 b	1865.3± 11.57 b
70 % WHC	WK3	NST	91±2 a		0.27±0.00 a	70.79±0.95 a	2020.72±37.86 a
_	14/D /	Cont.	74±5a		0.54±0.02 a	37.04±1.0 a	1632.84±59.58 a
	VV K4	NST	78±5 a		0.6±0.02 a	40.01±0.92 a	1725.87±50.42 a
		Cont.		38.1 a	0.32±0.01 a	44.7±1.52 a	1311.28±15.48 b
_	VV KZ	NST		17.1 b	0.36±0.01 a	49.38±1.69 a	1399.73±21.97 a
	W/D2	Cont.		43.1 a	0.22±0.01 b	55.66±1.15 b	1679.61± 50.74 b
40 % WHC	VVK3	NST		19.3 b	0.3±0.02 a	61.45±0.73 a	1810.89±15.76 a
_		Cont.		26.9 a	0.42±0.02 b	33.36±1.18 b	1446.74± 79.40 a
	vv K4	NST		21.4 a	0.6±0.04 a	40.14±1.74 a	1732.67±47.18 b

Table 4.2: Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape (genotype WR2, WR3, WR4), grown on a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at  $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 5 Weeks with and without NST. Data represent means and SE of 5 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

			Z	n	Μ	Mn		Cu		
			[µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg plant⁻¹]		
	70 %	Cont.	30.01±0.62 a	14.17±0.78 a	42.87± 0.76 a	18.31±0.34 a	4.93±0.09 a	2.32±0.11 a		
\A/D2	WHC	NST	28.82±0.33 a	15.71±0.22 a	37.35±0.59 b	20.36±0.47 a	4.78±0.15 a	2.61±0.09 a		
VVRZ	40 %	Cont.	29.94±0.41 a	8.31±0.33 b	20.18±1.01 a	12.75±0.59 b	5.34±0.22 a	1.49±0.12 a		
	WHC	NST	31.74±0.67 a	10.07±0.26 a	20.36±0.35 a	15.30±0.68 a	5.52±0.28 a	1.76±0.12 a		
	70 %	Cont.	29.32±0.97 a	7.00±0.34 a	45.74±0.34 a	9.58±0.43 a	4.27±0.25 a	1.07±0.05 b		
\A/D2	WHC	NST	28.62±0.67 a	7.83±0.20 a	48.07±0.47 a	11.24±0.24 a	4.15±0.19 a	1.39±0.07 a		
VVKS	40 %	Cont.	28.32±0.45 b	6.27±0.28 b	12.71±0.59 a	9.24±0.44 b	4.27±0.21 a	0.940±0.02 b		
	WHC	NST	32.78±0.73 a	9.79±.52 a	15.30±0.68 a	12.77±0.66 a	4.15±0.14 a	1.24±0.08 a		
	70 %	Cont.	43.36±0.75 a	23.52±0.63 b	50.72±0.72 a	27.56±1.07 a	7.82±0.31 a	4.23±0.08 a		
	WHC	NST	45.50±0.69 a	27.32±0.67 a	49.91±0.61 a	30.04±1.24 a	7.94±0.29 a	4.78±0.26 a		
VV K4	40 %	Cont.	35.50±0.73 a	15.10±0.86 b	51.51±0.63 a	21.94±1.33 a	7.35±0.30 a	3.12±0.18 a		
	WHC	NST	33.43±0.55 b	20.29±1.76 a	42.52±0.67 b	25.74±1.96 a	7.01±0.19 a	4.24±0.31 a		
			C	а	κ		N	1g	F	)
			[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]
	70 0/									2 5010 40
	/0 %	Cont.	13.47±0.47 b	6.37±0.46 b	17.36±0.45 b	8.16±0.34 b	3.05±0.07 a	1.43±0.06 b	5.50±0.12 a	2.59±0.10 a
\A/D2	VU %	Cont. NST	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a
WR2	70 % WHC 40 %	Cont. NST Cont.	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a
WR2	40 % WHC	Cont. NST Cont. NST	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a
WR2	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 %	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont.	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a 3.60±0.07 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a 0.85±0.03 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a
WR2	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a 21.62±1.41 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a 5.91±0.38 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a 18.69±1.04 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a 5.10±0.17 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a 3.60±0.07 a 3.49±0.04 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a 0.85±0.03 a 0.95±0.02 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a 5.68±015 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a 1.55±0.06
WR2 WR3	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC 40 %	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont.	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a 21.62±1.41 a 16.45±0.53 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a 5.91±0.38 a 3.64±0.15 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a 18.69±1.04 a 18.88±1.42 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a 5.10±0.17 a 4.16±0.36 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a 3.60±0.07 a 3.49±0.04 a 3.53±0.07 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a 0.85±0.03 a 0.95±0.02 a 0.78±0.03 b	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a 5.68±015 a 5.91±0.29 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a 1.55±0.06 1.31±0.07 a
WR2 WR3	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC 40 % WHC	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a 21.62±1.41 a 16.45±0.53 a 15.22±0.50 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a 5.91±0.38 a 3.64±0.15 a 4.53±0.19 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a 18.69±1.04 a 18.88±1.42 a 15.68±0.94 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a 5.10±0.17 a 4.16±0.36 a 4.66±0.33 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a 3.60±0.07 a 3.49±0.04 a 3.53±0.07 a 3.43±0.09 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a 0.85±0.03 a 0.95±0.02 a 0.78±0.03 b 1.02±0.05 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a 5.68±015 a 5.91±0.29 a 5.49±0.25 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a 1.55±0.06 1.31±0.07 a 1.64±0.10 a
WR2 WR3	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 %	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a 21.62±1.41 a 16.45±0.53 a 15.22±0.50 a 27.44±0.73 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a 5.91±0.38 a 3.64±0.15 a 4.53±0.19 a 14.90±0.64 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a 18.69±1.04 a 18.88±1.42 a 15.68±0.94 a 37.03±2.31 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a 5.10±0.17 a 4.16±0.36 a 4.66±0.33 a 20.24±1.81 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a 3.60±0.07 a 3.49±0.04 a 3.53±0.07 a 3.43±0.09 a 5.19±0.12 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a 0.85±0.03 a 0.95±0.02 a 0.78±0.03 b 1.02±0.05 a 2.81±0.12 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a 5.68±015 a 5.91±0.29 a 5.49±0.25 a 9.00±0.48 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a 1.55±0.06 1.31±0.07 a 1.64±0.10 a 4.88±0.22 a
WR2 WR3	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a 21.62±1.41 a 16.45±0.53 a 15.22±0.50 a 27.44±0.73 a 26.59±0.47 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a 5.91±0.38 a 3.64±0.15 a 4.53±0.19 a 14.90±0.64 a 15.97±0.49 a	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a 18.69±1.04 a 18.88±1.42 a 15.68±0.94 a 37.03±2.31 a 37.63±1.47 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a 5.10±0.17 a 4.16±0.36 a 4.66±0.33 a 20.24±1.81 a 22.71±1.50 a	$3.05\pm0.07 a$ $3.03\pm0.03 a$ $4.01\pm0.10 a$ $3.85\pm0.06 a$ $3.60\pm0.07 a$ $3.49\pm0.04 a$ $3.53\pm0.07 a$ $3.43\pm0.09 a$ $5.19\pm0.12 a$ $4.92\pm0.06 a$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.43 \pm 0.06 \text{ b} \\ 1.70 \pm 0.05 \text{ a} \\ 1.11 \pm 0.03 \text{ a} \\ 1.22 \pm 0.05 \text{ a} \\ 0.85 \pm 0.03 \text{ a} \\ 0.95 \pm 0.02 \text{ a} \\ 0.78 \pm 0.03 \text{ b} \\ 1.02 \pm 0.05 \text{ a} \\ 2.81 \pm 0.12 \text{ a} \\ 2.97 \pm 0.13 \text{ a} \end{array}$	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a 5.68±015 a 5.91±0.29 a 5.49±0.25 a 9.00±0.48 a 9.45±0.37 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a 1.55±0.06 1.31±0.07 a 1.64±0.10 a 4.88±0.22 a 5.71±0.42 a
WR2 WR3 WR4	70 % WHC 40 % WHC 70 % WHC 70 % WHC 40 %	Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont. NST Cont NST Cont	13.47±0.47 b 17.11±0.46 a 16.83±0.21 a 15.81±0.33 a 21.22±1.07 a 21.62±1.41 a 16.45±0.53 a 15.22±0.50 a 27.44±0.73 a 26.59±0.47 a 23.16±0.48 a	6.37±0.46 b 9.33±0.28 a 4.67±0.20 a 5.04±0.26 a 5.07±0.30 a 5.91±0.38 a 3.64±0.15 a 4.53±0.19 a 14.90±0.64 a 15.97±0.49 a 9.85±0.54 b	17.36±0.45 b 19.32±0.30 a 25.70±1.09 a 26.61±0.99 a 20.93±1.19 a 18.69±1.04 a 18.88±1.42 a 15.68±0.94 a 37.03±2.31 a 37.63±1.47 a 32.29±1.37 a	8.16±0.34 b 10.53±0.15 a 7.14±0.45 a 8.46±0.44 a 4.97±0.21 a 5.10±0.17 a 4.16±0.36 a 4.66±0.33 a 20.24±1.81 a 22.71±1.50 a 13.65±0.53 a	3.05±0.07 a 3.03±0.03 a 4.01±0.10 a 3.85±0.06 a 3.60±0.07 a 3.49±0.04 a 3.53±0.07 a 3.43±0.09 a 5.19±0.12 a 4.92±0.06 a 4.69±0.06 a	1.43±0.06 b 1.70±0.05 a 1.11±0.03 a 1.22±0.05 a 0.85±0.03 a 0.95±0.02 a 0.78±0.03 b 1.02±0.05 a 2.81±0.12 a 2.97±0.13 a 1.99±0.13 a	5.50±0.12 a 5.32±0.10 a 7.22±0.32 a 7.08±0.09 a 5.63±0.27 a 5.68±015 a 5.91±0.29 a 5.49±0.25 a 9.00±0.48 a 9.45±0.37 a 9.20±0.22 a	2.59±0.10 a 2.89±0.06 a 2.01±0.15 a 2.25±0.07 a 1.35±0.08 a 1.55±0.06 1.31±0.07 a 1.64±0.10 a 4.88±0.22 a 5.71±0.42 a 3.92±0.28 a

# 4.4.2. Experiment 2

An additional experiment was conducted to test the drought protective NST effects, evaluated in the first experiment, on two different soil types; a silty loam pH 6.9 and a sandy loam pH 5.6. Apart from the highly NST-responsive genotype WR2 identified in experiment 1, two additional genotypes WR5 and WR6 were included in the setup of experiment 2.

OSR genotypes	Са	Ρ	К	Mg	Fe	Mn	Cu	Zn
	[mg g <sup>-1]</sup>	[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg g-¹]	[µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µg g⁻¹]
WR2	4.15	5.28	7.06	2.48	62.90	28.90	3.60	36.16
WR5	4.03	8.24	7.56	3.09	75.00	39.10	3.62	49.52
WR6	4.95	7.40	7.65	2.68	49.70	18.60	3.95	30.82

Table 4.3: Seed mineral nutrient contents of the tested OSR genotypes, WR2, WR5 & WR6

A comparative analysis of the native seed mineral nutrient concentrations revealed the lowest levels of Fe, Zn, and Mn in WR6 (Table. 4.3) as micronutrients supplemented in the NST variants.

## 4.4.2.1. Plant growth and nutritional status

Generally, reduced plant growth (Fig. 4.4) and lower shoot biomass production on pH 5.6 soil as compared to pH 6.9 was detectable for all genotypes even before onset of the drought stress treatment but also after drought recovery (Table 4.4), The highest shoot and root biomass production was recorded for WR6, which was lowest in WR2 (Table 4.4). Also stress symptoms during the drought period (wilting, leaf rolling) were more intensively expressed on the sandy loam pH 5.6 (Fig. 4.4). At the end of the 7d recovery period on both soils, irreversible leaf damage (permanent wilting, chlorosis, necrosis) was most strongly expressed in WR2 (45-46%) followed by WR5 (34-39%) and finally WR6 (22-31%). Significant NST-mediated reductions in drought-induced leaf damage were recorded for WR5 on the pH 5.6 soil and WR2 on the pH 6.9 soil with a similar trend for the soil with pH 5.6. Nutrient seed treatment significantly

increased shoot and root dry matter production in all three genotypes on the pH 5.6 soil. This was associated with a higher root length development, which was detectable in WR2 also on the pH 6.9 soil (Table 4.4). A significant increase in shoot biomass production on the pH 6.9 soil was detectable only in WR6. Generally, NST-induced growth responses were most strongly expressed in WR2, and the lowest responsiveness was recorded in WR6.



Fig. 4.4: Shoot growth and expression of drought stress symptoms of three OSR genotypes (WR2, WR5, WR6) before (A) and after (B) 7d of growth at a soil moisture level of 40% WHC.

After drought recovery, the nutritional status for all investigated nutrients (P, K, Ca, Mg, Zn, Mn, Fe & Cu) reached the sufficiency range in all treatments and all genotypes (Campbell, 2013). High Mn concentrations were recorded on the acidic pH 5.6 soil (Table 4.5).

Table 4.4: Shoot, root dry biomass production, root length an activity of ascorbate peroxidase in leaves of oilseed rape hybrids (WR2, WR5, WR6) grown on a sandy loam soil pH (5.6) & a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at  $23 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 5 weeks with and without NST. Data represent means and SE of 5 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

			Leaf number plant <sup>-1</sup>	Damaged leaves [%]	SDW [mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	RDW [mg plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	RL [cm plant <sup>-1</sup> ]	Leaf APX activity [Units g <sup>-1</sup> FW]
	Sandy loam pH	Cont.	4.0±0.14 a	45.0 a	240.41±3.64 b	34.42±1.01 b	1395.41±27.74 b	149.8±8.05 b
\A/D2	5.6	NST	4.2±0.10 a	36.1 a	275.35±6.93 a	38.80±0.99 a	1606.02±35.47 a	238.15±11.10 a
VVKZ		Cont.	4.7±0.13 a	46.2 a	350.76±6.69 a	41.62±1.49 a	1723.04±38.91 b	281.46±17.07 b
	Sity loam pr 6.9	NST	4.5±0.05 a	34.8 b	344.42±11.3 a	45.94±1.45 a	1884.7±40.92 a	345.91±13.78 a
	Sandy loam pH	Cont.	4.4±0.14 a	38.6 a	253.34±5.62 b	34.91±0.83 b	1376.92±26.95 b	158.9±9.66 b
	5.6	NST	4.6±0.17a	26.4 b	287.91±1.68 a	43.24±0.99 a	1538.91±22.97 a	258.38±4.63 a
WKS		Cont.	4.7±0.13 a	34.0 a	353.23±2.84 b	46.23±1.48 a	1678.66±51.63 a	311.64±6.56 b
	Sity loam pr 6.9	NST	4.6±0.13 a	34.1 a	388.54±8.76 a	51.15±1.05 a	1738.88±27.52 a	349.94±11.43 a
	Sandy loam pH	Cont.	4.0±0.05 a	21.5 a	264.87±3.90 b	28.11±0.58 b	1349.5±32.37 b	116.37±2.76 b
MDC	5.6	NST	3.8±0.08 a	22.4 a	275.48±6.81 a	32.40±0.65 a	1495.75±45.55 a	217.21±4.56 a
WKD		Cont.	4.2±0.05 a	31.3 a	393.59±10.10 a	35.23±1.10 a	1836.71±35.28 a	257.03±6.90 b
	Silty loam pH 6.9	NST	4.2±0.17 a	31.3 a	395.46±15.90 a	36.44±0.39 a	1862.81±41.76 a	326.96±8.25 a

Table 4.5: Shoot mineral concentrations and contents of oilseed rape hybrids (WR2, WR5 & WR6) grown on a sandy loam soil pH (5.6) & a silty loam soil (pH 6.9) at 23  $\pm$  2°C for 5 Weeks with and without NST. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

			Zn		Mn						
		Sandy loa	am pH 5.6	Silty loa	m pH 6.9	Sandy loam pH 5.6 S			Silty loam pH 6.9		
		[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]		
\A/D2	Cont	58.95 <u>+</u> 1.42 a	14.12 <u>+</u> 0.55 a	31.26 <u>+</u> 2.04 a	10.93 <u>+</u> 0.67 a	289.76 <u>+</u> 14.10 a	69.41 <u>+</u> 4.23 b	78.80 <u>+</u> 2.15 a	27.60 <u>+</u> 1.54 a		
VVKZ	NST	56.55 <u>+</u> 2.06 a	15.53+ 0.93 a	32.26 <u>+</u> 1.19 a	11.10 <u>+</u> 0.74 a	294.04 <u>+</u> 3.68 a	80.77 <u>+</u> 3.42 a	77.15 <u>+</u> 2.18 a	26.58 <u>+</u> 2.06 a		
	Cont	62.90 <u>+</u> 3.19 a	15.88 <u>+</u> 0.97 b	32.72 <u>+</u> 1.32 a	11.56 <u>+</u> 0.47 a	316.17 <u>+</u> 22.99 b	79.87 <u>+</u> 6.99 b	97.24 <u>+</u> 0.29 a	34.34 <u>+</u> 0.61 a		
WKS	NST	61.30 <u>+</u> 1.26 a	17.59 <u>+</u> 0.53 a	32.88 <u>+</u> 2.40 a	12.76 <u>+</u> 1.05 a	341.13 <u>+</u> 10.92 a	97.83 <u>+</u> 2.66 a	101.96 <u>+</u> 6.0 a	39.61 <u>+</u> 3.59 a		
	Cont	63.62 <u>+</u> 3.68 a	16.53 <u>+</u> 0.76 a	34.20 <u>+</u> 1.76 a	13.46 <u>+</u> 1.07 a	306.81 <u>+</u> 7.80 a	79.77 <u>+</u> 1.11 a	88.52 <u>+</u> 3.74 a	34.79 <u>+</u> 1.40 a		
VVKO	NST	59.18 <u>+</u> 2.17 a	16.29 <u>+</u> 1.07 a	32.43 <u>+</u> 1.07 a	12.82 <u>+</u> 1.30 a	304.18 <u>+</u> 8.21 a	83.60 <u>+</u> 2.33 a	83.13 <u>+</u> 4.97 a	32.91 <u>+</u> 4.08 a		
			F	e		Cu					
		Sandy loa	am pH 5.6	Silty loa	m pH 6.9	Sandy loar	n pH 5.6	Silty loam pH 6.9			
		[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant⁻¹]	[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant⁻¹]	[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant⁻¹]	[µgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[µgplant⁻¹]		
\A/D2	Cont	159.36 <u>+</u> 7.46 b	38.18 <u>+</u> 2.48 b	136.85 <u>+</u> 13.88 a	47.87 <u>+</u> 4.65 a	12.35 <u>+</u> 0.42 a	2.96 <u>+</u> 0.12 b	9.51 <u>+</u> 0.49 a	3.33+ 0.18 a		
VVITZ	NST	173.83 <u>+</u> 2.75 a	47.77 <u>+</u> 2.56 a	148.46 <u>+</u> 11.97 a	51.09 <u>+</u> 4.59 a	12.53 <u>+</u> 0.29 a	3.45 <u>+</u> 0.24 a	7.84 <u>+</u> 0.02 b	2.70 <u>+</u> 0.18 b		
	Cont	304.05 <u>+</u> 49.46 a	76.63 <u>+</u> 11.51 a	356.16 <u>+</u> 8.15 a	125.83 <u>+</u> 4.81 a	12.84 <u>+</u> 1.41 a	3.23 <u>+</u> 0.29 b	10.37 <u>+</u> 0.62 a	3.67 <u>+</u> 0.25 a		
VVKJ	NST	329.27 <u>+</u> 36.38 a	94.44 <u>+</u> 10.33 a	268.53 <u>+</u> 27.31 b	104.06 <u>+</u> 9.25 a	14.19 <u>+</u> 0.46 a	4.07 <u>+</u> 0.10 a	10.49 <u>+</u> 0.47 a	4.08 <u>+</u> 0.33 a		
	Cont	490.2 <u>+</u> 10.48 a	127.47 <u>+</u> 10.33 a	222.46 <u>+</u> 3.5 <mark>6 b</mark>	87.55 <u>+</u> 5.56 b	14.25 <u>+</u> 0.30 a	3.70 <u>+</u> 0.11 a	9.84 <u>+</u> 0.02 a	3.87 <u>+</u> 0.20 a		
WKO				~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~ ~~		10 - 0 0 0 0	2 74 0 20	0 50 0 11	2 76 2 44		

			Са					К			
		Sandy loa	ım pH 5.6	Silty loa	m pH 6.9	Sandy loam pH 5.6 Silty			y loam pH 6.9		
		[mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	[mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]		
\A/D2	Cont	23.10 <u>+</u> 0.49 a	5.54 <u>+</u> 0.25 b	33.27 <u>+</u> 0.99 a	11.64 <u>+</u> 0.43 a	45.68 <u>+</u> 1.52 a	10.95 <u>+</u> 0.59 a	49.31 <u>+</u> 2.68 a	17.25 <u>+</u> 0.89 a		
WKZ -	NST	24.38 <u>+</u> 0.93 a	6.70 <u>+</u> 0.29 a	32.34 <u>+</u> 0.80 a	11.14 <u>+</u> 0.76 a	45.10 <u>+</u> 1.45 a	12.40 <u>+</u> 0.10 a	53.63 <u>+</u> 3.27 a	18.48 <u>+</u> 1.82 a		
	Cont	24.52 <u>+</u> 0.72 a	6.19 <u>+</u> 0.31 a	30.05 <u>+</u> 2.23 a	10.61 <u>+</u> 0.77 a	40.56 <u>+</u> 3.10 a	10.24 <u>+</u> 0.95 b	43.84 <u>+</u> 2.58 a	15.62+ 0.45 a		
WKS	NST	23.53 <u>+</u> 0.16 a	6.75 <u>+</u> 0.11 a	31.19 <u>+</u> 3.02 a	12.08 <u>+</u> 0.99 a	40.16 <u>+</u> 0.47 a	11.52 <u>+</u> 0.25 a	43.17 <u>+</u> 0.43 a	16.76 <u>+</u> 0.88 a		
MDC	Cont	22.93 <u>+</u> 0.77 a	5.97 <u>+</u> 0.28 b	28.69 <u>+</u> 1.36 a	11.28 <u>+</u> 0.66 a	51.82 <u>+</u> 0.76 a	13.48 <u>+</u> 0.37 a	47.42 <u>+</u> 2.07 a	18.67 <u>+</u> 0.25 a		
VVKO -	NST	23.8 <u>+</u> 0.43 a	6.54 <u>+</u> 0.33 a	30.63 <u>+</u> 1.68 a	12.07 <u>+</u> 0.55 a	47.43 <u>+</u> 0.32 a	13.05 <u>+</u> 0.66 a	50.01 <u>+</u> 1.73 a	19.72 <u>+</u> 0.21 a		
			N	ſg			Р				
		Sandy loa	N 1m pH 5.6	Ag Silty loa	m pH 6.9	Sandy loa	P m pH 5.6	Silty loar	m pH 6.9		
		Sandy loa [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	M Im pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	<b>/lg</b> Silty loar [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	Sandy loa [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	P m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]	Silty loai [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ]	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ]		
	Cont	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.91 <u>+</u> 0.11 a	N 1m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.42 <u>+</u> 0.04 a	<b>1g</b> Silty loar [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.28 <u>+</u> 0.49 a	<b>т рН 6.9</b> [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.19 <u>+</u> 0.18 а	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.34 <u>+</u> 0.08 a	P m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.28 <u>+</u> 0.05 a	<b>Silty loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.85 <u>+</u> 0.10 a	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.4 <u>+</u> 0.11 a		
	Cont	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.91 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 6.09 <u>+</u> 0.24 a	<b>N</b> Im pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.42 <u>+</u> 0.04 a 1.67 <u>+</u> 0.05 a	<b>1g</b> Silty load [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.28 <u>+</u> 0.49 a 6.47 <u>+</u> 0.25 a	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.19 <u>+</u> 0.18 a 2.23 <u>+</u> 0.19 a	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.34 <u>+</u> 0.08 a 5.62 <u>+</u> 0.57 a	P m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.28 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.54 <u>+</u> 0.19 a	<b>Silty loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.85 <u>+</u> 0.10 a 7.42 <u>+</u> 0.25 a	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.4 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 2.55 <u>+</u> 0.13 a		
WR2 -	Cont NST Cont	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.91 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 6.09 <u>+</u> 0.24 a 6.65 <u>+</u> 0.15 a	N m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.42 <u>+</u> 0.04 a 1.67 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.68 <u>+</u> 0.07 b	<b>1g</b> Silty load [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.28 <u>+</u> 0.49 a 6.47 <u>+</u> 0.25 a 7.14 <u>+</u> 0.08 b	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.19 <u>+</u> 0.18 a 2.23 <u>+</u> 0.19 a 2.52 <u>+</u> 0.06 b	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.34 <u>+</u> 0.08 a 5.62 <u>+</u> 0.57 a 5.37 <u>+</u> 0.29 a	P m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.28 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.54 <u>+</u> 0.19 a 1.36 <u>+</u> 0.08 b	<b>Silty loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.85 <u>+</u> 0.10 a 7.42 <u>+</u> 0.25 a 6.0 <u>+</u> 0.18 b	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.4 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 2.55 <u>+</u> 0.13 a 2.14 <u>+</u> 0.05 b		
WR2 -	Cont NST Cont NST	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.91 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 6.09 <u>+</u> 0.24 a 6.65 <u>+</u> 0.15 a 6.72 <u>+</u> 0.17 a	N m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.42 <u>+</u> 0.04 a 1.67 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.68 <u>+</u> 0.07 b 1.93 <u>+</u> 0.04 a	<b>Ag</b> Silty loan [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.28 <u>+</u> 0.49 a 6.47 <u>+</u> 0.25 a 7.14 <u>+</u> 0.08 b 7.56 <u>+</u> 0.18 a	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.19 <u>+</u> 0.18 a 2.23 <u>+</u> 0.19 a 2.52 <u>+</u> 0.06 b 2.93 <u>+</u> 0.11 a	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.34 <u>+</u> 0.08 a 5.62 <u>+</u> 0.57 a 5.37 <u>+</u> 0.29 a 5.36 <u>+</u> 0.05 a	P m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.28 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.54 <u>+</u> 0.19 a 1.36 <u>+</u> 0.08 b 1.54 <u>+</u> 0.02 a	<b>Silty loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.85 <u>+</u> 0.10 a 7.42 <u>+</u> 0.25 a 6.0 <u>+</u> 0.18 b 6.59 <u>+</u> 0.20 a	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.4 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 2.55 <u>+</u> 0.13 a 2.14 <u>+</u> 0.05 b 2.56 <u>+</u> 0.17 a		
WR2 -	Cont NST Cont NST Cont	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.91 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 6.09 <u>+</u> 0.24 a 6.65 <u>+</u> 0.15 a 6.72 <u>+</u> 0.17 a 6.38 <u>+</u> 0.18 a	N m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.42 <u>+</u> 0.04 a 1.67 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.68 <u>+</u> 0.07 b 1.93 <u>+</u> 0.04 a 1.66 <u>+</u> 0.07 a	<b>1g</b> Silty loar [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 6.28± 0.49 a 6.47± 0.25 a 7.14± 0.08 b 7.56± 0.18 a 6.94± 0.25 a	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 2.19 <u>+</u> 0.18 a 2.23 <u>+</u> 0.19 a 2.52 <u>+</u> 0.06 b 2.93 <u>+</u> 0.11 a 2.73 <u>+</u> 0.15 a	<b>Sandy loa</b> [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] 5.34 <u>+</u> 0.08 a 5.62 <u>+</u> 0.57 a 5.37 <u>+</u> 0.29 a 5.36 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 5.15 <u>+</u> 0.28 a	P m pH 5.6 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] 1.28 <u>+</u> 0.05 a 1.54 <u>+</u> 0.19 a 1.36 <u>+</u> 0.08 b 1.54 <u>+</u> 0.02 a 1.34 <u>+</u> 0.06 a	Silty loan [mgg <sup>-1</sup> ] $6.85\pm0.10 \text{ a}$ $7.42\pm0.25 \text{ a}$ $6.0\pm0.18 \text{ b}$ $6.59\pm0.20 \text{ a}$ $6.20\pm0.36 \text{ a}$	m pH 6.9 [mgplant <sup>-1</sup> ] $2.4\pm 0.11$ a $2.55\pm 0.13$ a $2.14\pm 0.05$ b $2.56\pm 0.17$ a $2.43\pm 0.12$ a		

# 4.4.2.2. Physiological stress indicators

The analysis of physiological drought stress indicators revealed a significantly increased shoot activity of ascorbate peroxidase (APX) induced by NST on both soils and all genotypes. The activity was generally lower on the pH 5.6 soil as compared with pH 6.9 (Table 4.4). However, the relative NST-induced increase in APX activity was higher on the sandy-loam pH 5.6 (59-87%) than on the clay-loam pH 6.9 (12-27%).

Total phenolics, total antioxidants, proline, and the phytohormonal status were investigated in the two most contrasting genotypes with respect to the NST response, WR2, and WR6. There was a general trend for increased concentrations of phenolics and total antioxidants but a reduced accumulation of proline in the youngest-fully developed leaves, although the differences were not significant in all cases. The most drought-sensitive and NST-responsive genotype WR2 shows the highest NST-induced increase in the concentration of total phenolics and antioxidants under the most challenging growth conditions on the pH 5.6 soil but the lowest accumulation of the drought stress metabolite proline (Table 4.6).

Concerning the hormonal status, the IAA concentration in the youngest fully developed leaves (source tissue) was significantly increased by NST in all tested genotypes. Interestingly, in the less drought-sensitive genotype WR6, also the concentrations of GA and the stress hormones ABA, Salicylic acid (SA) and Jasmonic acid (JA) were substantially increased by NST in both soils (Table 4.7).

Table 4.6: Total phenolics (gallic acid equivalents), total antioxidants and proline status of the youngest fully developed leaf of the oilseed rape (WR2 & WR6) three days after recovery from the drought phase. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

			Total phenolics [mg g <sup>-1</sup> FW]	Total Antioxidants [%] Inhibition	Proline [mg g <sup>-1</sup> FW]
\A/D2	Sandy Jaam nu F C	Cont.	1.18±0.03 b	38.14±1.47 b	2.13±0.06 a
WKZ	Sandy loam pri 5.6	NST	1.51±0.03 a	56.33±1.86 a	1.38±0.08 b
	Sandy Jaam nu F C	Cont.	1.44±0.03 b	52.24±1.71 a	1.55±0.07 a
	Sandy loam pri 5.6	NST	1.77±0.08 a	57.16±0.80 a	1.35±0.03 a
WKO		Cont.	2.06±0.07 a	63.30±0.94 b	1.10±0.04 a
	Silly loam pH 6.9	NST	2.28±0.05 a	72.38±1.32 a	0.73±0.05 b

Table 4.7: Hormone-status of the youngest fully developed leaf of oilseed rape (WR2 & WR6) three days after the recovery from the drought phase grown at 23 ± 2°C. Data represent means and SE of 4 replicates. Different characters indicate significant differences between treatments.

			IAA	Zeatin	GA	ABA	JA	SA
			[ng g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[pg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[ng g⁻¹]	[ng g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[pg g <sup>-1</sup> ]	[ng g <sup>-1</sup> ]
\A/D2	Sandy Joam nH E C	Cont.	1.13+ 0.04 b	23.74±1.15 a	1.09+0.02 a	0.68+0.01 a	6.45±0.11 a	1.12+ 0.07 a
VVKZ	Sandy Ioani pri 5.6	NST	1.41+ 0.09 a	25.89±0.29 a	0.97+ 0.06 a	0.64+0.01 a	6.17±0.23 a	1.21+ 0.08 a
	Sandy Joan all F C	Cont.	1.58+ 0.04 b	25.41±0.77b	0.98+ 0.04 b	0.62+0.02 b	5.84±0.04 b	1.31+0.02 b
	Sandy Ioani pri 5.6 -	NST	2.95+ 0.15 a	49.86±1.22 a	1.85+0.09 a	1.38+0.03 a	13.10±0.83 a	2.50+ 0.06 a
WKO		Cont.	0.69+ 0.03 b	11.63±0.45 b	0.38+ 0.01 b	0.28+0.01 b	8.53±0.25 b	0.11+ 0.02 b
	Slity loam pH 6.9 –	NST	2.76+ 0.03 a	52.52±1.72 a	1.69+ 0.02 a	1.32+0.02 a	11.8±0.39 a	2.30+ 0.08 a

### 4.5. Discussion

This study was conducted to analyze the potential role of nutrient seed treatment (NST) and its implications on drought stress responses during early growth in different OSR genotypes, on two different soils (sandy loam pH 5.6 vs silty loam pH 6.9).

# 4.5.1 Drought responses

In accordance with previous studies (Ashraf et al., 2013), the investigated OSR genotypes exposed to the drought conditions reduced the root and shoot biomass (5-32%) and leaf expansion (Table 4.1 and 4; Figs. 4.2 and 4.3). Reduction in shoot growth is a general response of drought or water deficit conditions due to the higher production of the stress hormone ABA (Achard et al., 2006, Qadri et al., 2006), causing inhibitory growth effects via declining levels of the growth hormone gibberellic acid, leading to increased accumulation of DELLA proteins as transcription factors triggering shoot growth inhibition (Liu and Hou, 2018; Wu et al., 2020). During the early stages of water limitation, this is an active adaptive response to reduce the surface area involved in transpiratory water losses (Daszkowska-Golec, 2016). In this context, ABA also triggers closure of stomata (Achard et al., 2006) and the deposition of leaf cuticular waxes (Kosma et al., 2009), as indicated also in this study (Fig. 4.2). Additionally, ABA is involved in stimulation of root growth to improve nutrient and water acquisition under moderate drought stress (Yuan et al., 2020). Moreover, ABA acts in a cross talk with jasmonic acid (JA) and salicylic acid (SA) as a central regulator of defense reactions against drought-induced over-production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which leads to oxidative damage of membranes, photosynthesis pigments and other cell structures. (Kharadmand et al., 2014, Mondal & Khujuria 2000), observed as irreversible leaf damage (chlorosis, necrosis, wilting) also in this study (Table 4.1 and 4.4). However, under long-term water deficit, ABA-induced stomatal closure affects photosynthesis (Sharma et al., 1993) and finally carbon supply to the root system, leading to inhibitory effects on root growth.

The finding that in this study, both, shoot and root growth (Table 4.2 and 4.4) were affected by the one-week drought stress treatments, associated with irreversible oxidative leaf damage even after one-week recovery under well-watered conditions (Table 4.1 and 4.4), demonstrates that the intensity of drought stress already exceeded

the adaptive potential of the investigated OSR genotypes in terms of ROS detoxification. However, the genotype-dependent expression in severity of stress symptoms points to genotype or seed lot effects, with impact on the efficiency of the adaptive tolerance mechanisms. With respect to the intensity of stress symptoms, WR2 and WR3 were characterized as particularly sensitive, while WR4 and WR6 as more tolerant. To answer the question whether these observations are reflecting seed lot effects or true genotypic differences, additional tests with different seed lots of the same genotype would be required.

Additionally, the expression of drought stress symptoms was also affected by the soil type. Reduced plant growth even prior to drought stress and later a stronger expression of drought stress symptoms was noted in a sandy loam soil pH 5.6 as compared with a silty loam pH 6.9 (Fig. 4.4, Table 4.4). This may be explained by the higher sand content of the sandy loam, which limits the ability to retain water, resulting in a lower WHC as compared with the clay loam soil (sandy loam 21 %, silty loam 25 %) and more rapid and intense expression of water limitation, Nutrient limitation on the investigated pH 5.6 soil seems to be unlikely in face of a full N-P-K-Mg fertilization and a sufficient micro-and macronutrient status (Campbell, 2013), recorded even after recovery from the drought stress treatment (Table 4.5). However, high Mn shoot concentrations (> 300  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> shoot DM) due to high Mn solubility on the low-pH soil (Table 4.5) may be related with moderate toxicity effects, limiting plant growth particularly under well-watered conditions, since high soil moisture levels further promote Mn solubility (Marschner. 1995).

### 4.5.2 Effects of NST on growth responses and nutritional status

In both experiments, NST showed protective effects against drought stress in terms of reduced oxidative leaf damage, root growth promotion and shoot biomass production which were influenced by the genotype and the soil type. Generally, the expression of drought-protective NST effects was most apparent in genotypes with high drought sensitivity (WR2 and WR3) and under soil conditions promoting the expression of drought stress (sandy loam soil pH 5.6).

In both experiments, NST consistently increased root length development in all genotypes and to some extent even under well-watered conditions (Tables 4.2 and

4.4). Similar results were found also in the experiments conducted with Zn priming and Zn seed dressing winter rape and spring rape, exposed to optimal (23°C) and suboptimal (12°C) root zone temperatures (Neumann et al., 2014), suggesting that the Zn component of the NST formulation provided an essential contribution to the protective effects. Particularly under water deficit conditions, an extended root system is crucial for water (Zhang et al., 2014; White et al., 2015) and nutrient uptake. The beneficial effect of Ca and Zn seed priming was also reported under water deficit conditions in lentils and faba beans, respectively (Farooq e al., 2020; Farooq e al., 2021). Mackay and Barber (1985a) reported that especially the acquisition of sparingly soluble nutrients under severe drought stress is much stronger limited by root growth inhibition (50-70%) than by the drought-induced limitation in the solubility of the respective nutrients (10-30%). Accordingly, beneficial effects of NST on root growth, recorded for all tested genotypes in experiment 1 (Table 4.2) translated into a general trend for improved shoot accumulation of all investigated nutrients, although not significant in all cases (Table 4.2). Significant effects were mainly found in the most drought affected genotypes. Also, the improved NST-induced plant performance on the sandy loam soil pH 5.6 in experiment 2 could be associated with increased root length development observed across the genotypes (WR2 29%, WR5 22%, WR6 20%) (Table 4.3), enabling a more efficient exploration of a larger soil volume, for the acquisition of water and essential sparingly soluble nutrients. This aspect is particularly important for nonmycorrhizal plant species, such as OSR, completely dependent on root-mediated nutrient acquisition and consequently lacking also drought-protective physiological effects of arbuscular-mycorrhizal associations (Begum et al., 2019).

### 4.5.3 Interactions of NST with physiological stress indicators

The increased root length formation induced by NST was associated with increased leaf ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity, particularly expressed on the most drought-affected sandy loam soil, which acts as a critical enzyme for drought stress-induced ROS detoxification (Caverzan et al.,2012). The protective enzymatic system for ROS detoxification (superoxide dismutase, catalase, ascorbate peroxidase etc.) depends on various sparingly soluble micronutrients (Zn, Mn, Cu, Fe) acting as co-factors (Cakmak 2000; Caverzan et al.,2012), which were at least partially provided by the NST formulation. The same holds true also for non-enzymatic ROS detoxification via

compounds with antioxidative properties (e.g. ascorbic acid and phenolics), requiring Mn and Cu as co-factors for their biosynthesis (Datnoff et al., 2007). Accordingly, also the shoot accumulation of phenolics and antioxidants was increased by NST (Table 4.6) particularly under the most severe drought stress conditions (WR2 on pH 5.6 soil). Due to low solubility, micronutrient acquisition is particularly affected in dry soils, even when the supply is sufficient under well-watered conditions as indicated in Table 4.5. Excessive stress-induced ROS formation leads to oxidative cell damage, indicated e.g. by irreversible chlorosis and necrosis of leaves, which was obviously mitigated by NST-mediated micronutrient supply (Table 4.4). However, also Ca seed treatments as another component of the NST formulation can contribute to membrane protection and oxidative stress alleviation (Maathuis et al., 2009; Hussain et al., 2016).

Moreover, excessive ROS production can induce also oxidative degradation of indole acetic acid (IAA) as a major shoot-borne regulator of root growth (Cakmak et al. 1989). Accordingly in our study, a positive correlation ( $R^2$ =0.8953) between root length and APX activity may suggest APX-mediated ROS detoxification induced by NST (Fig. 4.5), thereby reducing oxidative auxin degradation, and finally resulting in elevated auxin concentrations (Table 4.7) triggering the observed stimulation of root growth (Table 4.4).



Fig. 4.5: Relationship between leaf ascorbate peroxidase (APX) activity and root length (RL) in the investigated OSR plants after 7d recovey from a 7 d-drought stress period at 40% soil water-holding capacity.

Therefore, micronutrient supplementation by nutrient seed treatments may support ROS detoxification, providing sufficient auxin supply for the stimulation of shoot and root growth, also documented in the literature (Cakmak et al., 1989, Moradtalab et al., 2018). Since APX as many other peroxidases is an iron-protein (Caverzan et al.,2012), the Fe component of the NST formulation may be of particular importance in this context, although at the end of the recovery period, the Fe status was sufficient in all cases. This underlines the importance to perform intermediate nutrient analyses also during the drought period for future studies.

Also the stress hormone ABA, which acts as a central regulator of adaptive drought stress responses in a cross-talk with jasmonic acid and salicylic acid (Riemann et al. 2015) was upregulated together with JA and SA by NST at least in the less drought-sensitive genotype WR6 (Table 4.7). Apart from the down-regulating of stomatal aperture and shoot growth, ABA is also involved in drought-adaptive root growth stimulation (Yuan et al., 2020), induction of ROS defense responses (Mittler & Blumwald, 2015), and increased formation of cuticular waxes to reduce transpiration (Martin et al., 2017). Higher NST-induced levels of ABA, JA and SA may therefore indicate involvement in the induction of these adaptive responses and also explain the more intense and homogeneous cuticula formation observed in the drought-affected OSR plants (Figs. 4.1 and 4.2). The same situation (upregulation) also applied for the growth hormones zeatin and gibberellic acid (Table 4.7) known to stimulate shoot growth, which may indicate a better drought stress recovery also reflected by lower accumulation of the stress metabolite proline (Kaur & Asthir, 2015) in the NST variants (Table 4.6).

## 4.5.4 Stress priming effects

The finding that increased levels of the stress hormones ABA, JA and SA were detectable after recovery from the drought stress treatment may also point to a longer-lasting stress priming effect of NST, expressed at least in the less stress-affected WR6 genotype, which may improve the adaptive responsiveness also to potentially up-coming stress events. Overlapping signaling events of drought stress adaptations also with other stress factors such as salinity, heat or cold stress (Verma et al. 2016) may therefore suggest a broad stress-protective spectrum of NST-based applications as indicated also by literature reports (Mondal and Bose, 2019; Ullah et al. 2019). The longevity of the observed priming effects requires further investigation. However, recent reports on the effects of similar multi-nutrient seed treatments used in this study 102

(Wallenhammar & Stoltz, 2019), revealed shoot growth-promoting effects in field trials with spring rape detectable until early flowering (BBCH 60). The finding that the nutrient status in general and not only the treated nutrients were elevated (Table 4.5) points to a more indirect mode of action via beneficial NST effects on root system establishment during early growth, finally contributing to improved nutrient acquisition.

Nevertheless, the beneficial NST effects on early plant establishment do not always result in final yield improvements (Moradtalab et al., 2018; Wallenhammar and Stoltz, 2019) and the translation into yield benefits may depend also on the expression of the compensatory potential of a given genotype to recover after a stress event. However, due to the extremely low amounts of nutrients and active ingredients required, NST-based starter fertilization strategies can be regarded as cost-effective and resource-efficient approaches with prophylactic stress-protective potential for the early growth of OSR.

# Chapter 5

# 5. General Discussion

Seed treatment technologies are a rapidly growing market with a current market share of USD 6.4 billion in 2020 and is expected to reach USD 11.3 billion by 2025, with and annual growth rate of 12.1% (Markets & markets, 2020).

Seed treatments involve the application chemical, physical and biological agents applied prior to sowing to improve the health of crops. It can help to control seed and soil-borne diseases and pests, reduce germination time, promote seedling establishment and resistance to environmental stress factors finally contributing to improved overall productivity. On the basis of function, seed treatments can be classified into seed protection agents including fungicides and particularly insecticides with the currently highest market share of 60%. Targeting the the diseases and pests with lower dosages of active ingredients per hectare make it a sustainable agricultural practice, using these products and processes (Allied Market Research, 2020). However, according to recent developments, the highest growth rate forecasts are made for the second group of agents termed as seed enhancers. These products comprise biologicals including beneficial microorganisms with pathogen-suppressive and biofertilizer properties, micronutrients, plant growth regulators, seed priming and seed disinfection technologies. The increasing interest is related with rising awareness of environmental problems related to regular use of chemical plant protection agents and resistance problems resulting in more stringent governmental regulations. Moreover, an increasing impact of environmental stress factors such as drought, temperature extremes or heavy rainfall events related with climate change are interesting application fields with prospects for seed enhancers. Seed treatments are mostly used in high productivity cereals and grain crops, such as wheat and maize or oilseed crops like soybean or oilseed rape (OSR). In OSR chemical seed protection was the dominant application for seed treatments but in the recent past also seed enhancement is attracting increasing interest for the reasons mentioned above. Growth limiting environmental factors like temperature extremes, drought and occasional waterlogging demand a continuous effort to be made in the direction of reduction and alleviation of detrimental environmental effects. In the current study, the emerging nutrient seed priming (particularly zinc), and nutrient seed dressing techniques were characterized and adapted for optimal dosage for oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) evaluated in terms of the potential for alleviation of abiotic stress factors like low temperature and drought, as a contribution to product development, meanwhile used as a standard treatment for OSR hybrid seeds in practical applications.

# 5.1 Seed priming and seed dressing

Among the various seed treatment technologies including seed priming, seed coating, seed dressing, and seed pelleting, seed priming (SP) and seed dressing (SD) were addressed in the present study. Seed priming is a technique in which seeds are hydrated by soaking up to the point that is just before the radical protrusion (Chen et al., 2011).



Fig. 5.1 Impact of water priming on the acceleration of OSR plant development under field conditions in Canada (photo by courtesy of Volker Römheld)

The seeds are then dried-back and used for sowing. Extended hydration of seed may harm the germinating seedling while drying (Ajouri et al., 2004). Therefore, the duration of priming should be carefully accessed. Water seed priming helps to break seed dormancy, initiates the physiological process and mobilizes carbohydrates (Bawely and Black, 1982;). It is also known for reducing germination time, improving germination rate and establishing a uniform crop stand in various field crops (Harris, 1996; Harris and Johnes, 1997; Ajouri et al., 2004). Positive effects on early seedling growth under suitable and growth-limiting conditions have also been observed in maize, sunflower, rice and durum wheat (Rehman et al., 2011; Kaya et al., 2006; Goswami et al., 2013; Fercha et al., 2013).

Nutrient seed priming is the soaking of seeds with essential or protective mineral nutrients, combined with back-drying before sowing. The applied nutrient concentrations but also the duration of the priming period and even the speed of seed imbibition are critical factors determining the magnitude of an outcome (Imran et al., 2016) and therefore, need to be optimized for each crop for attaining highest possible positive plant growth effects. Excess concentrations of the primed nutrients can induce toxicity effects and potentially damage seed and inhibit seed germination (Roberts 1948). Particularly in large-seeded leguminous crops, such as soybean, rapid water uptake during the pre-soaking period can cause imbibition damage (Imran et al., 2016) known as a stress factor also during germination under excess soil moisture levels (Powell and Mathews, 1979), which can impair seed vigor and seedling development. Nutrient seed treatments (NST) have attracted increased interest in recent years. The nutrient seed priming potential, using essential micro and macronutrients, has been tested in various crops, both, under optimal and sub-optimal plant growth conditions. In this context, for seed priming with micronutrients such as zinc but also manganese and iron, also applied in combinations promising results have been reported in recent past. Zinc in the form of ZnSO<sub>4</sub> is a frequently used mineral nutrient for seed priming (Begum et al., 2014; Imran et al., 2015, 2018; Rehman et al., 2015). It is an essential plant micronutrient involved in various plant physiological processes with stressprotective properties. Therefore, based on the results of initial testing of different micronutrients including Zn, Mn, Fe Cu and also B, so far considered as one of the most important micronutrients in OSR culture, in the current study, a primary focus was placed on zinc seed priming and its responses to different application doses for oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) (chapter 1). This strategy was further extended by a comparative approach also considering seed dressing and multiple nutrient seed treatments.

In the present study, an optimum pre-germination soaking time duration of 24 hours was determined for the priming treatments by soaking seeds into the water for 8, 16, 24, and 32 hours (data not shown). Munz et al. (2017) demonstrated the water entrance pathway into the seed between 0 and 24 h, using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) technique, suggesting 24 hours of soaking time appropriate for seed hydration. However, seed water uptake mainly depends on the seed architecture and seed coat properties, which may differ even in different seed lots. Accordingly, Imran et al. (2016) reported much shorter optimum priming periods of only 12 h in soybean. For determination of the optimal treatment dosage, seeds were tested over a wide range of zinc concentration (10  $\mu$ M – 100 mM) in the priming media. Out of the tested zinc dose ranges, a potentially viable dose range (10-75  $\mu$ M) was selected for further optimization and investigating the response under various plant growth conditions, mainly in model experiments and also under field conditions.

#### 5.2 Seed treatment effects on the seed nutrient status

Seed nutrient reserves are crucial for early seedling growth and development but can affect also later stages of plant development either indirectly by promoting proper seedling establishment, resulting in improved health, resilience to environmental stress factors and nutrient acquisition efficiency, which can translate into improved general performance and yield. Due to the low absolute demand, direct longer-lasting effects are possible in case of micronutrients. Accordingly, wheat seeds with low Mn contents produced lower grain yields (Marcar and Graham 1986; Sing and Bharti 1985). Barley seeds with high zinc contents showed better vegetative growth compared to the seeds with low zinc contents (Genc et al., 2000). Since seed zinc reserves have a proven early seedling vigor and growth improvement effects (Grewal & Robin, 1997), nutrient seed priming is a way to improve the seed nutrient reserves. Seeds enriched with zinc through seed priming enhanced the seed nutrient status and final yield in barley and maize (Ajouri et al., 2004; Harris et al., 2007; Imran et al., 2013, 2015).

Similarly, in the present study, the seed zinc status has also been improved through zinc seed priming by up to 141% in high seed zinc inherited hybrid (SR1) and even by 284% in a hybrid (WR1) with low inherited seed zinc (chapter 2). The different uptake

response may be related to genotypic differences of the investigated OSR hybrids. However, even seed lots coming from different fields may express site-specific differences in seed zinc status resulting from different soil types, soil pH, environmental stress factors (chilling, heat or drought) or fertilization strategies. (chapter 3). Also, the localization of the primed zinc in oilseed rape is still unknown. Imran et al.,(2018) recently investigated the primed zinc deposition sites in maize seeds, which were found in the aleurone layer and partly in the seed embryo but a major fraction >60% sticking to the seed coat, representing the zinc deposition is cereals. In non-cereal/ dicots like oilseed rape, the deposition sites may differ. Also, the fate and potential plant availability of primed nutrients on the seed coat requires further investigation.



Figure 5.2: Optimized seed dressing formulation used in the experiments (S. Goertz, Rapool STWG)

Along with seed priming, seed dressing/coating is another seed enrichment technique that has been widely adopted particularly for commercial applications since no mechanization and energy requirements are necessary for re-drying, combination with seed protection agents (insecticides, fungicides and generally easier handling is possible. Unlike seed priming, in seed dressing, the seed enriching media are sticking to the outer seed surface without any alteration in the seed physiological status. Various chemical formulations are commercially available for seed treatment containing essential plant nutrients as a dressing/coating media. The beneficial effects of seed dressing have already been documented in sunflower, maize, wheat, cowpea, common beans and soybean (Ramesh and Thirumurugan 2001; Sing, 2007; Biscaro et al., 2009; Masuthi et al., 2009, Bradacova et al. 2016). Since no data was found on the oilseed rape seed dressing, it was worth testing and reporting the valuable results. In the recent study, nutrient seed dressing was included to evaluate the potential. Seed dressing was performed with zinc as ZnSO<sub>4</sub> alone (chapter 2) and in a combination of selected essential plant nutrients (chelated Zn, Mn, Fe) and macro-nutrients (Ca, K) (chapter 4).

### 5.3 Seed treatment effects on germination

The seed germination process starts with water imbibition, associated with metabolic activation and ends with radicle emergence (Bewley 1997). Seed priming allows the seed to complete the initial and intermediate phases of germination by activating seed metabolism. Subsequently, this process is interrupted by re-drying. The process of priming finishes as soon the seed metabolism is fully activated and ready to protrude the radicle The metabolically pre-activated seeds have obvious advantages over non-primed seeds, reported to speed up the germination process, improve germination rate, early seedling growth and vigor in many crop species (Harris et al., 1996; Harris & Jones, 1997; Ajouri et al., 2004). In oilseed rape, water seed priming increased germination by 33% and reduced germination time by 50% under low-temperature stress (Zheng et al., 1994).

Despite the fact, that for seed priming improved germination has been frequently reported, the current study recorded no clear germination improvements, neither for seed priming nor for seed dressing treatments conducted under optimum temperatures for plant growth and germination (23°C). This may be explained by comparatively high germination rates ranging between 80-88%, where further optimization is difficult to demonstrate However, strong positive germination trends were noted under low root zone temperature (12°C), leading to more homogenous seedling development of spring OSR with Zn seed priming (Chapter 2). Inhomogeneous germination at low soil temperature has been already reported by Li et al., 2013 and Hussain et al., 2016 in wheat and rice, respectively. Causes of a germination heterogeneity at low temperatures comprise membrane injury, overproduction of reactive oxygen species and the reduction of water uptake (Xing & Rajashekar., 2001; Nayyar et al., 2005; Li et al., 2013). Accordingly, at 12°C soil

temperature, untreated seeds reached only germination rates of 20%. Increased germination rates (+112.5%) and (+87.5%) corresponding to the treatments Zn.25 and Zn.50, respectively, indicated the stress-alleviatory s properties of water and zinc priming acting together at low soil temperature (Chapter 2). However, higher priming doses with Zn.75 exhibited a decreasing trend in germination rate, pointing to a potential Zn toxicity effect, which underlines the importance for optimization of the application doses.

### 5.3. Seed treatments effects on plant growth

### a) Shoot and Root development

Both seed priming and seed dressing are known to support plant growth and development, particularly at the initial stages of seedling development A better early seedling growth as a result of ZnSP has been reported in wheat, chickpea rice, maize, and soybean (Abdul Rehman et al., 2015, Aman Ullah et al. 2019, Prom-u-thai et al., 2012; Imran et al. 2013). The magnitude of responses may vary with changing seed treatment techniques and plant growing conditions, seed quality, and target plants.

In the present study, a smaller growth-related response was recorded, when zinc primed. Zinc dressed seeds were grown in optimal plant growth conditions (23°C, full NPK supply and optimum soil moisture) as compared with the presence of stress factors, such as low root zone temperature (12°C) (Chapter 2). However, regardless of the method of treatment, there were no substantial differences in shoot growth in terms of dry shoot weight (SDW) in the experiments conducted under optimal growth conditions (Table 2.2). By contrast, root growth was significantly improved by 31% and 49% corresponding to the best responsive treatments, each in SP and SD, at 10 and 14 days after sowing, respectively (Table 2.5, 2.7). This demonstrates the functional equivalence of both seed treatment techniques, as previously shown also or maize (Imran et al. 2013; Bradacova et al. 2016).

Similarly, also winter OSR plants grown with ammonium-phosphate depot fertilization (Fig. 5.3) preferentially showed improved root growth responses leading to faster exploitation of the fertilizer depot, without simultaneous stimulation of shoot growth in response to ZnSP treatments. Also, root development outside the depot zone and

particularly in deeper soil layers remained unaffected. This pattern of shoot and root development is in accordance with the requirements for the establishment of winter hardness in winter OSR with intense and healthy root development for improved winter survival and regeneration in spring and improved nutrient acquisition but at the same time avoiding excessive shoot growth before winter (Bauer, 2011). In this context, the stabilized ammonium depot as preferential nitrogen source may reduce root-induced cytokinin production known to stimulate preferential shoot growth responses (Walch-Liu et al., 2000; Rahaju et al., 2005; Römheld et al., 2008). At the same time, local ammonium-induced rhizosphere acidification counteracts P fixation and improves P availability (Table 3.3) particularly on neutral – alkaline soils (Jing et al., 2010; Bischoff, 2012).



Figure 5.3 Fine root proliferation in the ammonium depot zone under field conditions (Bischoff, 2012).

Taken together, the results suggest that Zn seed treatments may offer an option to further optimize ammonium-phosphate placement strategies in winter OSR to adapt N fertilization in autumn, limit N losses during the winter period, improve the plant P acquisition (Bischoff, 2012; Bibinger, 2018) particularly and speed up seedling development with particular relevance for late sowing approaches.

## b) Impact of stress conditions

In contrast to optimal growth temperatures, the plant response to zinc seed priming was much more intensively expressed at low RZT (12<sup>o</sup>C), as a common stress factor, e.g. during early seedling development in spring OSR or ultra late sowing approaches in winter OSR. At five weeks after sowing, both, shoot and root growth were highly responsive to the primed zinc treatments suggesting a clear starter push. The highest response was noted in the Zn.75 treatment, SDW (+83%) RDW (+125%) with a doubling of root length and increased fine root production, compared to the untreated seedlings (Table 2.11). The seed priming potential can be explored to its highest in stressful plant growth conditions and it performs better under limiting plant growth conditions (low/high temperature, drought, salinity) compared to the optimal plant growth conditions. ZnSP proved as abiotic stress alleviatory strategy in barley and maize (Ajouri et al., 2004; Imran et al., 2013; Imran et al., 2018). A better seedling growth at low RZT could be a combination of a starter push by the priming and protective zinc effect on plant growth-related hormones, i.e., auxin, resulting in maintaining a suitable level for plant growth. It is now well known that Oxidative damage is expected, as a response of most of the plant stress, including lowtemperature stress, by producing harmful reactive oxygen species (ROS) (superoxide radical (O<sup>-</sup>) hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) and hydroxyl radical (OH). These ROS damages the cell membranes, interrupt enzyme activation and degrade proteins (Allen and Ort, 2001). Since zinc is a co-factor of superoxide dismutase SOD, an enzyme involved in ROS detoxification (Cakmak, 2000), the externally applied zinc may have enhanced SOD activity and minimized the damage caused by the free oxygen radicals under low RZT conditions. This scenario has been recently confirmed for Zn/Mn seed treatments in maize exposed to similar low RZT (12°C) treatments (Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al. 2018; 2020). In this case, it was demonstrated that even with high available Zn and Mn supplied in nutrient solutions at 12°C RZT, root uptake of the micronutrients was strongly limited and protective effects were only detectable when the nutrients were supplied in advance by seed treatments. In soil-grown plants, this resulted in higher activities of SOD and increased accumulation phenolics, total antioxidants and auxins, leading to less oxidative leaf damage and improved root and shoot growth.

In a similar scenario, multi-nutrient seed dressing of OSR performed in the present study, including also Zn, Mn and Fe as micronutrients, resulted in improved root development and, stimulation of cuticula formation and reduced irreversible oxidative leaf damage after recovery from a one-week drought stress period at 40 % soil waterholding capacity. Similar to cold stress, uptake of sparingly soluble mineral nutrients (including micronutrients) is also impaired under drought stress conditions by limitations of nutrient diffusion and impairment of root growth and activity (Neumann and Römheld, 2002). The resulting nutrient limitations may be at least partially supplemented by prophylactic nutrient seed treatments as earlier reported for cold stress (Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al., 2018). Similarly, in the drought stress scenario, this was associated with increased accumulation of antioxidants and phenolics in the shoot tissue, increased expression of enzymatic ROS defense, indicated by increased activities of the Fe-dependent ascorbate peroxidase as a key enzyme for drought stress-induced ROS defence (Caverzan et al., 2012), which correlated with increased auxin levels as a major regulator of lateral root development. Micronutrients, such as Zn, Mn, Fe and Cu are involved in the biosynthesis of various enzymes involved abiotic stress alleviation. Pants need to regulate the level of reactive oxygen species (Apel and Hirt, 2004), which is generally enhanced under various abiotic and biotic stress conditions Apart from causing oxidative membrane damage, the increase of ROS in the plant tissues can guickly induce oxidative auxin degradation as demonstrated for Zn-deficient plants by Chakmak et al. (1989). These stressinduced escalations of ROS are scavenged by the micro-nutrient-dependent enzymes directly involved in ROS detoxification or in the production of phenolic antioxidants (Datnoff et al. 2007).

Based on the comparison of different OSR hybrids, genotype, or seed-lot-dependent differences in the expression of stress symptoms were observed in this study (Table 4.1). The protective effects of the nutrient seed treatment described above were most distinctly expressed in the more drought-sensitive hybrids and also affected by soil properties with stronger effects on a light sandy loam with a lower water holding capacity as compared with a silty loam (Table 4.4).

Taken together, the results suggest that micronutrient seed treatments can act as a promising approach to counteract the impact of various stress factors during germination and seedling establishment, primarily related with the functions of

micronutrients in ROS detoxification as a common constraint generally related with the stress exposure of plants. In this context, micronutrients internalized prior to the onset of stress exposure can at least supplement limitations of root growth and activity during the stress period.

### 5.4 Seed treatment effects on the plant nutritional status

Many studies indicate high seed nutrient contents as an assurance to promote early seedling growth and vigor. Genc et al. (2000) and Marcar and Graham 1986 highlighted the importance of seed Zn and Mn reserves for the seedling establishment of barley (*Hordeum vulgare L.*) and Wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) The dependency is greatest until a functional root system contributes to the uptake of nutrients for the growing seedling.

Imran et al., 2015 reported the sufficiency of primed Zn and Mn seed reserves in maize for at least three weeks during a culture period in a Zn/Mn deficient nutrient solution. The present study with unprimed OSR demonstrated a time period of fewer than five days in soil culture before the developing seedling was dependent on root uptake of Zn and Mn, as indicated by the comparison of the seed reserves with the seedling contents (Table 2.6). Even under optimum soil temperatures, water and nutrient availability, the related micronutrient supply was obviously suboptimal, since root growth was further stimulated by Zn seed treatments (Fig. 2.6). Seed priming effects on Zn contents lasted for about 10 days. Thereafter nutrient uptake, in general, was improved, related with the promotion of root growth, which was induced by the priming treatment, finally leading to higher levels also of the other nutrients such as P and Mn. Similar results were observed also for the seed priming treatments in OSR seedlings exposed to low root zone temperature or after Zn seed dressing treatments described in chapter 2 and also for Zn/Mn seed treatments in maize (Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al., 2018). These findings suggest that although the time window for direct effects of micronutrient seed treatments on the nutritional status of seedlings is guite limited restricted to a maximum time period of 2-3 weeks, longer-lasting and even broader effects on nutrient acquisition in general can be expected due to root growthpromoting potential of micronutrient seed treatments. This seems to be of particular importance e.g. for small-seeded plant species with limited seed reserves including OSR, depending on root-mediated nutrient acquisition already during very early stages

of seedling development and under conditions when root development and the nutrient uptake capacity is limited by external stress factors. Since plant nutrient acquisition is not only directly determined by root growth and activity but also by plant-microbial interactions in the rhizosphere, the question arises to which extent these interactions are also influenced by nutrient seed treatments. While numerous reports exist on interactions of pesticide seed treatments with the rhizosphere microflora, the aspect of nutrient seed treatments in this context has not been addressed in the literature so far.

### 5.5 Seed dressing effect on phytohormonal balances

Negative effects of metabolic Zn limitations on the auxin status of higher plants, either by limited Zn availability of the growth substrates, induced Zn limitations due to impaired root activity or particularly high demands under stress conditions has been frequently reported in the literature (Cakmak et al., 1989; Bradacova et al., 2016; Moradtalab et al., 2018; 2020). This has been related with increased oxidative auxin (IAA) degradation as a consequence of impaired enzymatic ROS defence depending on sufficient supply of Zn acting as enzymatic co-factor finally leading to depressions of shoot and root growth due to IAA limitation (Cakmak et al., 1989), which can be mitigated by external micronutrient supplementation via seed treatments (Moradtalab et al., 2018; 2020). The present study demonstrated that this may hold true also for other micronutrients, such as Fe, determining the function of ascorbate peroxidase (Chapter 4) as a key enzyme for ROS detoxification under drought stress (Table 4.4). While protective effects of nutrient seed treatments against drought stress were associated with an improved auxin status of all investigated OSR hybrids (Table 4.7) additionally the levels of stress-related hormones, such as abscisic acid (ABA), jasmonic acid (JA) and salicylic acid SA) were elevated exclusively in the hybrid with the lowest sensitivity to the drought stress treatment. (Table 4.7). This effect was detectable even after recovery from the stress period. Since ABA is regarded as a major regulator of various abiotic stress adaptations in higher plants including stress factors such as drought, salinity, cold stress, metal toxicities etc. (Vishwakarma et al. 2017) involving cross talks also with JA, SA and ethylene (Figure 5.4). This may indicate the induction of a stress priming effect by the nutrient seed treatment acting

after recovery from the stress period and facilitating the expression of adaptive responses to various environmental stress factors. Accordingly, Cakmak et al. (1989)



Abiotic Stress Response

Figure 5.4: Schematic diagram representing the crosstalk of JA with other plant hormone signalling pathways. Note: Positive and negative regulatory actions are indicated by arrows and lines with bars, respectively. MYC2 is the major component involved in interactions between JA and gibberellin (GA). DELLAs interact with JAZ repressors, relieving MYC2 from JAZ repression, and facilitate JA-mediated defense responses by the activation of MYC2. MYC2 is also positively regulated by ABA. Conversely, MYC2 inhibits salicylic acid (SA) regulation of abiotic stress response genes. The JAZ inhibition of EIN mediates JA and ET signalling synergy in plant resistance, whereas the reciprocal counteraction between MYC2 and EIN mediates JA and ethylene (ET) signalling antagonism (Wang et al., 2020)

and more recently, Wang et al. (2012) reported that ABA levels declined in Zn-deficient plants. However, the longevity of the postulated stress priming effects remains to be established. In accordance with a protective effect of the postulated hormonal stress adaptations also the levels of important growth regulators, such as gibberellic acid and cytokinins (zeatin) increased in the respective plants (Table 4.7).

# 5.6 Potential grain yields

The ultimate goal to improve crop plant health, growth and development is to enhance the final economic yields., So far, several studies reported an increase in seed yields after Zn seed treatment in different crops, such as rice (27.6 - 28.3%) (Slaton et al., 2001; Shivay et al., 2008), wheat (34.4%) (Arif et al. 2007) chickpea (36.0%) (Arif et al., 2007) and maize (27.1%) (Harris et al., 2007). The increase in seed yields could be a result of enhanced germination, better early seedling establishment and stress protection of plants. In the present study, root length was the most prominent trait positively increased in response to most of the tested seed treatments. Accordingly, Kosenley et al., (2012) reported that root length improvement during early seedling growth in oilseed rape coincided with greater grain yields. However, the present study also demonstrated that no direct long-lasting nutritional benefits can be expected from nutrient seed treatments (NST) and the observed growth responses in later stages of plant development must be regarded as indirect consequences of initial direct nutrient effects. Whether these benefits finally translate into yield improvements as a consequence of stress-protective properties of nutrient seed treatments strongly depends on various other factors, such as the compensatory potential of the respective plants, which can also overwrite initial beneficial effects of a nutrient seed treatment (Neumann et al., 2018; Wallenhammar and Stoltz, 2019). Similarly, in the absence of additional environmental stress factors, the limited expression of NST benefits does not translate into yield improvements. However, due to the extremely low amounts of nutrients and active ingredients required (Bradacova et al., 2016), NST-based starter fertilization strategies may provide cost-effective and resourceefficient approaches with prophylactic stress-protective potential for the early growth of OSR. Nevertheless, at the moment NST-based approaches must be regarded rather as complementary stress-protective strategies with plant-strengthening potential and can by far not replace additional measures to cope with the increasing impact of environmental stress factors, particularly during later stages of plant development.

# 5.7 Future Outlook

Seed treatments are an emerging technology. However, the application potential and viability is by far not completely understood for many crop species. In the current study, the potential of seed priming and seed dressing approaches has been explored in oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.). The results highlighted a distinct response of oilseed rape to the tested seed treatments, particularly for micronutrients, such as Zn. Mn and Fe suggested an improved viability particularly under environmental stress conditions. While the available results point to a central role of the investigated NST strategies in the improvement of root development, ROS detoxification and interactions with hormonal balances, the molecular and physiological basis of the protective effects is far from being completely understood. This applies for related changes of gene expression as well as consequences for the metabolome but also for related processes in the rhizosphere and plant-microbial interactions.



Figure 5.5: Proposed interactions of stabilized ammonium fertilization, PGPM inoculation and Zn/Mn supplementation contributing to increased cold tolerance during the early growth of maize (Moradtalab et al., 2020).

Another promising approach is the exploitation of additive or even synergistic effects of different agents used for NST, including also fertilization strategies. An impressive example was recently published by Moradtalab et al. (2020), dissecting synergistic interactions of micronutrient seed treatments with beneficial microbial consortia used as inoculants and stabilized ammonium starter fertilization in the alleviation of cold stress effects in maize at the molecular and physiological level (Figure 5.5).

Particularly high OSR yields in combined applications of ZnSD with localized ammonium phosphate starter fertilization in a striptill system may point into a similar direction. Also, further developments of the commercial OSR seed dressing formulation investigated in the present study, by including beneficial microorganisms (Wurzel-Plus Beize natur, Rapool Ring GmbH) are a step forward into this direction.

Seed priming just before sowing may provide an easy and affordable on-farm strategy for seed enhancements, available also for resource-poor farmers, having small landholding (with low soil fertility) in developing countries. However, combination with commercial seed dressings, e.g. with plant protection agents is difficult, and backdrying of seeds after priming treatments is a challenging and cost-ineffective technical process for industrial applications, where seed dressing treatments represent a more suitable approach. The functional equivalence of both seed enhancement techniques demonstrated in this study underlines the flexibility of the proposed strategy.

### Chapter 6

#### References

Abbadi, A. and Leckband, G. (2011). Rapeseed breeding for oil content, quality, and sustainability. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology, 113: 1198-1206.

Abdolahi, M., Andelibi, B., Zangani, E., Shekari, F. and Jamaati-e-Somarin, S. (2012). Effect of accelerated aging and priming on seed germination of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) cultivars. International Research Journal of Applied and Basic Sciences, 3: 499-508.

Abreu, I. A. and Cabelli, D. E. (2010). Superoxide dismutases – a review of the metalassociated mechanistic variations. Biochim Biophys Acta., 1804: 263–274.

Achard, P., Cheng, H., De Grauwe, L., Decat, J., Schoutteten, H., Moritz, T., et al. (2006). Integration of plant responses to environmentally activated phytohormonal signals. Science, 311: 91–94.

Adhikari, T., Kundu, S. & Subba, R. A. (2016). Zinc delivery to plants through seed coating with nano-zinc oxide particles. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 39(1): 136-146.

Ahmadi, S. A. K., Ebadi, A., Daneshian, J., Jahanbakhsh, S., Siadat S. A., Tavakoli, H. (2015). Effects of irrigation deficit and application of some growth regulators on defense mechanisms of canola. Notulae Botanicae Hortica Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca, 43: 1–10.

Ahmed, A. (2017). Effects of micronutrients, form of nitrogen supply and selected Bioeffectors on early growth of maize exposed to low root zone temperature. Master Thesis Uni Hohenheim.

Ahrens, S. (2020). Hektarertrag von Raps und Rübsen in Deutschland bis 2019. https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/28656/umfrage/hektarertraege-von-rapsund-ruebsen-seit-1995/

Aiken, R., Baltensperger, D., Krall, J., Pavlista A., Johnson, J. (2015). Planting methods affect emergence, flowering and yield of spring oilseed crops in the US central High Plains. Indus Crops Production, 69: 273–277.

Ajouri, A., Asgedom, H., Becker, M. (2004). Seed priming enhances germination and seedling growth of barley under conditions of P and Zn deficiency. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 167: 630–636.

Alam, M. M., Nahar, K., Hasanuzzaman, M., Fujita, M. (2014). Trehalose-induced drought stress tolerance: a comparative study among different Brassica species. Plant Omics, 7: 271–283.

Allen, D. J., & Ort, D. R. (2001). Impacts of chilling temperatures on photosynthesis in warm-climate plants. Trends in Plant Science, 6, 36–42.

Allied Market research. (2020). Seed Treatment Market by product (insecticide fungicide, bio-control, and others), treatment method (seed coating, seed dressing,

and seed pelleting), crop type (Cereals & Grains, oilseeds, & pulses) and application (seed Protection and Seed snhancement), global opportunity analysis and industry forecast 2019 – 2026. https://www.alliedmarketresearch.com/seed-treatment-market.

Alloway BJ. (2004). In Zinc in Soil and Crop Nutrition. International Zinc Association. Brussels, Belgium.

Andreini, C., Banci, L., Rosato, A. (2006). Zinc through the three domains of life.J. Prot. Res., 5: 3173–3178.

Andrew, P. Whitmore, R., Whalley W. (2009). Physical effects of soil drying on roots and crop growth. Journal of Experimental Botany, 60: 2845–2857.

Apel and Hirt. 2004. Reactive oxygen species: metabolism, oxidative stress, and signal transduction. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 55: 373-399.

Aravind, P. & Prasad, M.N.V. (2003). Zinc alleviates cadmium induced oxidative stress in Ceratophyllum demersum L. A free floating fresh water macrophyte. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 41: 391–397.

Arif, M., Waqas, M., Nawab, K., Shahid, M. (2007). Effect of seed priming in Zn solutions on chickpea and wheat. Afri. Crop Sci. Pro., 8: 237–240.

Arshadullah, M., Sarfraz, M., Sadiq, M., Mehdi, S.M., & Hassan, G. (2002). Effects of pre-sowing seed treatments with micronutrients on growth parameters of raya. Asian J. Plant Sci., 1: 22–23.

Asghari, A., Shokrpour, M., Chamanabad, H.M., Sofalian, O. (2011). Evaluating genetic diversity of canola cultivars using morphological traits and molecular markers. Romanian Biotechnological Letters, 16: 6305–6312.

Ashraf, M., Harris, P. J. C. (2013). Photosynthesis under stressful environments: an overview. Photosynthetica, 51: 163–190.

Ashraf, M., Shahbaz, M., Ali, Q. (2013). Drought-induced modulation in growth and mineral nutrients in canola (Brassica napus L.). Pakistan Journal Botany, 45: 93–98.

Barr, R., Böttger, M., Crane, F.L. (1993). The effect of boron on plasma membrane electron transport and associated proton secretion by cultured carrot cells. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int., 31: 31-39.

Basra, S.M., Ullah, E.H.S.A.N., Warraich, E.A., Cheema, M.A. Afzal, I. (2003). Effect of storage on growth and yield of primed canola (*Brassica napus*) seeds. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 5: 117-120.

Bates, B. C., Kundzewicz, Z. W., Wu, S., Palutikof, J. P., Eds. Climate change and water. (2008). Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva. 210 pp. https://drive.google.com/file/d/0B1gFp6loo3akcFFFeGRRVFNYM0E/view.

Bates, L. S., Waldren, R. P. & Teare, D. (1973). Rapid determination of free proline for water-stress studies. Plant and Soil, 39:205–207.

Bauer, B. (2004). Einfluss von N-Formen auf das Bestockungsverhalten von Sommergerste. Diploma Thesis, Hohenheim University, Stuttgart, Germany.

Bauer, B. (2011). Mit der düngung die raps pflanze steuern. Innovation, 2: 8-11.

Begum, N., & Gul, H., & Hamayun, M., Rahman, Inayat U., Ijaz, F., et al. (2014). Influence of Seed Priming with ZnSO<sub>4</sub> and CuSO<sub>4</sub> on Germination and Seedling Growth of Brassica rapa under Nacl Stress. Middle East Journal of Scientific Research. 22. 879-885.

Begum, N., Qin, C., Ahanger, M. A., Raza, S., Khan, M.I., Ashraf, M., Ahmed, N. and Zhang, L. (2019). Role of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi in Plant Growth Regulation: Implications in Abiotic Stress Tolerance. Front. Plant Sci., 10: 1068.

Bergman, W. (1988). Ernahrungstorungen bei Kulturpflanzen–Entstehung, visuelle und analytische Diagnose. VEB Gustav Fischer, Jena, Stuttgart, FRG, New York, USA.

Bewley, J.D, Black, M. (1982). Physiology and biochemistry of seeds. Vol. 2, Viability, dormancy and environmental control. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

Bewley, J.D. (1997). Seed germination and dormancy. The Plant Cell. 9: 1055-1066.

Bibinger, K. (2018) Stickstoffdüngung in Raps wird zum Nadelöhr. Badische Bauernzeitung 8/18. https://www.badische-bauern-zeitung.de/stickstoffduengung-in-raps-wird-zum-nadeloehr.

Bibinger, K. (2018). Stickstoffdüngung in Raps wird zum Nadelöhr. Badische Bauernzeitung 8/18. https://www.badische-bauern-zeitung.de/stickstoffduengung-in-raps-wird-zum-nadeloehr.

Bigot, J., & Boucaud, J. (1996). Short-term responses of Brassica rapa plants to low root temperature. Effects on nitrate uptake and its translocation to the shoot. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 96: 646–654.

Biscaro, G.A., Goulart Junior, S.A.R., Soratto, R.P., Freitas-Júnior, N.A., Motomiya, A.V.A. & Calado- Filho, G.C. (2009). Molybdenum applied to seeds and side dressing nitrogen on irrigated common bean in cerrado soil. Ciênc Agrotec., 33: 1280–1287.

Bischoff, J. (2012) Düngung zur Herbstaussaat. Bauernzeitung 32: 32-33

Blevins, D.G., Lukaszewski, K.M. (1998). Boron in plant structure and function. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol., 49: 481-500.

Blokhina, O., Virolainen, E., & Fagerstedt, K. V. (2003). Antioxidants, oxidative damage and oxygen deprivation stress: A review. Annals of Botany, 91, 179–194.

Bollermann, A. (2011). Rapswurzelwachstum unter suboptimaler Wurzelraumtemperatur in Abhängigkeit unterschiedlicher Saatgutbehandlungen. Bachelor Thesis, Universität Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany.

Bor M., Ozdemir F., Turkan I. (2003). The effect of salt stress on lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in leaves of sugar beet Beta vulgaris L and wild beet Beta maritima L. Plant Science., 164: 77–84.

Bradacova, K. (2015). Soil application of microbial bio-effectors, algae extracts and micronutrients to improve cold stress tolerance of maize. Master Thesis, Universität Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany.

Bradáčová, K., Weber, N.F., Morad Talab, N., Asim, M., Imran, M., Weinmann, M., Neumann, G. (2016). Micronutrients (Zn/Mn), seaweed extracts, and plant growth-promoting bacteria as cold-stress protectants in maize. Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric., 3:19.

Bradford, K.J. 1986. Manipulation of seed water relations via osmotic priming to improve germination under different field conditions. Res. J. Agric. Biol. Sci., 22: 33–37.

Brauer, D. (2011). Geschichte des Rapsanbaus. (History of oilseed rape cultivation). In: Christen, O., Friedt, F. (eds.) 2011: Winterraps: Das Handbuch für Profis. (Winter oilseed rape: Handbook for professionals) 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany. 9-16.

Brennan RF. Zinc Application and Its Availability to Plants. (2005). Ph. D. dissertation, School of Environmental Science, Division of Science and Engineering, Murdoch University.

Brennan, J., Hackett, R., McCabe, T., Grant, J., Fortune, R. and Forristal, P. (2014). The effect of tillage system and residue management on grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency in winter wheat in a cool Atlantic climate. European Journal of Agronomy, 54: 61-69.

Brookes, G. (2003). Co-existence of GM and non-GM crops: Economic and market perspectives. Crop Biotech Update, 27: 1–3.

Burnell, J. N. (1988). The biochemistry of manganese in plants. In Manganese in Soils and Plants (R. D. Graham, R. J. Hannam and N. C. Uren, eds.), 125–137.

Burnell, J.N. (1990). Immunological study of carbonic anhydrase in C, and C, plants using antibodies to maize cytosolic and spinach chloroplastic carbonic anhydrase. Plant Cell Physiol, 31: 423-427.

Butler, L., Hay, F., Ellis, R., Smith, R. and Murray, T. (2009). Priming and re-drying improve the survival of mature seeds of Digitalis purpurea during storage. Annals of Botany, 103(8): 1261-1270.

Butruille, D. V., Guries, R.P., & Osborn, T.C. (1999). Through introgression of winter germplasm, 1491–96.

Cakmak I., Marschner H., Bangerth F. (1989). Effect of zinc nutritional status on growth, protein metabolism and levels of indole-3-acetic acid and other phytohormones in bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L). J. Exp. Bot., 40: 405–412.

Cakmak, I. & Marschner, H. (1988c). Increase in membrane permeability and exudation of roots of zinc deficient plants. J. Plant Physiol., 132: 356–361.

Cakmak, I. & Marschner, H. (1998c). Enhanced superoxide radical production in roots of zinc deficient plants. Journal of Experimental Botany, 39: 1449-1460.

Cakmak, I. (2000). Possible roles of zinc in protecting plant cells from damage by reactive oxygen species. The New Phytologist, 146: 185–205.

Cakmak, I. (2008). Enrichment of cereal grains with zinc. Agronomicor genetic biofortification? Plant Soil. 302: 1–17.

Cakmak, I., & Marschner, H. (1988). Increase in Membrane Permeability and Exudation in Roots of Zinc Deficient Plants. Journal of Plant Physiology, 132: 356–361.

Cakmak, I., Derici, R., Torun, B., Tolay, I., Braun, H. J. & Schlegel, R. (1997b). Role of rye chromosomes in improvement of zinc efficiency in wheat and triticale. Plant Soil, 196: 249–253.

Cakmak, I., Marschner, H., Bangerth, F. (1989). Effect of zinc nutritional status on growth, protein metabolism and levels of indole-3-acetic acid and other phytohormones in bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L). J. Exp. Bot., 40: 405–412.

Cakmak, I., Pfeiffer, W.H., McClafferty, B. (2010b). Biofortification of durum wheat with zinc and iron. Cereal Chem., 87: 10–20.

Cakmak, I., Römheld, V. (1997). Boron deficiency-induced impairments of cellular functions in plants. Plant and Soil, 193: 71-83.

Campbell, C. R., and Plank, C. O. (2013). Chapter: reference sufficiency ranges field crops/corn at early growth," in Reference Sufficiency Ranges for Plant Analysis in the Southern Region of the United States, 3rd Edn, ed. C. R. Campbell (Madison, WI: Southern Cooperative Series Bulletin), 122.

Caverzan, A., Passaia, G., Barcellos, S. R., Werner, R. C., Lazzarotto, F., Margis-Pinheiro, M. (2012). Plant responses to stresses: Role of ascorbate peroxidase in the antioxidant protection. Genet Mol Biol, 35(4): 1011–1019.

Chen, B. Y., Xu, K., Li, J., Li, F., Qiao, J. W., Li, H., et al. 2014. Evaluation of yield and agronomic traits and their genetic variation in 488 global collections of Brassica napus L. Genet. Res. Crop Evol., 61: 979–999.

Chen, K., Arora, R. (2011). Dynamics of the antioxidant system during seed osmopriming, post-priming germination, and seedling establishment in spinach (Spinacia oleracea). Plant Science., 180: 212-220.

Christen, O. and Friedt, W. (2007). Winterraps, das Handbuch für Profis. DLG-Verlags GmbH, Frankfurt a.M. COCERAL. rue du Trone 98, COCERAL, Brussels. Updated, 6 March 2019. Viewed,17 December2019. http://www.coceral.com/data/15519532610ILSEEDS\_March%202019\_FINAL%20.pdf.

Coleman, J. E. (1992). Zinc proteins: enzymes, storage proteins, transcription factors, and replication proteins. Richardson, C. C. Abelson, J. N. Meister, A. Walsch, C. T. eds. Annual Review of Biochemistry: 897–946 Annual reviews Inc Palo Alto, CA.

Coleman, J.E. (1998). Zinc enzymes. Curr Opin Chem Biol., 2: 222-234.

Collins, R., Kristensen, P., Thyssen, N. (2009). Water resources across Europe-Confronting water scarcity and drought. European Environmental Agency (EEA) Report Series. No. 2/2009. ISSN 1725-9177.

Copeland, L. and McDonald, M. (2002). Principles of seed science and technology. 4<sup>th</sup> edn. Annals of Botany, 89(6): 798-798.
Daszkowska-Golec, A. (2016). The Role of Abscisic Acid in Drought Stress: How ABA Helps Plants to Cope with Drought Stress. In Book (eds.), Drought Stress Tolerance in Plants, Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2: 123-151.

Datnoff, L. E., Elmer, W. H., and Huber, D.G. (2007). Mineral Nutrition and Plant Disease. St. Paul, M.N. The American Phytopathological Society, USA.

Datnoff, L. E., Elmer, W. H., and Huber, D.G. (2007). Book Review. Mineral Nutrition and Plant Disease. St. Paul, M.N. The American Phytopathological Society.

Deikman, J., Petracek, M., Heard, J. E. (2012). Drought tolerance through biotechnology: improving translation from the laboratory to farmers' fields. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol., 23: 243–250.

Diagnosing soil acidity in crop. updated on 20 January 2015, viewed on 6/18/2020. https://www.agric.wa.gov.au/mycrop/diagnosing-soil-acidity-crops.

Dixit, T., Srivastava, N. K., Sharma, S. (2002). Boron deficiency induced changes in translocation of  $CO_2$  photosynthate into primary metabolites in relation to essential oil and Curcumin accumulation in turmeric (Curcuma Longa L.). Photosynthetica. 40: 109-113.

Downey, R. K., Klassen, A. J., & Mcansh, J. (1974). Rapeseed: Canada's "Cinderella" crop. Publ. 33. Rapeseed Assoc. of Canada, Winnipeg, MB.

Dreesen, P. E., De Boeck, H. J., Janssens, I. A., and Nijs, I. (2012). Summer heat and drought extremes trigger unexpected changes in productivity of a temperate annual/biannual plantcommunity. Environ. Exp. Bot., 79: 21-30.

Droillard, M.J., Paulin, A. (1990). Isoenzymes of superoxide dismutase in mitochondria and peroxisomes isolated from petals of car- nation (Dianthus caryophyllus) during senescence. Plant Physiol., 94:1187–1192.

Duncan, R. R. & Carrow, R.N. (1997). Stress resistant turf-type tall fescue (Festuca arundinacea Schreb.): Developing multiple abiotic stress tolerance. Int Turf Soc Res Jr., 8: 653–662.

Ebrahimian, E. & Bybordi, A. (2012). Influence of ascorbic acid foliar application on chlorophyll, flavonoids, anthocyanin and soluble sugar contents of sunflower under conditions of water deficit stress. Journal of Food Agriculture and Environment, 10: 1026–1030.

Ellis RH. (1992). Seed and seedling vigour in relation to crop growth and yield. Plant Growth Regul., 11: 249-255.

Ellis, R. H. (2004). Seed and seedling vigour in relation to crop growth and yield. J. Regul., 11(3): 249–255.

Elstner, E.F. (1982). Oxygen activation and oxygen toxicity. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol., 33: 73–96.

Emam, Y. & Niknejad M. (2004). An introduction to the physiology of crop yield. Shiraz, Iran.

EU SCIENCE HUB. The European commission's science and knowledge service. Viewed, 19 December 2109. https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/science-updates.

Euro Stat, (2014). Brassica napus, Available on-line at: http://www.ec.europa.eu/eurostat/de.

EUROSTAT statistics explained. Updated, 31 January 2019. Viewed 18 December 2019. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Agricultural \_production\_-\_crops#Oilseeds

False economy warning over the dangers of ignoring club root. Updated 14 April 2011, Viewed on 21 June 2020. https://www.farminguk.com/news/false-economy-warning-over-the-dangers-of-ignoring-club-root\_20359.html.

Fanaei, H. R., Galavi, M., Kafi, M., Bonjar, A. G. (2009). Amelioration of water stress by potassium fertilizer in two oilseed species. International Journal of Plant Production, 3: 41–54.

FAOSTAT Food and agriculture data. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome. (2017). http://www.fao.org/faostat/en. Accessed 8 Jan 2017.

FAOSTAT. (2011). Brassica napus, Available on-line at: http://www.faostat.fao.org.

Farooq, M., Almamari, S.A.D., Rehman, A., Al-Busaidi, W.M., Wahid, A. & Al-Ghamdi, S.S. (2021). Morphological, physiological and biochemical aspects of zinc seed priming-induced drought tolerance in faba bean. Scientia Horticulturae. 281: 109894.

Farooq, M., Basra S.M.A, Ahmad, N. (2007). Improving the performance of transplanted rice by seed priming. Plant Growth Regulator, 51: 129-137.

Farooq, M., Irfan, M., Aziz, T., Ahmad, I., Cheema, S.A. (2013). Seed priming with ascorbic acid improves drought resistance of wheat. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, 199: 12-22.

Farooq, M., Romdhane, L., Al Sulti, M.K., Rehman, A., Al-Busaidi, W.M. and Lee, D.J. (2020). Morphological, physiological and biochemical aspects of osmopriming-induced drought tolerance in lentil. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science. 206(2):176-186.

Farooq, M., Wahid, A. and Siddique, K. H. M. (2012). Micronutrient application through seed treatments - a review. Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 12(1): 125-142.

Fercha, A., Capriotti, A. L., Caruso, G., Cavaliere, C., Gherroucha, H., Samperi, R., Stampachiacchierea, S., Laganaa, A. (2013). Gel-free proteomics reveal potential biomarkers of priming-induced salt tolerance in durum wheat. Journal of Proteomics, 91: 486-499.

Föhse, D., Claassen, N., & Jungk, A. (1991). Phosphorus efficiency of plants. II. Significance of root hairs and cation-anion balance for phosphorus influx in seven plant species. *Plant & Soil*, 131:261–272.

Foti, R., Abureni, K., Tigere, A., Gotosa, J. & Gere, J. (2008). The efficacy of different seed priming osmotica on the establishment of maize (Zea mays L.) caryopses. J. Arid Environ., 72: 1127–1130.

Fridovich, I. (1983). Superoxide radical: an endogenous toxicant. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol., 23: 239–257.

Gahoonia, T. S. and Nielsen, N. E. (2004b). Root traits as tools for creating phosphorus efficient crop varieties. Plant and Soil, 260: 47-57.

Genc Y., McDonald G. K., & Graham R. D. (2000). Effect of seed zinc content on early growth of barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) under low and adequate soil zinc supply. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 51: 37–46.

Gericke, S., & Kurmis, B. (1952). Die kolorimetrische Phophorsäurebestimmung mit Ammonium-Vanadat-Molybdat und ihre Anwendung in der Pflanzenanalyse. Zeitschrift Pflanzenernaehrung und Bodenkunde, 59: 235–247.

Ghobadi, M., Bakhshandeh, M., Fathi, G., Gharineh, M. H., Alamisaeed, K., Naderi, A. & Ghobadi, V. (2006). Short and long periods of water stress during different growth stages of canola (Brassica napus L.). Effect on yield, yield components, seed oil and proteincontents. Agronomy Journal, 5: 336–341.

Gnanasekaran, N., Kalavathy, S. (2017). Drought stress signal promote the synthesis of more reduced phenolic compounds (chloroform insoluble fraction) in Tridax procumbens Free Rad. Antioxid, 7 (1): 128-136.

Goldbach, H.E., Hartmann, D., Rötzer, T. (1990). Boron is required for the stimulation of the ferricyanide-induced proton release by auxins in suspension-cultured cells of Daucus carota and Lycopersicon esculentum. Physiol. Plant, 80: 114-118.

Gomez-Munoz. (2018). Seed treatment with Penicillium sp. or Mn/Zn can alleviate the negative effects of cold stress in maize grown in soils dependent on soil fertility. J. Agro Crop Sci., 204(6): 603-612.

Gorzi, A. & Bostani, A.B. (2018). Morpho-physiological responses of stevia (Stevia rebaudiana bertoni) to various priming treatments under drought stress. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research, 16. 4753-4771.

Goswami, A., Banerjee, R., Raha, S. (2013). Drought resistance in rice seedlings conferred by seed priming: role of the anti-oxidant defense mechanisms. Protoplasma, 250: 1115-29.

Graf, T., & Krueger, B. (2009). Aktuelle Empfehlungen zum Fungizid-und Wachstumsreglereinsatz in Winterraps. Thüringer Landesanstalt für Landwirtschaft, 1–8.

Grant, C. A., Dreksen, D. A., Mclaren, D. L., & Irvine, R. B. (2011). Nitrogen fertilizer and urease inhibitor effects on canola seed quality in a one-pass seeding and fertilizing system. Field Crop Res., 121: 201–208.

Grewal, H.S., Zhonggu, L., Graham, R.D. (1997). Influence of subsoil zinc on dry matter production, seed yield and distribution of zinc in oilseed rape genotypes differing in zinc efficiency. Plant and Soil., 192: 181 – 189.

Guan, Y., Hu, J., Wang, X., & Shao, C. (2009). Seed priming with chitosan improves maize germination and seedling growth in relation to physiological changes under low temperature stress. Journal of Zhejiang University Science, *10*: 427–433.

Gul, H. & Ahmad, R. (2004). Effect of different irrigation intervals on growth of canola (Brassica napus L.) under different salinity levels. Pakistan Journal of Botany, 36: 359–372.

Gunasekara, C. P., Martin, L. D., French, R. J., Siddique, K. H. & Walton, M. G. (2006). Genotype by environmental interactions of Indian mustard (Brasica juncea L.) and canola (Brassica napus L.) in Mediterranean type environments. Crop growth and seed yield. European Journal of Agronomy, 25: 1–12.

Guo, Z., Ou, W., Lu, S., Zhong, Q. (2006). Differential responses of antioxidative system to chilling and drought in four rice cultivars differing in sensitivity. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 44: 828–836.

Guzman, M., & Olave, J. (2006). Response of growth and biomass production of primed melon seed (*Cucumis melo L.cv*.Primal) to germination salinity level and N-forms in nursery. Journal of food Agriculture and Environment, 4: 163–165.

Habibi, G. (2015). Contrastive response of Brassica napus L. to exogenous salicylic acid, selenium and silicon supplementation under water stress. Archives of Biological Sciences, 67: 397–406.

Hacisalihoglu, G., Hart, J. J., Wang, Y.–H., Cakmak, I. & Kochian L. V. (2003). Zinc efficiency is correlated with enhanced expression and activity of zinc-requiring enzymes in wheat. Plant Physiol., 131: 595–602.

Hadi, F., Ayaz, M., Ali, S., Shafiq, M., Ullah, R., Jan, A. U. (2014). Comparative effect of polyethylene glycol and mannitol induced drought on growth (in vitro) of canola (Brassica napus), cauliflower (Brassica oleracea) and tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum) seedlings. International Journal of Biosciences, 9: 34–41.

Halmer, P. (2008). Seed technology and seed enhancement. Acta Hort., 771: 17–26.

Harris, D. & Jones, M. (1997). On-farm seed priming to accelerate germination in rainfed, dry seeded rice. International Rice Research Notes 22, 30.

Harris, D. (1996). The effects of manure, genotype, seed priming, depth and date of sowing on the emergence and early growth of Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench in semiarid Botswana. Soil and Tillage Research, 40: 73-88.

Harris, D., Joshi, A., Khan, P. A., Gothkar, P. & Sodhi, S. 1999. On farm seed priming in semi-arid agriculture: development and evaluation in maize, rice and chickpea in India using participatory methods. Experimental Agric., 35: 15-29.

Harris, D., Joshi, A., Khan, P.A., Gothkar, P. & Sodhi, P.S. (1999). On-farm seed priming in semi-arid agriculture: development and evaluation in maize rice and chickpea in India using participatory methods. Exp Agric., 35: 15-29.

Harris, D., Rashid A., Miraj, G., Arif, M. & Shah, H. (2007). On-farm seed priming with zinc sulphate solution – A cost-effective way to increase the maize yields of resource-poor farmers. Field Crops Res., 10: 119–127.

Harris, D., Rashid, A., Miraj, G., Arif, M. & Yunas, M. 2008. 'On-farm' seed priming with zinc in chickpea and wheat in Pakistan. Plant Soil, 306: 3–10

Harris, D., Tripathi, R.S., Joshi, A. (2000). On-farm' seed priming to improve crop establishment and yield in direct-seeded rice in IRRI: International Workshop on Dry seeded Rice Technology. Bangkok 25-28 January, 2000. The International Rice Research Institute. Manila, The Philippines.

Hassan U., Muhammad, A., Muhammad, U. C., Muhammad. H., Tang S., Babar, B., Lorenzo et al. (2020): The Critical Role of Zinc in Plants Facing the Drought Stress. In Agriculture 10 (9): 396.

Heckman, J.R., Clarke, B.B., Murphy, J.A. (2003) Optimizing manganese fertilization for the suppression of take-all patch disease on creeping bentgrass, Crop Sci., 43: 1395–1398.

Hernández, J.A., Olmos, E., Corpas, F.J., Sevilla, F., Del Río, L.A. (1995). Salt-induced oxidative stress in chloroplast of pea plants. Plant Science, 105: 151 167.

Hoffland, E., Findenegg, G. R., & Nelemans, J.A. (1989). Solubilization of rockphosphate by rape. II. Local exudation of organic acids as a response to P-starvation. Plant Soil., 113:161–165.

Hoffland, E., van den Boogard R., Nelemans, J., & Findenegg G. (1992). Biosynthesis and root exudation of citric and malic acids in phosphate-starved rape plants. New Phytol., 121:675–680.

Huber, D.M., Graham, R.D. (1999) The role of nutrition in crop resistance and tolerance to disease, in: Rengel Z. (Ed.), Mineral nutrition of crops fundamental mechanisms and implications, Food Product Press, New York, 205–226.

Hussain, M., Farooq, M. and Lee, D. (2017). Evaluating the role of seed priming in improving drought tolerance of pigmented and non-pigmented rice. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, 203(4): 269-276.

Hussain, S., F. Khan, H. A. Hussain, and Nie L. (2016). Physiological and biochemical mechanisms of seed priming induce chilling tolerance in rice cultivars. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7:116.

Imran, M., Boelt, B., Mühling, K. H. (2018): Zinc seed priming improves salt resistance in maize. J. Agron. Crop Sci., 204(4): 390–399.

Imran, M., Kolla, M., Römheld, V. & Neumann, G. (2015). Impact of nutrient seed priming on germination, seedling development, nutritional status and grain yield of maize. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 38: 1803–21.

Imran, M., Mahmood, A., Römheld, V., & Neumann, G. (2013). Nutrient seed priming improves seedling development of maize exposed to low root zone temperatures during early growth. European Journal of Agronomy, 49:141–148.

Imran, M., Volker, R., & Neumann, G. (2016). Accumulation and Distribution of Zn and Mn in Soybean Seeds after Nutrient Seed Priming and its Contribution to Plant Growth under Zn and Mn Deficient Conditions. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 40(5): 695-708.

Iturbe-Ormaetxe, I., Moran, J.F., Arrese-Igor, C., Gogorcena, Y., Klucas, R.V., Becana, M. (1995). Activated oxygen and antioxidant defences in iron-deficient pea plants. Plant, Cell and Environment, 18: 421–429.

Jaleel C. A., Manivannan P., Wahid A., Farooq M., Somasundaram R., Panneerselvam R. (2009). Drought stress in plants: a review on morphological characteristics and pigments composition. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 11 (1): 100–105.

Jing, J., Rui, Y., Zhang, F., Rengel, Z., & Shen, J. (2010). Localized application of phosphorus and ammonium improves growth of maize seedlings by stimulating root proliferation and rhizosphere acidification. Field Crops Research, 119: 355.

Johansen, C., Musa, A.M., Kumar, Rao, J.V.D.K., Harris, D., Shahidullah, A.K.M. & Lauren, G.J. (2006a). Seed priming with molybdenum alleviates molybdenum deficiency and poor nitrogen fixation of chickpea in acid soils of Bangladesh and India. In: 18th World Congress of Soil Science, July 9–15, 2006, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.

Johnson, S.E., Lauren, J.G., Welch, R.M. & Duxbury, J.M. (2005). A comparison of the effects of micronutrient seed priming and soil fertilization on the mineral nutrition of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*), lentil (*Lens culinaris*), rice (*Oryza sativa*) and wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) in Nepal. Exper. Agric., 41: 427–448.

Kaur, G., Asthir, B. (2015). Proline: a key player in plant abiotic stress tolerance. Biologia plantarum., 59: 609-619.

Kaya, M.D., Okçu, G., Atak, M., Çıkılı, Y., Kolsarıcı, Ö. (2006). Seed treatments to overcome salt and drought stress during germination in sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.). European Journal of Agronomy. 24: 291-295.

Kheradmand, M. A., Fahraji, S. S., Fatahi, E., Raoofi, M. M. (2014). Effect of water stress on oil yield and some characteristics of Brassica napus. International Research Journal of Applied and Basic Sciences, 8: 1447–1453.

Kim, M., Kim, Y., Kwon, S., Yun, D., Kwak, S., Lee, H. (2010). Enhance tolerance to methyl viologen-induced oxidative stress and high temperature in transgenic potato plants overexpressing the CuZnSOD, APX and NDPK2 genes. Physiol. Plant., 140: 153–162.

Knutsen, H.K., Alexander, J., Barregård, L., Bignami, M., Brüschweiler, B., Ceccatelli, S., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C. (2016). Erucic acid in feed and food. EFSA J. 14, 173.

Kochian, L. V. (1991). Mechanism of micronutrient uptake and translocation in plants. In Micronutrients in Agriculture. Soil Sci. Soc. Am., 4: 229–296.

Koscielny, C. B, & Gulden, R. H. (2012). Seedling root length in Brassica Napus L. is indicative of seed yield. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology*, 92: 1229–37.

Kosma, D. & Bourdenx, B., Bernard, A., Parsons, E., Lu, S., Joubès, J., & Jenks, M. (2009). The Impact of Water Deficiency on Leaf Cuticle Lipids of Arabidopsis. Plant physiology, 151(4): 1918–1929.

Kremer, I. (2011). Rapswurzelwachstum unter suboptimalen Wurzelraumtemperaturen in Abhängigkeit der Tausend-Korn-Masse. Bachelorarbeit, Universität Hohenheim Germany.

Kukal, S. S., Yadav, S., Humphreys, E., Kaur A., Singh, Y., Thaman, S., Singh, B., Timsina, J. (2010). Factors affecting irrigation water savings in raised beds in rice and wheat. Field Crop Research, 118: 43–50.

Kwiatowsky, J., Safianowska, A., Kaniuga, Z. (1985). Isolation and characterization of an iron-containing superoxide dismutase from tomato leaves, Lycopersicon exculentum. Eur. J. Biochem., 146: 459–466.

Lääniste, P., Jõudu, J., Eremeev, V., & Mäeorg, E. (2007). Sowing date influence on winter oilseed rape over wintering in Estonia. Acta agriculturae scandinavica. Section B-*Plant Soil Science*, 57: 342–348.

Lanza, S., Castelli, K. Grunberg, N. Muñoz, S. Griffa, E. López Colomba, A. Ribotta, E. Biderbost, C. Luna. (2010). Oxidative damage and antioxidant defenses as potential indicators of salt- tolerant Cenchrus ciliaris L. genotypes Flora, 205: 622-626.

Li Y., Ye W., Wang M. & Yan X. (2009). Climate change and drought. A risk assessment of crop-yield impacts. Clim Res., 39:31–46.

Li, X., Jiang, H., Liu, F., Cai, J., Dai, T., Cao, W., et al. 2013. Induction of chilling tolerance in wheat during germination by pre-soaking seed with nitricoxide and gibberellin. Plant Growth Regul., 71: 31–40.

Lin, L., Ockenden, I., & Lott, J. N. (2005). The concentrations and distribution of phytic acid-phosphorus and other mineral nutrients in wildtype and low phytic acid 1-1 (Ipa 1-1) corn (Zea mays L.) grains and grain parts. Canadian Journal of Botany, 83: 131–141.

Liu, X. & Hou, X. (2018). Antagonistic Regulation of ABA and GA in Metabolism and Signaling Pathways. Front. Plant Sci., 9: 251.

Lohani, N., Jain D., Singh, M.B. and Bhalla, P.L. (2020). Engineering Multiple Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Canola, Brassica napus. Front. Plant Sci., 11: 3.

Lombardi, L., Sebastiani, L. (2005) Copper toxicity in *Prunus cerasifera*: growth and antioxidant enzymes responses of in vitro grown plants. Plant Sci.168 (3): 797–802.

Luo, T. & Khan, M. (2018). Estimation of Base Temperature for Germination of Rapeseed (Brassica napus) using Different Models. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 20. 524-530.

Ma, D. Sun, C. Wang, Y. Li T. Guo. (2014). Expression of flavonoid biosynthesis genes and accumulation of flavonoid in wheat leaves in response to drought stress. Plant Physiol. Biochem., 80: 60-66.

Ma, Z., Walk, T. C., Marcus, A., & Lynch, J. P. (2001). Morphological synergism in root hair length density initiation and geometry for phosphorus acquisition in Arabidopsis thaliana. A modelling approach. Plant and soil, 236: 221–235.

Maathuis, F. J. (2009). Physiological functions of mineral macronutrients. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 12 (3): 250–258.

Mackay A. D. & Barber S. A. (1985a). Soil moisture effects on root growth and phosphorus uptake by corn. Agron. J., 77: 519–523.

Mahboob, W., Rehman, H., Basra, S., & Afzal, I., & Abbas, M., & Naeem, M., & Sarwar, M. (2015). Seed Priming Improves the Performance of Late Sown Spring Maize (Zea mays) Through Better Crop Stand and Physiological Attributes. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 17. 491-498.

Mahmood, A. (2012). Effect of nutrient seed priming on early maize seedling development under low root zone temperature stress. Master Thesis, Universität Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany.

Mahmood, A. (2017). Oilseed rape! Positively responsive to zinc seed enhancements at early growth stage. International Plant Nutrition Conference (IPNC), Kopenhagen, Denmark. Conference poster.

Malcolm, J. M. & Doug, W. S. (2002). Heat stress during flowering in summer Brassica. Crop Sciences, 42: 797–803.

Marcar, N. E., R. D. Graham. 1986. Effect of seed manganese content on the growth of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) under manganese deficiency. Plant and Soil. 96: 165–173.

Marketsandmarkets. (2020). Seed Treatment Market by Type, Application Technique (Coating, Dressing, Pelleting), Function (Seed Protection and Seed Enhancement), Application Time, Crop Type (Cereals & Grains, Oilseeds, Fruits & Vegetables), and Region - Global Forecast to 2025. https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market Reports/seedtreatmentmarket503.html?gclid=CjwKCAjw74b7BRA\_EiwAF8yHFNFHe slpTzORIncMMSTUBZ50-P86BADtP05poRv79Ybac6q9goRSzRoC4fMQAvD\_BwE

Marschner, H. (1995) Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants, 2nd ed., Academic Press, London, 889.

Marschner, H. (2012). Mineral nutrition of higher plants. 3<sup>rd</sup> edition. London UK, Academic Press.

Martin, L. B. B., Romero, P., Fich, E. A., Domozych, D. S., & Rose, J. K. C. (2017). Cuticle biosynthesis in tomato leaves is developmentally regulated by abscisic acid. Plant Physiology, 74: 1384-1398.

Masuthi, D. A., Vyakaranahal, B. S. & Deshpande, V. K. (2009). Influence of pelleting with micronutrients and botanical on growth, seed yield and quality of vegetable cowpea. Karnataka J. Agric. Sci., 22: 898–900.

McVetty, P. B. E., Scarth, R. (2002). Breeding for improved oil quality in *Brassica* oilseed species. J. Crop Prod., 5: 345-369.

Meena, R. P., Sendhil, R., Tripathi, S. C., Chander, S., Chhokar, R. S. and Sharma, R. K. (2013). Hydro-priming of seed improves the water use efficiency, grain yield and net economic returns of wheat under different moisture regimes. SAARC J. Agri., 11: 149-59.

Megha, S., Basu, U., Joshi, R.K., Kav, N.N.V. (2018. a). Physiological studies and genome-wide microRNA profiling of cold-stressed Brassica napus. Plant Physiol. Biochem., 132: 1–17.

Mehanna, H. M., Hussein M. M., & Gaballah M. S. (2013). Drought alleviation using glutathione in canola plants. International Journal of Advanced Research, 2 (9): 679–685.

Melut, L. C., Kräling, K., Wulf, T., Paiu, F., Piukovics, L., Kerec, D., & Jakubec, M. (2012). Performance of winter rapeseed hybrids maximus ® in European continental climatic conditions, 55: 203–207.

Mendham, N. J. & Scott, R. K. (1975). The limiting effect of plant size at inflorescence initiation on subsequent growth and yield of oilseed rape (Brassica napus). The Journal of Agricultural Science, 84: 487-502.

Mengel, K., Kosegarten, H., Kirkby, E. A., & Appel, T. (Eds). (2001). Principles of plant Nutrition. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.

Mielke, T. (2011). Ökonomie und Markt. (Economy and Market.) In: Christen, O., Friedt, F. (eds.) 2011: Winterraps: Das Handbuch für Profis. (Winter oilseed rape: Handbook for professionals.) 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. DLG-Verlag, Frankfurt am Main, Germany. 262-272.

Miraj, G., Shah, H.U. and Arif, M. (2013). Priming maize (Zea mays L.) seed with phosphate solutions improves seedling growth and yield. Anim. Plant Sci., 23(3): 893-899.

Mirzaee, M., Moieni, A., & Ghanati F. (2013). Effects of drought stress on the lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities in two canola (Brassica napus L.) cultivars. Journal of Agriculture Science and Technology, 15: 593–602.

Mittler, R. & E. Blumwald. (2015). The Roles of ROS and ABA in Systemic Acquired Acclimation. Plant Cell, 27(1): 64–70.

Mittler, R. (2002). Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 7: 405–410.

Miyawaki, K., Kitano, M., Kakimoto, T. (2004). Expression of cytokinin biosynthetic isopentenyltransferase genes in Arabidopsis: tissue specificity and regulation by auxin, cytokinin, and nitrate. Plant J., 37: 128-138.

Mohammadi, G.R. & Amiri, F. (2010). The Effect of Priming on Seed Performance of Canola (Brassica napus L.) Under Drought Stress. American-Eurasian J. Agric. & Environ. Sci., 9 (2): 202-207.

Mondal, S. & Bose, B. (2019). Impact of micronutrient seed priming on germination, growth, development, nutritional status and yield aspects of plants. Journal of plant nutrition, 42(19) 2577-2599.

Mondal, S. K., & Khajuria, M. R. (2000). Genetic analysis for yield attributes in mustard. Environment and Ecology, 18: 1–5.

Munne-Bosch S., Penuelas J. Photo- and antioxidative protection during summer leaf senescence in Pistacia lentiscus L. grown under Mediterranean field conditions. Annals of Botany, 92 (3): 385–391.

Moore, P. A. Jr. & Patrick, W. H. Jr. (1988). Effect of zinc deficiency on alcohol dehydrogenase activity and nutrient uptake in rice. Agron. J., 80: 882–885.

Moradtalab, N., Ahmed, A., Geistlinger, J., Walker, F., Höglinger, B., Ludewig U and Neumann G. (2020). Synergisms of Microbial Consortia, N Forms, and Micronutrients

Alleviate Oxidative Damage and Stimulate Hormonal Cold Stress Adaptations in Maize. Front. Plant Sci., 11: 396.

Moradtalab, N., Weinmann, M., Walker, F., Höglinger, B., Ludewig, U., & Neumann, G. (2018). Silicon Improves Chilling Tolerance During Early Growth of Maize by Effects on Micronutrient Homeostasis and Hormonal Balances. Front. Plant Sci., 9: 420.

Moura, L. M., Costa, A., Müller, C., Oliveira, R., Martins A. G., Vital, R., and Castro, J. (2018). Drought tolerance in potential oilseed plants for biofuel production. Australian Journal of Crop Science.

Munz, E., Rolletschek, H., Oeltze-Jafra, S., Fuchs, J., Guendel, A., Neuberger, T., Ortleb, S., Jakob, P.M., Borisjuk, L., (2017). A functional imaging study of germinating oilseed rape seed. New Phytol 216: 1181–1190.

Nasab, H. M., Siadat, S. A., Naderi, A., Lack, S. & Modhej, A. (2014). Effect of drought stress and nitrogen levels on yield, stomatal conductance and temperature stability of rapeseed (canola) genotypes. Advances in Environmental Biology, 8: 1239–1247.

Nayyar, H., Chander, K., Kumar, S., and Bains, T. (2005). Glycine betaine mitigates cold stress damage in chickpea. Agron. Sustain. Dev., 25: 381–388.

Neumann, G., George, T. S., Plassard, C. (2009). Strategies and methods for studying the rhizosphere - the plant science toolbox. Plant Soil, 321: 431–456.

Neumann, G., Jauss, H., Mahmood, A., & Nwankwo, C.I. (2014). Gesucht–Gefunden. Signal wirkungen von Nährstoffen und ihre Bedeutung für Düngung und Wurzel entwicklung von Raps. Raps – Fachzeitschrift für Spezialisten., 32: 34–37.

Neumann, G., Moradtalab, N., Bradacova, K., Ahmeed, A., Asim, M., Weinmann, M., Imran, M. (2018). Kleine Ursache – Große Wirkung? Erhöhte Stresstoleranz durch Saatgutbehandlungen mit Mikronährstoffen im Test. Mais 04/2018: 178-181.

Neumann, G., & Römheld, V. (2002). Root-induced changes in the availability of nutrients in the rhizosphere. *In* Waisel Y, Eshel A, Kafkafi U, eds, Plant Roots, The Hidden Half, Ed 3. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 617–649.

Niinemets, Ü. (2015). Uncovering the hidden facets of drought stress: secondary metabolites make the difference. Tree Physiol. 36: 129–132.

Nkebiwe, P. M., Weinmann, M., Bar-Tal, A., & Müller, T. (2016). Fertilizer placement to improve crop nutrient acquisition and yield: A review and meta-analysis. Field Crops Research, 196: 389–401.

O`Neill, M. A., Ishii, T., Albushein P., Darvill, A. G. (2004). Rhamnogalacturonan II: Structure and function of a borate cross linked cell wall Pectic Polysaccharide. Annu Rev Plant Bio., 55: 109-145.

Olesen, J.E., Trnka, M., Kersebaum, K.C., Skjelvåg, A.O., Seguin, B., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Rossi F., Kozyra, J. & Micale F. (2011). Impacts and adaptation of European crop production systems to climate change. Eur. J. Agron. 34, 96–112.

Öhlinger, R. & Kandeler, E. (1996). Methods in Soil Physics. In Franz Schinner, Richard Öhlinger, Ellen Kandeler, Rosa Margesin (Eds.): Methods in Soil Biology, vol. 34. Berlin, Heidelberg. pp. 385–395.

Panico, A. M., Garufi, F., Nitto, S., Di Mauro, R., Longhitano, R. C., Magrì, G., Catalfo, A., Serrentino, M.E., De Guidi, G. (2009). Antioxidant activity and phenolic content of strawberry genotypes from Fragaria x ananassa Pharmaceutical Biology, 47: 203-208.

Parvai, A., Mohammad, A. A., Mohammed N. A., Leonard, W., Dilfuza, E., Renu, B. & Mohammad, A. (2017). Zinc application mitigates the adverse effects of NaCl stress on mustard (Brassica juncea (L.) Czern & Coss) through modulating compatible organic solutes, antioxidant enzymes, and flavonoid content, Journal of Plant Interactions, 12(1): 429-437.

Pasban, Eslam, B., Shakiba, M. R., Neyshabouri, M. R., Moghadam M. & Ahmadi M. R. (2000). Evaluation of physiological indices as a screening technique for drought resistance in oilseed rape. Pakistan Academy of Sciences Journal, 37 (2): 143–152.

Pawel, W. (2013). Influence of seed coating with micronutrients on growth and yield of winter wheat in southeastern coastal plains. American Journal of Agricultural and Biological Sciences, 8 (3): 230-238.

Peklová, L., Balik, J., Cerny, J., Sedler, O., Peklova, Z. & Kubesova, K. (2013). Results of fertilization of winter oil seed crop using nitrogen cultan in the Czech Republic. Scientia Agriculturae Bohemica., 44: 197–202.

Peltonen -Sainio, P., Hakala, K., Jauhiainen, L. and Ruosteenoja, K. (2009a). Comparing regional risks in producing turnip rape and oilseed rape - Impacts of climate change and breeding. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science, 59: 129-138.

Peltonen-Sainio, P., Jauhiainen, L., Laitinen, P., Salopelto, J., Saastamoinen, M., & Hannukkala, A. (2011). Identifying difficulties in rapeseed root penetration in farmers' fields in northern European conditions. Soil Use and Management, 27: 229–237.

Powell, A.A. and Matthews, S. (1979). The influence of testa condition on the imbibition and vigour of pea seeds. Journal of Experimental Botany, 30: 193-197.

Prom-U-Thai, C., Rerkasem, B., Yazici, A., & Cakmak, I. (2012). Zinc priming promotes seed germination and seedling vigor of rice. Z. Pflanzenenahr Bodenk., 175: 482–488.

Qaderi, M. M., Kurepin, L. V., & Reid D. M. (2006). Growth and physiological responses of canola (Brassica napus) to three components of global climate change: temperature, carbon dioxide and drought. Plant Physiology, 128: 710–721.

Raboy, V. 2000. Low-Phytic-Acid Grains. Food and Nutrition Bulletin, 21: 423–427.

Rahayu, Y. S., Walch-Liu, P., Neumann, G., Römheld, V., von Wiren, N., & Bangerth, F. (2005). Root-derived cytokinins as long-distance signals for No3-induced stimulation of leaf growth. Journal of Experimental Botany, 56: 1143–52.

Rahman, M. M., Ahammad, K. U., Alam, M. M. (2011). Effect of soaking condition and temperature on imbibition rate of maize and chickpea seeds. Research Journal of Seed Science, 4:117-124.

Rahnema, A. A. & Bakhshandeh, A. M. (2006). Determination of optimum irrigation level and compatible canola varieties in the Mediterranean environment. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences, 5: 543–546.

Rajjou, L., Duval, M., Gallardo, K., Catusse, J., Bally, J., Job, C., etal. (2012). Seed germinationandvigor. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol., 63: 507–533.

Ramesh, K., Thirumurugan, V. (2001). Effect of seed pelleting and foliar nutrition on growth of soybean. Madras Agric. J., 88: 465-468.

Rapacz, M., & Chilmonik, E. (2000). Does the lack of vernalization requirement interfere with winter survival of oilseed rape plants? Acta Physiologiae Plantarum., 22: 143–149.

Rathke, G., Behrens, T., Diepenbrock, W. (2006). Integrated nitrogen management strategies to improve seed yield, oil content and nitrogen efficiency of winter oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.): A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 117: 80–108.

Raza, M. A. S., Shahid, A. M., Ijaz, M., Khan, I. H., Saleem, M. F., Ahmad, S. (2015a). Studies on canola (Brassica napus L.) and camelina (Camelina sativa L.) under different irrigation levels. ARPN Journal of Agricultural and Biological Science, 10 (4): 130–138.

Raza, M., Abdul, S., Muhammad, I.H., Khan, A., Salman. A., Muhammad, I. & Rashid. (2017). Effects and management strategies to mitigate drought stress in oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.): A review. Zemdirbyste-Agriculture, 104: 85-94.

Reguera, M., I. Abreo, N. J. Brewin, I. Bonilla and L. Bolanos. (2010). Borate promote the formation of complex between legume AGP- extension and Rhamnogalacturonan II and enhances the production of *Rhizobium* capsular polysaccharide during infection thread development in Pisum sativum symbiotic root nodules. Plant, Cell & Einvironment, 33: 2112-2120.

Rehman, A., Farooq M., Ahmad R., Basra S. (2015). Seed Priming with Zinc Improves the Germination and Early Seedling Growth of Wheat. Seed Science and Technology., 43: 262-268.

Rehman, H., Iqbal, H., Basra, S.M.A., Afzal, I., & Farooq, M. (2015). Seed priming induced early seedling vigor improves growth and productivity of spring maize. Journal of Integrative Agriculture, 2095–3119.

Richards, R. A. & N. Thurling. (1978a). variation between and within species of rapeseed (Brassica campestris and B. napus) in response to drought stress 1. sensitivity at different stages of development. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research, 29:469-477.

Richards, R. A. & N. Thurling. (1978b). Variation between and within species of rapeseed Brassica-campestris and Brassica-napus in response to drought stress part 2. growth and development under natural drought stresses. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research, 29:479-490.

Riemann, M., Dhakarey, R., Hazman, M., Mito, B., Kohli, A., Nick, P. (2015). Exploring jasmonates in the hormonal network of drought and salinity responses. Frontiers in Plant Science, 6:1–16.

Roberts, W.O. (1948). Preservation of mineral deficiency by soaking in nutrient solution. J. Agric. Sci., 38: 458-468.

Römheld V., Marschner H. (1991) Function of micronutrients in plants, in: Mortvedt J.J., Cox F.R., Shuman L.M., Welch R.M. (Eds.), Micronutrients in Agriculture. Soil Science Society of America, Inc. Madison, Wisconsin, USA, 297–328.

Römheld, V., Jiménez-Becker, S., Neumann, G., Gweyi-Onyango, J.P., Puelschen, L., Spreer, W., & Bangerth, F. (2008). Non-nutritional fertigation effects as a challenge for improved production and quality in horticulture. Optimizing the utilisation of water and nutrients. International Potash Institute, Horgen, Switzerland.103–115.

Rowse, H.R. (1995). Drum priming: A non-osmotic method of priming seeds. Seed Sci. Techn., 24: 281-294.

S. H. Yiu, I. Altosaar, R. G. Fulcher. (1983). Effects of Commercial Processing on the Structure and Microchemical Organization of Rapeseed. Journal of Food Structure, 2: 165-173.

Sandmann, G., Böger P. (1983). The enzymatological function of heavy metals and their role in electron transfer processes of plants. Encyclopedia of Plant Physiology, New Series (A. Läuchli and R. L. Bieleski, eds) 15A: 563–593.

Seed Treatment Market Analysis| Size | Share | Industry Trends & Forecasts | COVID-19 Impact on Seed Treatment Market | MarketsandMarkets. (2020). Available online at https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/seed-treatment-market-503.html.

Shahverdikandi, M. A., Tobeh, A., Godehkahriz, S. J. & Rastegar, Z. (2011). The study of germination index of canola cultivars for drought resistance. International Journal of Agronomy and Plant Production, 2 (3): 89–95.

Shao, H. B., Chu, L. Y., Jaleel, A. & Zhao, C. X. (2008). Water-deficit stress-induced anatomical changes in higher plants. Comptes Rendus Biologies, 331: 215–225.

Sharma, K. D., Kuhad, M. S., & Nandwal, A. S. (1993). Influence of K nutrition on Brassica genotypes in response to water stress. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 2: 110–115.

She, B., Huang, J., Guo, R., Wang, H., Wang, J., (2015). Assessing winter oilseed rape freeze injury based on Chinese HJ remote sensing data. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. B., 16: 131–144.

Shivay, Y.S., Kumar, D., Prasad, R. & Ahlawat, L.P.S. (2008). Relative yield and zinc uptake by rice from zinc sulphate and zinc oxide coatings onto urea. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys., 80: 181–188.

Sieling, K., & Kage, H. (2010). Efficient N management using winter oilseed rape. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev., 271–279.

Sina, F., Somayeh, M.& Mohammad, P. (2018). Seed priming improves seedling emergence and reduces oxidative stress in Nigella sativa under soil moisture stress. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 41(1): 29-40.

Singh, D. K., Bharti S. (1985). Seed manganese content and its relationship with the growth characteristics of wheat cultivars. New Phytologist, 101: 387–391.

Singh, M.V. (2007). Efficiency of seed treatment for ameliorating zinc deficiency in crops. In: Zinc Crops 2007, Improving Crop Production and Human Health, 24–26 May, 2007, Istanbul, Turkey.

Slaton, N.A., Wilson-Jr, C.E., Ntamatungiro S., Norman, R.J. & Boothe, D.L. (2001). Evaluation of zinc seed treatments for rice. Agron. J., 93: 152–157.

Sommer, K. (1993). CULTAN–fertilizers and fertilization technique: cropping system: Fundamentals and further development. Dahlia Greidinger Memorial International workshop on controlled slow release fertilizers, Technion – Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel. 5: 13.

Sommer, K. (2005): CULTAN-Düngung – Physiologisch, ökologisch, ökonomisch optimiertes Düngungsverfahren für Ackerkulturen, Grünland, Gemüse, Zierpflanzen und Obstgehölze. Verlag Th. Mann, Gelsenkirchen, 218 S.

Sommer, K., Six, R. (1981). Ammonium as a nitrogen source in cultivation of feed barley. Landwirtschaftliche Forschung, 38: 151–161.

Sousa, S.F., Lopes, A.B., Fernandes, P.A. & Ramos, M.J. (2009). The zinc proteome: a tale of stability and functionality. Dalton Transactions., 7946–7956.

Sreenivasulu, N., Grimm B., Wobus, U., Weschke, W. (2000). Differential response of antioxidant compounds to salinity stress in salt-tolerant and salt-sensitive seedlings of foxtail millet (Setaria italica). Physiologia Plantarum, 109(4): 435-442.

Stendahl, F. (2005). Seed Coating for Delayed Germination. A tool for relay cropping of annual crops. Licentiate thesis. Department of Ecology and Crop Production Science, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden.

Tabassum, T., Farooq, M., Ahmad, R., Zohaib, A. and Wahid, A. (2017). Seed priming and transgenerational drought memory improves tolerance against salt stress in bread wheat. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 118: 362-369.

Tanaka, Y., Hibino, T., Hayashi, Y., Tanaka, A., Kishitani, S., Takabe, T., Yokota, S. and Takabe, T. (1999). Salt tolerance of transgenic rice overexpressing yeast mitochondrial Mn-SOD in chloroplasts. Plant and Science, 148:131–138.

Tripathi, Durgesh & Singh, Shweta & Singh, Swati & Mishra, Sanjay & Chauhan, Devendra & Dubey, N. (2015). Micronutrients and their diverse role in agricultural crops: advances and future prospective. Acta Physiologiae Plantarum. 37. 1-14.

Ullah, A. Farooq M., Hussain M., Wakeel, A. (2019). Zinc seed priming improves stand establishment, tissue zinc concentration and early seedling growth of chickpea. Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences. 29(4): 1046-1053.

Ullah, A., & Farooq, M., Hussain, M., Wakeel, A. (2019). Zinc seed priming improves stand establishment, tissue zinc concentration and early seedling growth of chickpea. Journal of Animal and Plant Sciences, 29(4): 1046-1054.

Ullah, A., Shahzad, B., Tanveer, M., Nadeem, F., Sharma, A., Jin, L. D., Abdul Rehman, A. (2019). Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants Through Pre-sowing Seed Treatments with Mineral Elements and Growth Regulators. In: M. Hasanuzzaman, V. Fotopoulos (eds.), Priming and Pretreatment of Seeds and Seedlings, h Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd.

Ullah, A., Sun, H., Yang, X., Zhang, X. (2017). Drought coping strategies in cotton: increased crop per drop. Plant Biotechnol J., 15: 271–284.

Ullah, F., Bano, A., & Nosheen, A. (2012). Effects of plant growth regulators on growth and oil quality of canola (Brassica napus L.) under drought stress. Journal of Botany, 44: 1873–1880.

UN Environment Management Group. 2011 http://www.unep-wcmc.org/medialibrary/2011/10/19/3faf1880/Global-Drylands-FINAL-LR.pdf.

Van Duren, I., Voinov, A., Arodudu, O. & Firrisa, M.T. (2015). Where to produce rapeseed biodiesel and why? Mapping European rapeseed energy efficiency. Renew. Energy, 74: 49–59.

Verma, V., Ravindran, P., & Kumar, P.P. (2016). Plant hormone-mediated regulation of stress responses. BMC Plant Biology,16: 86.

Vidhyasekaran, P. (1997) Fungal pathogenesis in plants and crops, Molecular Biologyand Host DefenseMechanisms, Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, 568.

Vishwakarma, K., Upadhyay, N., Kumar, N., et al. (2017). Abscisic acid signalling and abiotic stress tolerance in plants: A review on current knowledge and prospects. Front Plant Sci., 8:161.

Vishwakarma, K., Upadhyay, N., Kumar, N., Yadav, G., Singh, J., Mishra, R.K., Kumar, V., Verma, R., Upadhyay, R.G., Pandey, M. and Sharma, S. (2017). Abscisic Acid Signaling and Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Plants: A Review on Current Knowledge and Future Prospects. Front. Plant Sci., 8:161.

Walch-Liu, P., Neumann, G., Bangerth, F., and Engels, C. (2000). Rapid effects of nitrogen form on leaf morphogenesis in tobacco. J. Exp. Botany, 51: 227–237.

Wallenhammar, A. C. E., & Stoltz, E. (2019). Influence of seed treatment with mineral nutrient products on emergence and growth in spring oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.). Agricultural and Food Science, 28(4); 145–154.

Wan, J., Griffiths, R., Ying, J., McCourt, P., Huang, Y. 2009. Development of drought tolerant canola (Brassica napus L.) through genetic modulation of ABA-mediated stomatal responses. Crop Science, 49: 1539–1554.

Wang, F.Z., Wang, Q.B., Kwon, S.Y., Kwak, S.S., Su, W.A. (2005a). Enhanced drought tolerance of transgenic rice plants expressing a pea manganese superoxide dismutase. J. Plant Physiol., 162: 465–472.

Wang, J., de Kroon, H., Wang, L., de Caluwe, H., Bögemann, G. M., van der Weerden, G. M., Kang, S. & Smits, A.J.M. (2009a). Root foraging and yield components underlying limited effects of Partial Root-zone Drying on oilseed rape, a crop with an indeterminate growth habit. Plant and Soil, 323: 163-176.

Wang, J., Song, L., Gong, X., Xu, J., Li, M. (2020). Functions of Jasmonic Acid in Plant Regulation and Response to Abiotic Stress. Int. J. Mol. Sci., 21: 1446.

Wang, J., Tan, X., Liu, F., Zhang, H., Fu, C., Wang, Y. (2012). Effects of zinc deficiency stress on the antioxidative capability and plant hormone level of the different apple rootstocks. Acta Hortic. Sin., 39: 1429–1436.

Wang, Y., Thorup-Kristensen K., Jensen, L. S., Magid ,J. (2016). Vigorous Root Growth Is a Better Indicator of Early Nutrient Uptake than Root Hair Traits in Spring Wheat Grown under Low Fertility. Front. Plant Sci., 7: 865.

White, C. A., Sylvester-Bradley, R., Berry, P.M. (2015). Root length densities of UK wheat and oilseed rape crops with implications for water capture and yield. J. Exp. Bot., 66: 2293–2303.

Whitmore, A. P. and Whalley, W.R. (2009). Physical effects of soil drying on roots and crop growth. Journal of Experimental Botany, 60: 2845-2857.

Wu, J., Yan, G., Duan, Z., Wang, Z., Kang, C., Guo, L., Liu, K., Tu J., Shen, J., Yi, B., Fu, T., Li, X., Ma, C. & Dai C. (2020). Roles of the Brassica napus DELLA Protein BnaA6.RGA, in Modulating Drought Tolerance by Interacting With the ABA Signaling Component BnaA10.ABF2. Front. Plant Sci., 11:577.

Xing, W., and Rajashekar, C. B. (2001). Glycine betaine involvement in freezing tolerance and water stress is Arabidopsis thaliana. Environ. Exp. Bot., 46: 21–28.

Yang, C. J., Zhang, X. K., Zou, C. S., Cheng, Y., Zheng, P. Y., & Li, G. Y. (2007). Effects of drought simulated by PEG-6000 on germination and seedling growth of rapeseed (Brassica napus L.). Chinese Journal of Oil Crop Sciences, 29: 425.

Yruela, I. (2009). Copper in plants: acquisition, transport and interactions. Funct. Plant Biol., 36: 409–430.

Yu, Q., Wortha, C. & Rengel, Z. (1999b). Using capillary electrophoresis to measure Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase concentration in leaves of wheat genotypes differing in tolerance to zinc deficiency. Plant Sci., 143: 231–239.

Yuan, W., Zhang, Q., Li Y., Wang, Q., Xu F., Dang, X., Xu, W., Zhang, J. & Miao R. (2020). Abscisic Acid Is Required for Root Elongation Associated with Ca<sub>2</sub>C Influx in response to Water Stress.Front. Plant Sci., 11: 332.

Zanetti, F., Vamerali, T. & Mosca, G. (2009). Yield and oil variability in modern varieties of high-erucic winter oilseed rape (Brassica napus L. var. oleifera) and Ethiopian mustard (Brassica carinata A. Braun) under reduced agricultural inputs. Industrial Crops and Products, 30: 265-270.

Zhang, J., Sun, J., Duan, A., Wang, J., Shen, X., & Liu, X. (2007). Effects of different planting patterns on water use and yield performance of winter wheat in the Huang-Huai-Hai plain of China. Agricultural Water Management, 92: 41–47.

Zhang, X., Lu, G., Long, W., Zou, X., Li, F., & Nishio, T. (2014). Recent progress in drought and salt tolerance studies in Brassica crops. Breeding Science, 64: 60–73.

Zheng, G. H., Ronald, W. S., Alfred, E. G. & Lawrence, V. (1994). Enhancement of Canola Seed Germination and Seedling Emergence at low Temperature by Priming. Crop Science Society of America., 34 (6): 1589-1593.

# **Curriculum vitae**

Name:	Asim Mahmood	
Date of Birth:	8th November 1985	
Residential address:	Filderhauptstra.59, 70599, Stuttgart, Germany	
Nationality:	Pakistani	
Phone No:	+4917641853532	
Email:	ra.aasim@yahoo.com	
Academics:		

Degree	Board/University	Passing Year	Division
PhD	University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany	2020	
M.Sc. (Organic Food Chain & management)	University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany	2012	1 <sup>st</sup>
B.Sc. (Hons) (Agronomy)	PMAS Arid Agriculture University Rawalpindi, Pakistan	2008	1 <sup>st</sup>
Intermediate (F.SC.) (Pre-Medical)	BISE Gujranwala	2003	2 <sup>nd</sup>
Matriculation (Science group)	BISE Gujranwala	2001	1 <sup>st</sup>

# PhD Thesis title:

Nutrient seed treatments to improve abiotic stress tolerance in *Brassica napus* L. (2020, Hohenheim, Germany)

# M.Sc. Thesis Title:

Effect of Micronutrient seed priming on early growth of maize seedling exposed to low root zone temperature (2012, Hohenheim, Germany)

## List of Publications:

Neumann G., Moradtalab N., Bradacova K., Ahmeed A., **Mahmood A.**, Weinmann M., Imran M. 2018: Kleine Ursache – Große Wirkung? Erhöhte Stresstoleranz durch Saatgutbehandlungen mit Mikronährstoffen im Test. Mais 04/2018: 178-181.

Bradáčová, K., Weber, N.F., Morad-Talab, N., **Mahmood A.**, Imran, M., Weinmann, M., Neumann, G., 2016. Micronutrients (Zn/Mn), seaweed extracts, and plant growth-promoting bacteria as cold-stress protectants in maize. Chem. Biol. Technol. Agric. 3, 19.

Neumann G., Jauß H., **Mahmood A.**, Nwankwo C.I. 2014 Signalwirkungen von Nährstoffen und ihre Bedeutung für Düngung und Wurzelentwicklung von Raps. Raps Die Fachzeitschrift für Spezialisten. 32/4: 34-37.

Imran M, **Mahmood A.**, V Römheld, G Neumann. 2013. Nutrient seed priming improves seedling development and increases grain yield of maize exposed to low root zone temperatures during early growth. European Journal of Agronomy. 49: 141-148.

#### **Poster Presentations:**

**Mahmood A**., Neumann G. Oilseed rape! Positively responsive to Zinc seed enhancements at early growth stage. International Plant Nutrition Colloquium (IPNC). August, 2017. Kopenhagen, Denmark.

**Mahmood A**. Iqbal J. and Neumann G. International conference of German society of Plant nutrition (DGP). September 2016. Stuttgart, Germany.

**Mahmood A.**, Neumann G. Micronutrient Seed Priming Improves Stress Tolerance During Early Growth of Rapeseed. International conference of German society of Plant nutrition (DGP). 2014. Halle, Germany.

Iqbal J., **Mahmood A**. and Neumann G. Effect of Zinc Seed Priming on Fertilizer Depot Exploitation in Oil Seed Rape. ASA, CSSA and SSSA International Annual Meetings. 6-9 November, 2016. Phoenix AZ, USA.

Imran M., **Mahmood A.**, Römheld V., Neumann G. Seed priming with micronutrients improves seedling development and increases grain yield of maize exposed to low root zone temperatures during early growth. ISRR 2012. "Roots to the Future". 26-29 June. Dundee. Scotland.

# **Research Project:**

- 1. Supervised two master's theses during my PhD.
- 2. Fertilizer dose evaluation in turfgrass.
- 3. Effect of Manganese (Mn) foliar application in soybean at early plant growth

stage.

4. Root phenotypic analysis of rhizo-box grown oilseed rape.

## Academic Supervisors:

## PD. Dr. Günter Neuman

University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany Guenter.neumann@uni-hohenheim.de

# Prof. Dr. Torsten Müller

University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany Email: Torsten.Mueller@uni-hohenheim.de

# Prof. Dr. Albino Maggio

University of Naples, Federico II, Italy Email: albino.maggio@unina.it

Asim Mahmood

# Acknowledgements

"In the name of God, most Gracious, most Compassionate"

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my mentor, Supervisor **Prof. Dr. Günter Neumann** for his endless support and guidance to accomplish my Ph.D task. Words are not enough to express his patience, generosity and immense knowledge. I always enjoyed the liberty to enter in his office on one knock for which I would really like to say, "**Thanks a lot**". I am also very grateful to **Prof Dr. Uwe Ludewig** for his affection and mentorship during the course of my Ph.D.

Besides that, I would like to thank to my Ph.D thesis supervisory committee members **Prof. Dr. Albino Maggio** (University of Naples, Federico II, Italy) and **Prof. Dr. Torsten Müller** (University of Hohenheim) for their kind guidance and for giving valuable advice. Moreover, I am also thankful to **Mr. Goertz,** from Nord Deutsche Pflanzenzucht Hans-Georg Lembke, for his valuable guidance.

My sincere thanks go to the technical staff in the institute; **Maria Ruckwied, Helene Ochott, Heide Zimmermann and Charlotte Haake**, for their help and guidance and especially to Hinrich. Bremer for giving a helping hand all the time. I should not forget to mention **Mrs. Christa Shöllhammer**, **Mrs. Falad & Mrs. Ursla. Berghammer** for managing the administrative tasks.

I am thankful to my Friends and colleagues in Hohenheim, sweet memories will always remind me of you guys. Pakistani community in Hohenheim especially, **Dr. Waqas**, **Dr. Shahbaz and Shehzad** for giving their valuable time and support. Addionally, I am thankful to every single person who facilitate my stay in Germany. I would like to say thanks to my amazing parents, **Zahida Parveen** (mother) and **Khalid Mahmood** (father), for believing in me and giving me their endless love.

I would like to thank my wife, **Taskeen Ayaz**, who stood by me through all the times encouraging and boosting me with her love and companionship. I must not forget my son, **Arham Asim**, to thank for his love which helped me keep going.

#### Asim Mahmood